ORDINANCE NO. 20140417-045

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING DELIVERY OF A CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH, RELATING TO THE CITY'S AIRPORT SYSTEM REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2005; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF RELATED AGREEMENTS AND A SECONDARY MARKET INFORMATION CIRCULAR.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUSTIN:

PART 1. FINDINGS:

- (A) Pursuant to Ordinance No. 20050804-039, as amended by Ordinance No. 20110526-068 and Ordinance No. 20120412-016 (Authorizing Ordinance), the City of Austin (City) previously issued and has outstanding its Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, issued in four subseries designated "Subseries 2005-1", "Subseries 2005-2", "Subseries 2005-3" and "Subseries 2005-4" (Bonds). The scheduled payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds is insured by a municipal bond insurance policy (Bond Insurance Policy) issued by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corporation, formerly known as Financial Security Assurance, Inc. (Assured Guaranty).
- (B) The Authorizing Ordinance contains some capitalized terms that are used in this ordinance. Those terms have the same meaning in this ordinance as they do in the Authorizing Ordinance.
- (C) The City previously entered into a (1) First Amendment to Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012 (JPM Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (JPM), pursuant to which a direct-pay letter of credit was issued by JPM for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds (JPM LOC-1) and a direct-pay letter of credit was issued by JPM for the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds (JPM LOC-2), (2) Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012 (State Street Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and State Street Bank and Trust Company (State Street), pursuant to which a direct-pay letter of credit was issued by State Street for the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds (State Street LOC) and (3) First Amendment to Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012 (Royal Bank Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York Branch (Royal Bank), pursuant to which a direct-pay letter of credit was issued by Royal Bank for the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (Royal Bank LOC).
- (D) Council finds that it is desirable to replace the JPM LOC-1, the JPM LOC-2, the State Street LOC and the Royal Bank LOC with direct-pay letters of credit in

accordance with the terms of the Authorizing Ordinance to be issued by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch (SMBC), for each of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (each, an SMBC LOC, and collectively, the SMBC LOCs).

- (E) Council finds that the SMBC Reimbursement Agreement constitutes a Credit Agreement, and that each SMBC LOC constitutes a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, for purposes of the Authorizing Ordinance.
- (F) In connection with the delivery of the SMBC LOCs, council finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of a (1) Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated June 1, 2014 (SMBC Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and SMBC and (2) Bank Fee Agreement, dated June 1, 2014 (Fee Agreement) between the City and SMBC.
- (G) In connection with the delivery of the SMBC LOCs, council finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of a Second Amended and Restated Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated June 1, 2014 (Second Amended and Restated Cancellation Agreement), by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as paying agent/registrar (Paying Agent/Registrar) and as tender agent (Tender Agent), SMBC, and Assured Guaranty, relating to the Bond Insurance Policy and the Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy.
- (H) In connection with the delivery of the SMBC LOCs, council finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of a Second Amended and Restated Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction, dated June 1, 2014 (Second Amended Swap Agreement), between the City and Assured Guaranty, relating to the Series 2005 Swap Agreement.
- (I) In connection with the delivery of the SMBC LOCs, council finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of a Third Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement, dated June 1, 2014, between the City and the Tender Agent (Third Amended Tender Agency Agreement).
- (J) The Authorizing Ordinance requires the mandatory tender of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds upon replacement of the JPM LOC-1, the JPM LOC-2, the State Street LOC, and the Royal Bank LOC, respectively.
- (K) In connection with the mandatory tender of the Bonds, council finds it necessary to approve and authorize the use of a Secondary Market Information Circular for the remarketing of the Bonds.

(L) The City is authorized to (1) cause the delivery of the SMBC LOCs and (2) execute and deliver the SMBC Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Agreement, all pursuant to Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code.

PART 2. <u>AUTHORIZATION</u>.

- (A) Council authorizes, ratifies, and approves the replacement of the JPM LOC-1, the JPM LOC-2, the State Street LOC and the Royal Bank LOC with the SMBC LOCs. The mayor, any designee of the mayor, the city manager, any designee of the city manager, the chief financial officer of the City, the city clerk, the Aviation Director and the city treasurer (each, an Authorized Officer, and collectively, Authorized Officers) are authorized and directed to take all actions necessary or desirable to effect the delivery of the SMBC LOCs, all in accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance and this ordinance at the times and in the manner as they decide are appropriate.
- (B) Council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of (1) the SMBC Reimbursement Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A and (2) the Fee Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the SMBC Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Agreement, with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the SMBC Reimbursement Agreement and the Fee Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved each of these agreements.
- (C) Council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of the Second Amended and Restated Cancellation Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit C. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Second Amended and Restated Cancellation Agreement with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Second Amended and Restated Cancellation Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved this agreement.
- (D) Council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of the Second Amended Swap Agreement in substantially the form attached as <u>Exhibit D</u>. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Second Amended Swap Agreement with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Second Amended Swap Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved this agreement.
- (E) Council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of the Third Amended Tender Agency Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Third Amended Tender Agency Agreement, with such changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Third Amended Tender Agency Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved this agreement.

- (F) Council authorizes, ratifies and approves the preparation, distribution, and use of the Secondary Market Information Circular in substantially the form attached as Exhibit F. To the extent required, the Secondary Market Information Circular is "final" as of its date for purposes of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
- (G) The Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent are authorized and directed to take all actions and give all notices as may be necessary or desirable to affect the delivery of the SMBC LOCs and all other actions authorized by this ordinance.
- **PART 3. FURTHER PROCEDURES.** Each Authorized Officer is authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary or convenient to carry out the terms of this ordinance. Any finding or determination by an Authorized Officer relating to the exercise of the terms of this ordinance shall have the same force and effect as if the finding or determination had been made by council.
- **PART 4. SEVERABILITY.** The provisions of this ordinance are severable. If any provision of this ordinance or its applications to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of this ordinance.
- PART 5. OPEN MEETING. The City posted sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place, and subject of the council meeting at which this ordinance was adopted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all times to the general public at the Austin City Hall for the time required by the Open Meetings Law, Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. This meeting has been open to the public as required by law at all times during which this ordinance and its subject matter were discussed, considered, and formally acted upon. Council ratifies, approves, and confirms this written notice, its contents and its posting.
- **PART 6. REPEALER.** All orders, resolutions, and ordinances (other than the Authorizing Ordinance), or their parts that are inconsistent with this ordinance are repealed only to the extent needed to eliminate the inconsistency.
- PART 7. EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY. This ordinance takes effect immediately on its passage pursuant to Section 1201.028, Texas Government Code.

PASSED AND APPROVED	
, 2014	§ Lu Mayor
APPROVED: My July Karen M. Kennard City Attorney	ATTEST: Jannette S. Goodall City Clerk
-	

EXHIBIT A

SMBC Reimbursement Agreement

LETTER OF CREDIT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

Dated as of June 1, 2014

by and between

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS,

and

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch

Relating to
City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)
Subseries 2005-1, Subseries 2005-2, Subseries 2005-3 and Subseries 2005-4

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	HEADING	PAGE
ARTICLE 1	Definitions; Interpretation	2
ARTICLE 2	AMOUNT AND TERMS OF LETTERS OF CREDIT	13
Section 2.1.	Letters of Credit	13
Section 2.2.	Letter of Credit Drawings	13
Section 2.3	Reimbursement of Certain Drawings under the applicable	
	Letters of Credit; Mandatory Prepayment; Interest	13
Section 2.4.	Reimbursement of Drawings Other than Liquidity	
	Drawings Creating Liquidity Advances	15
Section 2.5.	Fees	16
Section 2.6.	Method of Payment; Etc	16
Section 2.7.	Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Available	
	Amount of the Letters of Credit	16
Section 2.8.	Computation of Interest and Fees	16
Section 2.9.	Payment Due on Non Business Day to Be Made on Next	
	Business Day	16
Section 2.10.	Late Payments	17
Section 2.11.	Source of Funds	17
Section 2.12.	Extension of Stated Expiration Date	
Section 2.13.	Net of Taxes, Etc	
Section 2.14.	Increased Costs	
Section 2.15.	Obligations Absolute	
Section 2.16.	Maximum Rate	
Section 2.17.	Security	22
ARTICLE 3	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	22
Section 3.1.	Representations of City	22
Article 4	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT	27
Section 4.1.	Conditions to Issuance and Delivery of the Letters of	
	Credit	27
Section 4.2.	Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Advance	
Article 5	COVENANTS	29
Section 5.1.	Affirmative Covenants of the City	20
Section 5.2.	Negative Covenants of the City	
Article 6	TERM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT; EVENTS OF	
	Default	37
Section 6.1.	Term of Agreement	37

Section 6.2.	Events of Default	37
Section 6.3.	Remedies	39
Section 6.4.	Mandatory Tender Events	
Article 7	MISCELLANEOUS	4 1
Section 7.1.	Cancellation Agreement	4J
Section 7.2.	Reimbursement	
Section 7.3.	Liability of the Bank	42
Section 7.4.	Participations	42
Section 7.5.	Survival of this Agreement	43
Section 7.6.	Modification of this Agreement	43
Section 7.7.	Waiver of Rights by the Bank	43
Section 7.8.	Severability	43
Section 7.9.	Governing Law	44
Section 7.10.	Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communications	44
Section 7.11.	Successors and Assigns	45
Section 7.12.	Taxes and Expenses	46
Section 7.13	Payment Obligations of the City hereunder and under the	
	Bank Fee Agreement	46
Section 7.14.	Headings	47
Section 7.15.	Counterparts	47
Section 7.16.	Entire Agreement	47
Section 7.17.	USA Patriot Act.	47
Section 7.18.	Insurance Policy Claims	47
Section 7.19.	Insurer's Rights	48
Section 7.20.	Third Party Beneficiary	48

Appendix A — Form of Irrevocable Transferable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit

LETTER OF CREDIT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

This Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified form time to time, this "Agreement"), is by and between the CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS (the "City") and SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch (together with its successor and assigns, the "Bank").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the City has previously issued the Series 2005 Bonds (defined herein) pursuant to the terms of Ordinance No. 20050804-039, and all appendices and exhibits thereto (the "Original Ordinance");

WHEREAS, the Original Ordinance was amended on May 26, 2011 by Ordinance No. 20110526-068 (the "Amendment," and together with the Original Ordinance, as either may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Ordinance");

WHEREAS, the Ordinance provides that the Series 2005 Bonds may bear interest at certain variable rates determined in the manner set forth in the Ordinance;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance and subject to the conditions described therein, the Series 2005 Bonds bearing interest at a Weekly Rate are subject to tender for purchase by the holders thereof at various times before the maturity thereof;

WHEREAS, the City has requested that the Bank issue four (4) separate irrevocable transferable direct-pay letters of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (each defined herein), and to provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the applicable Letter of Credit (defined herein); and

WHEREAS, the City has caused the Series 2005 Bonds (including Bank Bonds (defined herein)), to be insured as to the scheduled payments of principal and interest as such become due pursuant to a municipal bond insurance policy bearing Policy No. 205494-N (together with any and all riders and endorsements thereto, the "Insurance Policy") issued by the Insurer (defined herein);

Now, Therefore, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the City and the Bank hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION

The following capitalized terms when used in this Agreement have the meanings indicated below unless the context shall clearly indicate otherwise. Other capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the Ordinance. All the agreements or instruments herein defined shall mean such agreements or instruments as the same may from time to time be supplemented or amended or the terms thereof waived or modified to the extent permitted by, and in accordance with, the terms thereof and of this Agreement. When used in this Agreement: (1) the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular; (2) "or" is not exclusive; (3) a reference to a law includes any amendment or modification to such law; (4) a reference to a Person includes its permitted successors and permitted assigns; and (5) a reference to an agreement, instrument, or document shall include such agreement, instrument, or document as the same may be amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms and as permitted hereby.

"Affiliate" of a specified Person means any other Person which "controls," or is "controlled" by, or is under common "control" with, such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, a Person "controls" another Person when the first Person possesses or exercises directly, or indirectly through one or more other affiliates or related entities, the power to direct the management and policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting rights, membership, the power to appoint members, trustees or directors, by contract, or otherwise.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.

"Airport System" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Amendment" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Amortization Commencement Date" means, with respect to each Bank Bond, the earlier to occur of (a) 90 days after the date of the related Liquidity Advance and (b) the Termination Date.

"Amortization End Date" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, (a) if the Insurance Policy has been terminated on or prior to the date of such Liquidity Advance, the earliest to occur of (i) the Business Day preceding the first day of the forty-fourth (44th) month following the date on which the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, (iii) the Substitution Date, (iv) the date on which the Available Amount for the related Letter of Credit is permanently reduced to zero or such Letter of Credit is otherwise terminated in accordance with its terms (other than as a result of such Letter of Credit expiring on the related Stated Expiration Date), including as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, (v) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with the related Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to

the Ordinance and (vi) the Business Day preceding the eighth (8th) anniversary of the Closing Date; or

(b) if the Insurance Policy has not been terminated on or prior to the date such Liquidity Advance was made, the earliest to occur of (i) the sixth (6th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, (iii) the Substitution Date and (iv) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with the related Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Insurance Policy is terminated after the date such Liquidity Advance was made, the Amortization End Date shall be the earliest to occur of (i) the sixth (6th) anniversary of the date of the related Liquidity Advance, (ii) the Business Day preceding the first day of the forty-fourth (44th) month following the effective date of the termination of the Insurance Policy, (iii) the Conversion Date, (iv) the Substitution Date and (v) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with the related Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance.

"Amortization Payment Date" means (a) the first Business Day of the sixth calendar month immediately succeeding date of the related Liquidity Advance, (b) the first Business Day of each sixth calendar month occurring thereafter prior to the Amortization End Date and (c) the Amortization End Date.

"Available Amount" has the meaning set forth in each respective Letter of Credit.

"Bank" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Bank Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(x) hereof.

"Bank Bond" means each Bond purchased for the account of the Bank with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit.

"Bank Fee Agreement" means the Bank Fee Agreement dated June ___, 2014, between the City and the Bank, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Bank Rate" means with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the rate of interest per annum (i) for any day commencing on the date such Liquidity Advance is made to and including the earlier to occur of (x) the related Amortization Commencement Date and (y) the thirtieth (30th) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect (ii) for any day commencing on the thirty-first (31st) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made to and including the earlier to occur of (x) the related Amortization Commencement Date and (y) the ninetieth (90th) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made, equal to the sum of the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent (1.00%) and (iii) for the related Amortization Commencement Date and thereafter,

equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus two percent (2.00%); provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default or an Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default or Event of Default, "Bank Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; provided further that, at no time shall the Bank Rate be less than the highest applicable rate of interest on any outstanding Bonds; and provided that the Bank Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate subject to the provisions of Section 2.16 hereof.

"Bankruptcy Law" means Title 11, U.S. Code, as amended or supplemented, any successor statute thereto, or any similar Federal, state, or foreign law for the relief of debtors.

"Base Rate" means, for any day, the rate of interest per annum equal to the greatest of: (i) the Prime Rate plus two percent (2.00%), (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus three percent (3.00%), (iii) the One Month USD LIBOR Rate in effect at such time plus three percent (3.00%), (iv) the SIFMA Rate in effect at such time plus three percent (3.00%) and (v) six and one-half of one percent (6.50%). Each determination of the Base Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City absent manifest error.

"Bonds" means, collectively, the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Business Day" has the meaning set forth in each Letter of Credit.

"Cancellation Agreement" means the Second Amended and Restated Bond Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent and Tender Agent, the Bank and the Insurer.

"Cap Interest Rate" has the meaning set forth in each Letter of Credit.

"City" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Closing Date" means June ___, 2014, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.1 hereof.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Conditions Precedent" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.

"Conversion Date" means the date on which the interest rate on any series of Bonds has been converted to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.

"Custodian" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and its successors and assigns.

"Custody Agreement" means the custody agreement for the Bank Bonds between the Bank and the Paying Agent dated as of June 1, 2014.

"Debt Service Reserve Fund" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Default" means any circumstance, condition or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, could reasonably be expected to, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

"Default Rate" means the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus four percent (4.0%); provided that the Default Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate subject to the provisions of Section 2.16 hereof.

"Dodd-Frank Act" means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as enacted by the United States Congress, and signed into law on July 21, 2010, and all rules, guidelines or directives promulgated thereunder.

"Drawing" means, with respect to each Letter of Credit, any drawing honored under such Letter of Credit.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and its successors and assigns.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or any successor statute thereto and any rule or regulation issued thereunder.

"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2 hereof.

"Excess Interest" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16 hereof.

"Existing Agreements" means, collectively, (i) the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2011, by and between the City and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, (ii) the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012, by and between the City and State Street Bank and Trust Company and (iii) the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2011, by and between the City and Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch.

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day, provided that (i) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day and (ii) if no such rate is so

published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate quoted to the Bank on such day on such transactions as determined by the Bank. Each determination of the Federal Funds Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City except in the case of manifest error.

"Financing Documents" means the Ordinance, the Bonds, the Insurance Policy, the LOC Endorsement, the Cancellation Agreement, the Remarketing Agreement, this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Custody Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, any Swap Contract related to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues and the ordinance of the City authorizing such Swap Contracts, the Tender Agent Agreement and the Surety Policy.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental entities in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to governmental entities and the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"Governmental Authority" means any nation or government, any state, department, agency or other political subdivision thereof, and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled (through ownership of common stock or capital) by any of the foregoing.

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Payment Obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Payment Obligation (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), (ii) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Payment Obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part) or (iii) with respect to any letter of credit issued for the account of such other Person or as to which such other Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement of drawings, provided that the term Guarantee shall not include (i) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business or (ii) performance or completion guarantees. The terms "Guarantee" and "Guaranteed" used as a verb have a corresponding meaning.

"Ineligible Bonds" means Bank Bonds, Bonds owned by or on behalf of the City and Bonds bearing interest at an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.

"Insurance Policy" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Insured Rate" means the Bank Rate; provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default (and without any notice given

with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default, "Insured Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; and *provided further*, that the Insured Rate shall never exceed the less of (i) the Prime Rate plus 3.00%, (ii) the Maximum Rate and (iii) 25%.

"Insurer" means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (formerly known as Financial Security Assurance Inc.), a stock insurance company organized under the laws of the State of New York, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof.

"Insurer Downgrade Event" means the financial strength or claims-paying rating of the Insurer shall be (i) reduced below "A3" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by Moody's and (ii) reduced below "A-" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by S&P.

"Insurer Event of Default" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds (including Bank Bonds) or amounts paid by the Bank under any Letter of Credit as scheduled principal and interest due and payable on the Bonds pursuant to a Drawing on such Letter of Credit and interest thereon up to the Insured Rate from and including the date the Insurer is obligated to pay pursuant to a claim under the Insurance Policy pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Ordinance to and including the date that the Insurer honors such claim is not paid by the Insurer when, as, and in the amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Insurance Policy; or
- (a) any material provision of the Insurance Policy relating to the obligation of the Insurer to make payments of principal and interest thereunder at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy or the New York Department of Insurance or a court or other Governmental Authority of appropriate jurisdiction finds or rules or enters an order. judgment or decree that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer or (b) the Insurer (1) claims in writing that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer, (2) repudiates the Insurer's obligations under the Insurance Policy or (3) initiates legal proceedings seeking an adjudication that the Insurance Policy or any material provision thereof regarding the payment of principal or interest on Bonds (including Bank Bonds) or amounts paid by the Bank under any Letter of Credit as scheduled principal and interest due and payable on the Bonds pursuant to a Drawing on such Letter of Credit and interest thereon up to the Insured Rate from and including the date the Insurer is obligated to pay pursuant to a claim under the Insurance Policy pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Ordinance to and including the date that the Insurer honors such claim is not valid and binding on the Insurer; or
- (iii) a proceeding is instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking an order for relief, rehabilitation, reorganization, conservation, liquidation or dissolution in respect to the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee or sequestrator (or other similar official) and such proceeding has not been dismissed within sixty (60) days

York Department of Insurance declares a moratorium on the payment of the Insurer's debts, or the Insurer commences a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, consents to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law or consents to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian or sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or fails generally to pay its Payment Obligations (provided that for purposes of this definition, "Payment Obligation" shall not include any obligation of the Insurer under any insurance policy or surety bond) as they become due, or an order for rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of the Insurer is issued; or

(iv) the Insurer fails to make any payment related to principal or interest when due under any insurance policy (other than the Insurance Policy) or surety bond issued by it insuring or supporting the payment of municipal obligations rated by any Rating Agency, and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days (it being understood by the Bank that default for purposes of this clause (iv) shall not mean a situation wherein the Insurer contests in good faith its liability under any such policy or policies in light of the claims made thereunder).

"Interest Payment Date", with respect to any Bond which is not a Bank Bond, has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance and, with respect to Bank Bonds and Liquidity Advances, means the first Business Day of each calendar month.

"Letter of Credit" means any of the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit or the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit, as applicable.

"Letter of Credit Fee" has the meaning set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement.

"Letters of Credit" means, collectively, the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit and the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit.

"Liquidity Advance" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(ii) hereof.

"Liquidity Drawing" means a drawing under a Letter of Credit resulting from the presentation of a certificate in the form of Exhibit E to such Letter of Credit.

"LOC Endorsement" means an endorsement to the Insurance Policy issued by the Insurer, so that the Insurance Policy as endorsed insures the payment when due of (i) regularly scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds, including any Subrogated Bonds and any Bank Bonds, up to the Bank Rate for the first sixty days following the date of a related Liquidity Advance and at the Insured Rate at all times thereafter and (ii) amounts paid by the Bank under the Letter of Credit as scheduled principal and interest due and payable on the Bonds pursuant to a Drawing

under the Letter of Credit and interest thereon up to the Insured Rate from and including the date the Insurer is obligated to pay pursuant to a claim under the Insurance Policy pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Ordinance to and including the date that the Insurer honors such claim, in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank.

"Maximum Rate" means the highest "net effective interest rate" as defined in and authorized under Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended.

"MFN Clause" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(dd) hereof.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.

"Net Revenues" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Obligations" means all obligations of the City to pay or reimburse the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Reimbursement Obligations, the Letter of Credit Fees and the obligations of the City set forth in Sections 2.13, 2.14, and 7.2 hereof and including, without limitation, in each instance, accrued interest thereon.

"One Month USD LIBOR Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the rate on deposits in United States dollars of amounts equal to or comparable to the principal amount of the Bonds paid or purchased with the proceeds of a Drawing under the applicable Letter of Credit, offered for a term of one month, which rate appears on the display designated as Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (or such other page as may replace Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page or such other service or services as may be nominated by the British Bankers' Association for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates for United States dollar deposits), determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such day.

"Ordinance" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Owner" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.

"Paying Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or any other association or corporation which may at any time be substituted in its place as Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds as provided in the Ordinance.

"Payment Account" means the account set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Payment Account or such other account as may be specified by the Bank to the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent in writing.

"Payment Obligation" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money and reimbursement obligations which are not contingent, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other

similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services which purchase price is due twelve (12) months or more from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof, (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases, (v) all Payment Obligations of others Guaranteed by such Person, and (vi) all payment obligations of such Person, in addition to any obligations set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above, arising under any Swap Contract; provided that it is understood that any Payment Obligation does not include contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any other Person in respect of surety bonds or letters of credit to the extent that such surety bonds or letters of credit support any Payment Obligation of such Person.

"Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, joint venture, trust or other entity, or any government (or political subdivision or agency, department or instrumentality thereof).

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest announced by the Bank from time to time as its prime commercial rate, or equivalent, as in effect on such day for United States dollar loans, with any change in the Prime Rate resulting from a change in said prime commercial rate to be effective as of the date of the relevant change in said prime commercial rate, it being understood that such rate may not be the Bank's best or lowest rate.

"Principal Office" means, with respect to the Bank, the office at which Drawings are to be presented to the Bank under a Letter of Credit or the office at which payment is to be made to the Bank, in each case, as set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Principal Office, or such other office as may be designated by such Bank as its Principal Office in a written notice to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent in accordance with Section 2.6 hereof.

"Prior Lien Bonds" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Rating Agency" means Moody's, Fitch or S&P, and "Rating Agencies" means, collectively, Moody's, Fitch and S&P.

"Reimbursement Obligations" means, without duplication, any and all obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for any Drawings under the Letters of Credit, including, without limitation, any outstanding Liquidity Drawing and outstanding Bank Bonds.

"Remarketing Agent" means Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and its successors and assigns.

"Remarketing Agreement" means the Remarketing Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009, as amended on ______, 2009, each between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds and as the same may be amended, supplemented, modified or restated from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

"Remarketing Memorandum" means the Secondary Market Information Circular dated ______, 2014, relating to the Bonds, including any supplement or amendment thereto, and any other offering document from time to time hereafter distributed relating to the Bonds.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business, and any successor thereto.

"Series 2005 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas, Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), consisting of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"SIFMA Rate" means, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data and published or made available by SIFMA or any Person acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and acceptable to the Bank and effective from such date. In the event Municipal Market Data no longer produces an index satisfying the requirements of the preceding sentence, the SIFMA Rate (a/k/a, the "SIFMA Municipal Swap Index") shall be deemed to be the S&P Weekly High Grade Index, or if either such index is not available, such other similar national index as shall be reasonably designated by the Bank.

"State" means the State of Texas.

"Stated Expiration Date" means October 1, 2018, as such Stated Expiration Date may be extended with respect to a Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.

"Subrogated Bond" means any Bond with respect to which the Bank shall be subrogated to the rights of the Paying Agent and the Owners under the Insurance Policy in an amount and to the extent that the Bank pays the principal of or interest on the Bond from one or more Drawings under the respective Letter of Credit constituting "Insured Amounts" within the meaning of the Insurance Policy.

"Subseries 2005-1 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-2.

"Subseries 2005-3 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-3.

"Subseries 2005-4 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-4.

"Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Surety Policy" means the municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy bearing Policy No. 205494-R, effective August 17, 2005, provided by the Insurer for the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2005 Bonds.

"Substitute Credit Facility" means any credit facility or liquidity facility supporting the Bonds issued in substitution for any Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of Section A-501 of the Ordinance.

"Substitution Date" means the effective date of a Substitute Credit Facility in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Swap Contract" means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a "Master Agreement"), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

"Tender Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacity as tender agent under the Ordinance, and any permitted successors as Tender Agent under the Ordinance.

"Tender Agent Agreement" means the Third Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement between the Tender Agent and the City dated as of June 1, 2014, relating to the Bonds.

"Termination Date" means, with respect to a Letter of Credit, the Stated Expiration Date of such Letter of Credit or such earlier date on which such Letter of Credit expires or terminates in accordance with its terms.

"Unreimbursed Amount" means, without duplication, the aggregate principal amount of all unreimbursed Drawings, unreimbursed Liquidity Advances and outstanding Bank Bonds due and owing the Bank.

ARTICLE 2

AMOUNT AND TERMS OF LETTERS OF CREDIT

Section 2.1. Letters of Credit. Upon the terms, subject to the conditions and relying
upon the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement or incorporated herein by
reference, the Bank agrees to issue the Letters of Credit (each such Letter of Credit substantially
in the form of Appendix A hereto). The Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit shall be issued in the
original stated amount of \$, which is the sum of (i) the principal amount of the
Subseries 2005-1 Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date, plus (ii) interest thereon at the Cap
Interest Rate for a period of () days. The Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit shall be
issued in the original stated amount of \$, which is the sum of (i) the principal amount
of the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date plus (ii) interest thereon at the
Cap Interest Rate for a period of () days. The Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit
shall be issued in the original stated amount of \$, which is the sum of (i) the principal
amount of the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date, plus (ii) interest thereon
at the Cap Interest Rate for a period of () days. The Subseries 2005-4 Letter of
Credit shall be issued in the original stated amount of \$, which is the sum of (i) the
principal amount of the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date plus
(ii) interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate for a period of () days

- Section 2.2. Letter of Credit Drawings. The Paying Agent is authorized to make Drawings under the Letters of Credit in accordance with the respective terms thereof. No Drawing shall be made under any Letter of Credit for the payment of principal or purchase price of, or interest on, Ineligible Bonds. The City hereby irrevocably approves reductions and reinstatements of the Available Amount of each respective Letter of Credit as provided in each Letter of Credit.
- Section 2.3 Reimbursement of Certain Drawings under the applicable Letters of Credit; Mandatory Prepayment; Interest. (a) (i) Each Liquidity Drawing made under a Letter of Credit shall constitute an advance (a "Liquidity Advance") to the City; provided, however, that if at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, then such Liquidity Drawing shall be due and payable pursuant to Section 2.3(a)(iv) hereof.
- (ii) The City shall reimburse the Bank for the interest portion of each Liquidity Advance (as a result of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit) on the earliest to occur of (A) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (B) the date on which the applicable Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the

applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (E) the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (F) the termination of the applicable Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof. The Bank's obligations to repay the interest portion of each Liquidity Advance and to pay interest thereon as hereinafter provided shall be evidenced and secured by Bank Bonds.

- The City promises to reimburse the Bank for the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance (as a result of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit) on the earliest to occur of (A) the date on which the applicable Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (B) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (E) if on the Amortization Commencement Date the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, the Amortization Commencement Date. The City's obligations to repay the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance and to pay interest thereon as hereinafter provided shall be evidenced and secured by the Bank Bonds. Unless otherwise required to be paid in full on one of the dates provided above, the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance shall be payable by the City in semiannual installments ("Semiannual Principal Payments") on each Amortization Payment Date, with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then outstanding principal amount of such Liquidity Advance due and payable on the Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the Amortization Commencement Date and ending on the Amortization End Date is herein referred to as the "Amortization Period"). Each Semiannual Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the applicable Amortization Period.
- (iv) If at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, all amounts of such Liquidity Drawing for which the Bank has not been reimbursed at the close of business on the day of the Bank's payment of such Liquidity Drawing shall be immediately due and payable and shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.
- (v) The City also promises to pay to the Bank interest on the unpaid interest portion and unpaid principal portion of each Liquidity Advance (as a result of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit) from the date such Liquidity Advance is made until it is paid in full as provided herein, at a rate per annum equal to the Bank Rate from time to time in effect, which interest shall be payable monthly in arrears on the first Business Day of each calendar month for the immediately preceding calendar month (commencing on the first such date to occur after making such Liquidity Advance), and on the date that the final installment of such Liquidity Advance is payable as herein provided. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, the Bank hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Insurance Policy will not insure overdue interest on any Liquidity Advance.

- (b) Any Liquidity Advance may be prepaid in whole or in part (without premium or penalty): (i) on the day such Liquidity Advance is made; or (ii) on any other Business Day upon one Business Day's prior written notice if not paid in connection with remarketing of the Bonds.
- (c) Upon receipt by the Bank of any payment or prepayment of any Liquidity Advance, the amount of such Liquidity Advance shall be reduced by the amount of such payment or prepayment.
- Upon the Bank honoring a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit, the Bank shall be deemed to have purchased the Bank Bonds in respect of which such Liquidity Drawing is made, and the City shall cause the Custodian to hold such Bank Bonds for the benefit of the Bank and register such Bank Bonds in the name of the Bank, or its nominee, or otherwise deliver such Bank Bonds as directed by the Bank, pursuant to the terms of the Custody Agreement. During such time as the Bank is the owner of any Bank Bonds, the Bank shall have all the rights granted to an Owner under the Ordinance and such additional rights as may be granted to the Bank hereunder. To the extent that the Bank actually receives payment in respect of principal of or interest on any Bank Bonds owned by the Bank, the Liquidity Advance made in connection with the purchase of such Bank Bonds shall be deemed to have been reduced to such extent, with the Bank crediting any payment on such Bank Bond received by it, first to the payment of any outstanding interest accrued on such Liquidity Advance, and second to the payment of the principal of such Liquidity Advance. Any such payment or prepayment to be applied to principal of Liquidity Advances hereunder shall be applied to the prepayment of related Liquidity Advances in chronological order of their issuance hereunder. occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default if the Insurance Policy is still in effect or an Event of Default if the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect, any payments received by the Bank hereunder shall be applied by the Bank to the payment of the Obligations owed to the Bank in such order as the Bank shall in its sole discretion determine; provided, however, that amounts received pursuant to the Insurance Policy shall be applied solely to the payment of reimbursement for Drawings under the Letter of Credit for the regularly scheduled payment of principal and interest on the Bonds, the Subrogated Bonds and the Bank Bonds in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy.
- (e) For the avoidance of doubt, the City shall pay to the Bank when due the amount of interest due to the Bank, calculated at the applicable Bank Rate, and payment by the Insurer pursuant to the Insurance Policy of any interest due to the Bank under this Agreement shall not relieve the City of its obligation to ensure that the Bank is paid in full on the date any such interest is due and payable to the Bank hereunder. Any overdue interest amounts shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.
- Section 2.4. Reimbursement of Drawings Other than Liquidity Drawings Creating Liquidity Advances. The City agrees to reimburse the Bank for the full amount of all Drawings (other than Liquidity Drawings) made under the Letters of Credit immediately upon payment by the Bank of each such Drawing. If the City fails to make such reimbursement on such date and the Insurer fails to make any payment it is required to make in respect thereof within five (5) Business Days after the date on which such reimbursement is due as more fully described in Section 7.18 hereof, such Reimbursement Obligation shall automatically and without further

action bear interest at the Default Rate. Further, the City agrees to reimburse any amounts paid by the Bank to the Insurer in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby immediately upon such payment by the Bank.

- Section 2.5. Fees. The City agrees to pay to the Bank the fees set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement. The terms of the Bank Fee Agreement are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein and the Bank Fee Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed as one agreement between the City and the Bank and all obligations under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be construed as obligations under this Agreement.
- Section 2.6. Method of Payment; Etc. All payments to be made to the Bank under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made to the Bank by wire transfer by the City in lawful currency of the United States and in immediately available funds to the Payment Account, or at such other place as the Bank may designate in writing, without any withholding, deduction or set-off, not later than 3:00 p.m. New York time on the date when due. All payments received by the Bank after 3:00 p.m. New York time shall be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day, and any applicable interest or fee shall continue to accrue.
- Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Available Amount of the Letters of Credit. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement, the Letters of Credit or any other Financing Document (other than the Bank Fee Agreement) to the contrary, the City agrees not to terminate any Letter of Credit or permanently reduce the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit unless such termination or permanent reduction is made in accordance with the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement. The City agrees that it will provide thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Bank in connection with the termination of any Letter of Credit and pay to the Bank, in connection with the termination of such Letter of Credit, pursuant to the terms hereof, all fees, expenses and other Obligations payable hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement. including, without limitation, the Termination Fee (as defined in the Bank Fee Agreement) (if required pursuant to the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement) and all principal and accrued interest owing the Bank with respect to any related outstanding Liquidity Advance or Bank Bonds and any other Reimbursement Obligations. The City agrees that it will provide thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Bank in connection with each permanent reduction of the Available Amount of the any Letter of Credit and pay to the Bank in connection with each permanent reduction of the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit the Reduction Fee (if required) pursuant to the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement.
- Section 2.8. Computation of Interest and Fees. All computations of interest payable by the City hereunder shall be made on the basis of a 365-day year and calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed. Interest shall accrue during each period during which interest is computed from and including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. All computations of fees payable by the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made on the basis of a 360-day year and calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed.
- Section 2.9. Payment Due on Non Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day. If any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement on a day

which is not a Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next succeeding Business Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of interest and fees.

- Section 2.10. Late Payments. If any Obligation is not paid when due in accordance with the terms hereof, such Obligation shall bear interest until paid in full at the Default Rate, payable on demand.
- Section 2.11. Source of Funds. All payments made by the Bank pursuant to the Letters of Credit shall be made from funds of the Bank and not from the funds of any other Person.
- Section 2.12. Extension of Stated Expiration Date. (a) The City may, by written notice to the Bank not earlier than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to nor later than sixty (60) days prior to the then current Stated Expiration Date of the Letters of Credit in effect (the "Existing Expiration Date"), request that the Bank consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit to a date agreed to by the Bank and the City. The date of receipt of any such notice from the City is hereinafter referred to as the "Notice Date."
- (b) The Bank, acting in its sole and absolute discretion (and after such due diligence (if any) as the Bank shall undertake), shall, by notice to the City no later than the date thirty (30) days after the Notice Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day), advise the City whether or not the Bank agrees to the extension of any or all Letters of Credit, and if the Bank that does not so advise the City by such date, it shall be deemed to have declined to extend the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit, as applicable.
- (c) As a condition precedent to the effectiveness of such consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit, the City shall deliver to the Bank a certificate of the City dated the Existing Expiration Date signed by an authorized officer of the City (A) certifying and attaching the resolution or ordinance adopted by the City approving or consenting to such extension and (B) certifying that, before and after giving effect to such extension, (1) the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 hereof and the other Financing Documents are true and correct in all material respects, in each case on and as of the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit, as applicable, except, in each case, to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date, and (2) no Default or Event of Default exists.
- (d) Any such extension of the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit shall be subject to such additional terms, including payment of extension fees to the Bank, as shall be agreed between the Bank and the City.
- (e) Upon the effectiveness of any such consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit, as applicable, the Bank shall deliver to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent a notice of extension (a "Notice of Extension") designating the date to which the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit being extended. Such extension of the Existing Expiration Date of any or all Letters of Credit being extended shall be effective, after receipt of such notice, on the Business Day following the date

of delivery of the Notices of Extension relating to any or all Letters of Credit being extended, and thereafter all references in this Agreement to the Existing Expiration Date of the related Letters of Credit shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in the most recent Notice of Extension related to the Letters of Credit being extended delivered to the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent.

Section 2.13. Net of Taxes, Etc.

- Taxes. Any and all payments to the Bank by the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings or liabilities imposed thereon, excluding, however, taxes or franchise taxes or other charges imposed in lieu of such taxes imposed on or measured by the net income or capital of the Bank by any jurisdiction or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein solely as a result of a connection between the Bank and such jurisdiction or political subdivision (all such non excluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred to as "Taxes"). If the City shall be required by law to withhold or deduct any Taxes imposed by the United States or any political subdivision thereof from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement to the Bank, (i) the sum payable shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.13), the Bank receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the City shall make such deductions and (iii) the City shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law. If the City shall make any payment under this Section 2.13 to or for the benefit of the Bank with respect to Taxes and if the Bank shall claim a refund of such taxes or any credit or deduction for such Taxes against any other taxes payable by the Bank to any taxing jurisdiction in the United States, then the Bank shall pay to the City an amount equal to the amount of any refund actually received by the Bank or the amount by which such other taxes are actually reduced; provided that the aggregate amount payable by the Bank pursuant to this sentence shall not exceed the aggregate amount previously paid by the City with respect to such Taxes. Nothing herein shall interfere with the Bank's right to arrange its tax affairs in whatever manner it sees fit nor obligate it to claim any tax credit or to disclose any information relating to its tax affairs or any computations in respect thereof. In addition, the City agrees to pay any present or future stamp, recording or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies that arise under the law of the United States of America, the State of Texas, the State of New York or any other taxing jurisdiction from any payment made hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement to the Bank or from the execution or delivery or otherwise by the Bank with respect to this Agreement or under the Bank Fee Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "Other Taxes"). The Bank shall provide to the City within a reasonable time a copy of any written notification it receives with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes owing by the City to the Bank hereunder; provided that the Bank's failure to send such notice shall not relieve the City of its obligation to pay such amounts hereunder.
- (b) Reimbursement. The City shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the provisions hereof, reimburse the Bank for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes, including any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this

Section 2.13, paid by the Bank or any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted; provided that the City shall not be obligated to reimburse the Bank for any penalties, interest or expenses relating to Taxes or Other Taxes arising from the Bank's negligence or willful misconduct. The Bank agrees to give notice to the City of the assertion of any claim against the Bank relating to such Taxes or Other Taxes as promptly as is practicable after being notified of such assertion; provided that the Bank's failure to notify the City promptly of such assertion shall not relieve the City of its obligation under this Section 2.13. Payments by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13 shall be made within thirty (30) days after the date the Bank makes written demand therefor, which demand shall be accompanied by a certificate describing in reasonable detail the basis thereof. The Bank agrees to repay to the City any refund (including that portion of any interest that was included as part of such refund) with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13 received by the Bank for Taxes or Other Taxes that were paid by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13. The term "refund," solely as used in this Section 2.13(b) shall include any credit or deduction against other taxes payable by the Bank.

- (c) Notice. Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Taxes by the City, the City shall furnish to the Bank, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof.
- (d) Survival of Obligations. The obligations of the City under this Section 2.13 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
- Section 2.14. Increased Costs. (a) If on or after the date hereof, the adoption of any law, rule or regulation, or any change therein, or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any court, governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof (each a "Change in Law"), or compliance by the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries with any request or directive made on or after the date hereof (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency:
 - (i) shall subject the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries to any tax, duty or other charge with respect to this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letters of Credit or any Bank Bonds purchased by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary hereunder, or shall change the basis of taxation of payments to the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries of any amounts due under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or its Letters of Credit or any Liquidity Advances made by the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries hereunder (except for changes in the rate of (A) tax on the overall net income of the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary or (B) franchise taxes or other charges imposed in lieu of such taxes); or
 - (ii) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including, without limitation, any such requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), liquidity ratio, special deposit, or similar requirement against the assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries

any other condition affecting its obligations under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letters of Credit;

and the result of any event referred to in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) above is to increase the cost to the Bank or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Bank of performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letters of Credit, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary under this Agreement or the Letters of Credit or any Bank Bonds purchased by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary hereunder, by an amount deemed by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary (or, if such increased costs will continue to be incurred by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary, in arrears on a monthly basis as agreed between the City and the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary), the City shall pay to the Bank or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Bank, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary for such increased cost or reduction.

- (b) If the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries shall have determined that, after the date hereof, any Change in Law, or any request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital of the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries relating to the Bank's or its affiliate's or subsidiary's, as applicable, obligations hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement, or under the Letters of Credit, and such adoption, change, request or directive (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity) will reduce the Bank's or its affiliate's or subsidiary's, as applicable, rate of return on capital by a material amount, then from time to time, within sixty (60) days after written demand by the Bank or its affiliate or subsidiary, the City shall pay to the Bank or its affiliate or subsidiary, as applicable, for such additional costs.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of this Agreement (a) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives in connection with the Dodd-Frank Act shall be deemed to be a Change in Law, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued, and (b) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices (or any successor or similar authority) or any Governmental Authority shall be deemed a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.
- (d) A certificate of the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder and attaching such information in reasonable detail shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.
- (e) No affiliate or subsidiary or other transferee of the Bank's rights shall be entitled to receive any greater payment under this Section 2.14 than the Bank would have been entitled to receive with respect to the rights transferred.

- (f) The obligations of the City under this Section 2.14 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
- Section 2.15. Obligations Absolute. The obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for amounts paid by the Bank under the Letters of Credit, together with interest thereon as provided herein and all other amounts due and owing the Bank, shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement, under all circumstances whatsoever, including without limitation the following circumstances:
 - (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit or any of the Financing Documents;
 - (ii) any amendment to, waiver of or consent to departure from any provision of, any Letter of Credit or any Financing Document;
 - (iii) the existence of any claim, set off, defense or other right which the City may have at any time against the Paying Agent, any beneficiary of any Letter of Credit (or any Persons for whom the Paying Agent, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the Bank, a Participant or any other Person, whether in connection with the Letters of Credit, the Financing Documents or any unrelated transaction;
 - (iv) any statement or any other document presented under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;
 - (v) payment by the Bank to the Paying Agent under any Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate which does not strictly comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit; or
 - (vi) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing.

Section 2.16. Maximum Rate. If the rate of interest payable hereunder shall exceed the Maximum Rate for any period for which interest is payable, then (a) interest at the Maximum Rate shall be due and payable with respect to such interest period and (b) interest at the rate equal to the difference between (i) the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof and (ii) the Maximum Rate (the "Excess Interest") shall be deferred until such date as the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof ceases to exceed the Maximum Rate, at which time the City shall pay to the Bank, with respect to amounts then payable to the Bank that are required to accrue interest hereunder, such portion of the deferred Excess Interest as will cause the rate of interest then paid to the Bank to equal the Maximum Rate, which payments of deferred Excess Interest shall continue to apply to such unpaid amounts hereunder until all deferred Excess Interest is fully paid to the Bank. Upon the earlier of (A) the date the related Liquidity Advance is repaid in full and (B) the date all related Reimbursement Obligations are payable hereunder following the termination of the applicable Letter of Credit, in

consideration for the limitation of the rate of interest otherwise payable hereunder, the City, to the extent permitted by law, shall pay to the Bank a fee equal to the amount of all unpaid deferred Excess Interest; *provided* that in no event shall any such payment result in interest paid hereunder exceeding the Maximum Rate.

Section 2.17. Security. Notwithstanding any provision set forth herein to the contrary, the Bank acknowledges and agrees that the obligations of the City hereunder for the payment of Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and with respect to the Bank Bonds are secured by and payable solely from Net Revenues as provided in the Ordinance and are subject to all limitations on such sources and priorities with respect to payment therefrom as are set forth in the Ordinance. Funds raised or to be raised by taxation shall not be available for the payment of Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder.

ARTICLE 3

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- Section 3.1. Representations of City. In order to induce the Bank to enter into this Agreement and the Bank to issue its Letters of Credit, the City hereby represents and warrants to the Bank as follows:
 - (a) Organization and Authorization. The City is a "Home Rule City", acting as such under the Constitution and laws of the State, and has full legal right, power and authority to (i) own, operate and maintain the Airport System, (ii) charge and collect revenues related to the Airport System and (iii) pledge the Net Revenues to secure the Bonds (including Bank Bonds).
 - (b) Authority to Adopt or Execute Documents. The City had, as of the date of adoption thereof, full power and authority to adopt its ordinance or ordinances authorizing the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents to which the City is a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, has, or had as of the date of execution and delivery, full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party, and has full power and authority to perform its obligations under each of the foregoing.
 - (c) Obligations Legal, Valid and Binding. (i) The Financing Documents to which the City is a party have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the City enforceable against the City in accordance with their respective terms, except insofar as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity, by the exercise by the State and its governmental bodies of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State or by the exercise by the United States of America of the power delegated to it by the Constitution of the United States of America.

- (ii) No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under this Agreement, and no event of default or condition, event or act which with notice or lapse of time or both would become or constitute a default or event of default under, or as such term is defined in, any other Financing Document to which it is a party or under any other material mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement or undertaking to which the City is a party or which purports to be binding on the City or on any of its assets which default would materially adversely affect the ability of City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (d) No Legal Bar. (i) The City is not in violation of any law of the State in any manner which would adversely affect the City' existence or its powers and authority referred to in Section 3.1(b) hereof.
- (ii) The execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and all other agreements and instruments relating to this Agreement or the other Financing Documents executed and delivered by the City in connection herewith and therewith (i) do not violate any provision of the Constitution of the State or the laws of the State or any other applicable law, regulation, order, writ, judgment or decree of any court, arbitrator (to the extent that any ruling, finding or decision of any arbitrator is enforceable by a court of law) or governmental authority, and (ii) do not violate any provision of, constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien on any of the assets of the City pursuant to the provisions of, any mortgage, ordinance, resolution, indenture, contract, agreement or other undertaking to which the City is a party or which purports to be binding on the City or on any of its assets other than the liens created hereby or by the other Financing Documents, which violation would materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (iii) The City is not a party to, or otherwise subject to, any provision contained in any instrument evidencing any Payment Obligation of the City or any other contract or agreement which limits the amount of, or otherwise imposes restrictions on the incurring of, obligations of the City that would materially adversely affect the ability of City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (e) Consents. The City has obtained, or will obtain on or before the Closing Date, all consents, permits, licenses and approvals of, and has made, or will have made on or before the Closing Date, all filings, registrations and declarations with, governmental authorities required under law, to authorize the remarketing of the Bonds, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party and all other agreements delivered or to be delivered in connection with any thereof, and all such consents, permits, licenses, approvals, filings, registrations and declarations remain in full force and effect.

- (f) Litigation. There is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened against or affecting the City in which an adverse determination could have a material adverse effect on the Airport System or the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Airport System or its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (g) Disclosure. The representations and statements made by the City herein or in any other Financing Document, or in any other document furnished to the Bank by the City in connection herewith or therewith are accurate as of the date of this Agreement. All financial statements of the City furnished to the Bank were prepared in accordance with GAAP. Since the date of the audited financial statements of the City included in the Remarketing Memorandum, no material adverse change has occurred in the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the City. The Remarketing Memorandum does not, as of its date, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that no representation is made as to information with respect to the Insurer or the Bank.
- (h) Insurance. The City currently maintains insurance for the Airport System of such types and in such amounts or in excess of such amounts as are customarily carried by, and insures against such risks as are customarily insured against by, Texas home-rule cities operating properties of like type, size and character to the Airport System or provides self-insurance for the same.
- (i) No Proposed Legal Changes. To the actual knowledge of the City, as of the date of execution of this Agreement, there is no amendment or proposed amendment to the Constitution of the State or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State or any State law (including, without limitation, any opinion of the attorney general of the State interpreting the Constitution of the State or any State law), or any legislation that has passed either house of the State legislature, or any published judicial decision by a court of competent jurisdiction interpreting any of the foregoing, the effect of which is to materially adversely affect (i) the Bonds or any holder thereof in its capacity as such or (ii) the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which it is a party.
- (j) No Immunity. To the extent authorized by Texas Government Code Section 1371.059(c), the City has, in this Agreement, waived sovereign immunity from suit and liability for the purposes of adjudicating a claim to enforce this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement or for damages for breach of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement. The City further represents that to the extent its obligations hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party represent the legal obligations of the City, its non-discretionary duties are subject to enforcement in Texas courts by writ of mandamus, and that it is not immune to an equitable mandamus action.

- (k) Other MFN Clause. The City does not currently have outstanding any Bank Agreement in which it has given to any Person or Persons that has made a loan or extended credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System an MFN Clause that provides such Person or Persons the benefit of any covenants, rights or events of default contained in a separate Bank Agreement (entered into by the City on a future date with a different Person or Persons) that are in addition to or different from the covenants, rights or events of default provided for in the Bank Agreement containing the subject MFN Clause.
- (1) Regulations U and X. The City is not engaged in the business of extending purpose credit, secured directly or indirectly, by margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or X issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System); and the City will not use, or cause any other Person to use, the proceeds of the Bonds or Drawings under a Letter of Credit to extend purpose credit, secured directly or indirectly by margin stock, to any other Person.
- (m) Environmental Matters. The City has not received any notice to the effect that the City is not in compliance with any requirement of law or is the subject of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, which non compliance or remedial action could have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
- (n) ERISA. The City is not subject to ERISA and the City has no unfunded pension obligations which could reasonably be expected to result in a material adversely effect the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the other Financing Documents.
- (o) Compliance with Laws. Except as disclosed in the Remarketing Memorandum or otherwise disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the date hereof, the City is in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of all laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its properties, except in such instances in which (a) such requirement of law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted or (b) the failure to comply therewith, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
- (p) Taxes. The City has filed all Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports required to be filed and has paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges levied or imposed upon it or its properties, income or assets otherwise due and payable, except those which are being

contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP. There is no proposed tax assessment against the City that would, if made, have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the City or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.

- (q) Interest. None of the Financing Documents (including the Bonds and Bank Bonds) provide for any payments that would violate any applicable law regarding permissible maximum rates of interest under the laws of the State; provided, however, that the City makes no representation with respect to the last sentence of Section 2.16 hereof.
- (r) Prior Lien Bonds. The City has no obligations secured by a lien on the Net Revenues that is superior to the lien on the Net Revenues securing the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has covenanted in the Ordinance not to issue Additional Prior Lien Bonds (as defined in the ordinances authorizing the Prior Lien Bonds).
- (s) Bank Bonds. The Bank Bonds purchased pursuant to this Agreement will be transferred to or held for the benefit of the Bank, free and clear of all liens, security interests or claims of any Person other than the Bank, except for such consensual liens or other security interests as may be created by the Bank.
- (t) The Paying Agent and Remarketing Agent. The Paying Agent is the duly appointed and acting paying agent/registrar under the Ordinance. The Remarketing Agent is the duly appointed and acting remarketing agent for the Bonds.
- (u) Swap Termination Payments. There is no lien on the Net Revenues securing any swap termination payments payable pursuant to any Swap Contract entered into by the City that is superior in priority to or on a parity with the lien securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds and any other Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement.
- (v) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties. The City hereby makes to the Bank the same representations and warranties as were made by it in each Financing Document (other than this Agreement) to which it is a party, which representations and warranties, together with the related definitions of terms contained therein, are hereby incorporated by reference in this Section 3.1(v) with the same effect as if each and every such representation and warranty and definition were set forth in this Section 3.1(v) in its entirety. No amendment to or waiver of such representations and warranties or definitions made pursuant to such Financing Documents shall be effective to amend such representations and warranties and definitions as incorporated by reference in this Section 3.1(v) without the prior written consent of the Bank in accordance with Section 5.2(a).

(w) Security. Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City has pledged the Net Revenues to the payment and security of the Bonds (including the Bank Bonds) and all other Reimbursement Obligations. The Ordinance validly grants the pledge which it purports to create to secure the Bonds (including the Bank Bonds), the Reimbursement Obligations and the City's other Obligations hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement as and to the extent provided herein and in the Ordinance and is a perfected lien in the manner provided by Chapter 1208, Texas Government Code.

ARTICLE 4

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

- Section 4.1. Conditions to Issuance and Delivery of the Letters of Credit. The obligation of the Bank to issue the Letters of Credit has been undertaken in reliance upon the due performance by the City of its obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party and the accuracy of and compliance with the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and duties of the City contained herein on and as of the Closing Date. The obligation of the Bank to issue the Letters of Credit is also subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent by the City on or before the Closing Date, in a manner satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel:
 - (a) The Bank shall have received (i) an executed original of each of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Custody Agreement and copies of the other Financing Documents, (ii) a specimen copy of each of the Bonds, and (iii) a certified copy of the Ordinance, Cancellation Agreement, the Insurance Policy and the LOC Endorsement;
 - (b) The Bank shall have received a signed legal opinion of counsel to the City as to such matters as the Bank may reasonably request, such opinion shall be addressed to the Bank, dated the Closing Date and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
 - (c) The Bank shall have received a signed opinion of McCall, Parkhurst & Horton, L.L.P., bond counsel, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
 - (d) The Bank shall have received evidence satisfactory to the Bank that the Bonds have been assigned an underlying long term rating of at least "A" by S&P and that such rating is in full force and effect on the Closing Date;
 - (e) The Bank shall have received a certificate of the City signed by a duly authorized officer, dated the Closing Date, certifying the names and true signatures of the officers of the City authorized to execute, on behalf of the City, this Agreement and each other Financing Document required to be executed and delivered by the City as of the Closing Date;

- (f) The Bank shall have received a certificate of the City, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized officer, stating that (i) the representations and warranties set forth in Article 3 hereof and in all other Financing Documents to which it is a party are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date, (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and (iii) no material adverse change has occurred in the financial position or results of operation of the City since the date of the audited financial statements of the City included in the Remarketing Memorandum;
- (g) All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the other Financing Documents and the remarketing of the Bonds shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
- (h) The City shall have paid the fees and expenses and all other amounts (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and expenses) payable on the Closing Date pursuant to the Bank Fee Agreement and Section 7.12 hereof for which the City shall have received an invoice prior to the Closing Date from the Bank; provided, however, that the failure by the Bank to provide an invoice with respect to any fees, expenses or other amounts payable by the City pursuant to the Bank Fee Agreement and Section 7.12 hereof shall not relieve the City from its liability to make such payments to the Bank;
- (i) The Bank shall have received an executed LOC Endorsement from the Insurer;
- (j) The Bank shall have received a signed opinion of counsel to the Insurer, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank:
- (k) The Bank shall have received written evidence of the Insurer's consent to the Amendment to the Ordinance and the terms and provisions of this Agreement and the Letters of Credit:
- (l) The Bank shall have received such other documents, certificates, opinions, approvals and filings with respect to this Agreement and the other Financing Documents as its counsel may reasonably request;
- (m) The Bank shall have received satisfactory evidence of the termination of the Existing Agreements and the letters of credit issued thereunder;
- (n) The Bank shall have received the approval of the Texas Attorney General related to the proceedings related to this Agreement;
- (o) The Bank shall have received written confirmation that a CUSIP Number has been obtained from Standard and Poor's CUSIP Services for each series of Bank Bonds.

The issuance of its Letters of Credit to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacities as Paying Agent and as Tender Agent (as Beneficiary as defined in the Letters of Credit), shall constitute an acknowledgement by the Bank that the conditions precedent set forth above have been satisfied or waived.

Section 4.2. Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Advance. If at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect, a Liquidity Advance shall be made available to the City only if on the date of payment of such Liquidity Drawing by the Bank (a) the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 of this Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of such date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case, they are true and correct as of such earlier date); and (b) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the making of such Liquidity Advance, which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default hereunder. The conditions described in this Section 4.2 shall be referred to herein as the "Conditions Precedent." Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary and for the avoidance of doubt, so long as the Insurance Policy is in effect the payment or making by the Bank of any Liquidity Advance shall not be subject to or otherwise dependent upon the satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent.

Unless the City shall have previously advised the Bank in writing that the above statements are no longer true, the City shall be deemed to have represented and warranted on the date of such payment that the above statements are true and correct.

ARTICLE 5

COVENANTS

- Section 5.1. Affirmative Covenants of the City. As long as this Agreement is in effect, and until all amounts payable hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and under any Bank Bonds are fully paid or defeased in accordance with the Ordinance, the City will, as applicable, perform and observe the covenants set forth below:
 - (a) Financial Records. The City shall at all times maintain financial records and furnish to the Bank, as soon as available, but in any event within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each fiscal year, audited financial statements (including balance sheet and income statement) prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and certified by an independent certified public accounting firm except to the extent State law requires otherwise.
 - (b) Notice of Default. The City shall notify the Bank in writing of the occurrence of (i) any Default or Event of Default, (ii) any default under any Financing Document to which the City is a party, or (iii) any filing by the City of a petition in bankruptcy under the Bankruptcy Law. The City shall also notify the Bank of the occurrence of any default or other event under any ordinance, contract or instrument providing for the creation of any Payment Obligation (payable from Net Revenues) of the

City where the effect thereof is to accelerate, or permit the acceleration of, the maturity of such Payment Obligation (payable from Net Revenues).

- (c) Budgets. The City shall deliver to the Bank a copy of its annual budget for the next fiscal year promptly upon adoption of such budget.
- (d) Reports. The City shall deliver to the Bank, as soon as available and in any event not later than forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, (i) quarterly unaudited financial statements of the Airport System prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except to the extent State law requires otherwise, and accompanied by comparative figures of the expected year-end balances and the budgeted amount for such fiscal period including relevant footnotes, (ii) quarterly mark-to-market valuations on Swap Contracts in place with respect to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues, (iii) written notice of any change in insurance carriers or amount of any insurance coverage and (iv) all other information concerning the City which the City submits to or receives from any other party which is reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Bank's rights hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement or the City's obligations under any Financing Document to which it is a party.
- (e) Other Information. The City shall furnish to the Bank promptly, as the Bank may reasonably request, such additional information concerning the Airport System or the City in order to enable the Bank to determine whether the covenants, terms and provisions of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents have been complied with by the City, and for that purpose all pertinent books, documents and vouchers relating to the City's business, affairs and properties shall at all reasonable times during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice be open to the inspection of such accountants or other agents (who may make copies of all or any part thereof at their own cost and expense) as shall from time to time be designated by the Bank. Without limiting the foregoing, the City will permit the Bank to visit and inspect any of the properties of the City during regular business hours and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the City with its respective officials and any accounting firm performing services for the City, as often as the Bank may reasonably request.
- of its obligations arising in connection with the Airport System and all laws applicable to the Airport System, including, without limitation, all budgeting requirements of the Airport System, so as not to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder. The City shall observe and comply with all of its obligations arising in connection with the Financing Documents and all laws applicable to the City so as not to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (g) Litigation. The City shall promptly, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, notify the Bank in writing with respect to any pending or, to the extent of its actual knowledge, threatened litigation with respect to the City or the Airport System,

the existence of which causes the representation set forth in Section 3.1(f) hereof to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect.

- (h) Licenses, Permits, Etc. The City will take all necessary and appropriate action to ensure the continuance in force of all material consents, licenses, permits, orders, decrees, approvals, authorizations, registrations and filings obtained or made in connection with the Airport System, this Agreement, or the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party, or which are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance the City of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party and all other agreements to be delivered in connection with any thereof.
- (i) Books and Records. The City shall keep or cause to be kept adequate and proper records and books of account with respect the City and the Airport System in which complete and correct entries shall be made.
- (j) Insurer Notices. Promptly upon receipt thereof, the City shall provide to the Bank all material notices received by it from the Insurer relating to the Insurance Policy or the transaction contemplated by the Financing Documents.
- (k) Maintenance of Existence. Except as may be required by law, or unless it has obtained the prior written consent of the Bank (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the City shall preserve and maintain its existence, and its rights, franchises and privileges material to the conduct of its business and shall not reorganize, merge or consolidate with or into any Person, wind up, liquidate or dissolve its affairs (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution) or convert, sell, assign, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (or agree to do any of the foregoing at any future time), whether in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or substantially all of its property or assets.
- (I) Notice of Adverse Change. The City shall notify the Bank, as soon as possible, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, after acquiring knowledge of the occurrence of (i) the filing of any action in a court of competent jurisdiction for an initiative or referendum which is reasonably likely to lead to the material diminution or reallocation of Net Revenues or the funds received by the City under any Swap Contract relating to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues or (ii) any other event which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or operations of the Airport System or materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or under any other Financing Document to which the City is a party.
- (m) Paying Agent and Other Agents. The City shall immediately notify the Bank of any resignation of the Paying Agent, the Tender Agent or the Remarketing Agent. The City shall obtain the prior written consent of the Bank prior to the appointment of any successor Paying Agent, Tender Agent or Remarketing Agent. The City shall use reasonable efforts to cause the Remarketing Agent to at all times comply with the terms of the Financing Documents to which it is a party.

- (n) Other Matters. The City shall execute and deliver to the Bank all such documents and instruments, and do all such acts and things, as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to enable the Bank to exercise and enforce its rights under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and to realize thereon, and record and file and rerecord and refile all such documents and instruments, at such time or times, in such manner and at such place or places, all as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to validate, preserve and protect the lien of the Bank on the Net Revenues under the Ordinance.
- (o) Payment of Obligations; Removal of Liens. The City shall pay all indebtedness and obligations of the City in accordance with the terms thereof, including as the same respectively become due, all taxes, charges, assessments (general or special) and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever, that may be at any time lawfully assessed or levied against or with respect to the Net Revenues and promptly discharge or cause to be discharged all liens, encumbrances and charges on Net Revenues.
- (p) Maintenance of Insurance. The City covenants that it will maintain insurance or self-insurance on the Airport System. The City shall maintain insurance of such type and in such amounts or in excess of such amounts as are customarily carried by, and insure against such risks as are customarily insured against by, Texas home-rule cities of like type, size and character to the City or provide self-insurance for the same.

(q) Reserved.

- (r) Liquidity. (i) The City shall use its best efforts to (A) obtain a Substitute Credit Facility to replace the Letters of Credit (to the extent replacement is commercially reasonable), (B) convert the interest rate on the related subseries of Bonds to an interest rate other than the Weekly Rate or (C) refund or refinance the related subseries of Bonds, in the event the Bank shall notify the City that it will not extend the Stated Expiration Date of any Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.12 hereof.
- (ii) The City agrees that any Substitute Credit Facility will require, as a condition to the effectiveness of the Substitute Credit Facility, that the issuer of the Substitute Credit Facility will provide funds to the extent necessary, in addition to other funds available, on the date the Substitute Credit Facility becomes effective, for the purchase of all Bank Bonds at par plus all accrued interest thereon through the date such Substitute Credit Facility becomes effective. On such date, any and all amounts due hereunder to the Bank shall be payable in full to the Bank.
- (iii) The City shall not permit a Substitute Credit Facility to become effective with respect to less than all of the Bonds without the prior written consent of the Bank.
- (s) Conversion. (i) (A) The City shall promptly furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the Bank, not later than furnishing the same to the Paying Agent, a copy of any notice of conversion of the interest rate on any subseries of Bonds furnished by the City to the Paying Agent pursuant to the Ordinance indicating a proposed conversion of

the interest rate on any subseries of the Bonds to a rate other than a Weekly Rate and (B) the City shall not permit, consent to, or request a conversion of the Bonds to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate without the prior written consent of the Bank if, after giving effect to such conversion, there would be any other amounts payable to the Bank or in respect of Bank Bonds held by the Bank or any other Obligations owed to the Bank would not have been paid in full; and

- (ii) In the event of a tender and a failed remarketing of the Bonds and the resulting Liquidity Drawing under any Letter of Credit remains outstanding for a period of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days, the City shall use its best efforts to (A) replace such Letter of Credit with a Substitute Credit Facility (to the extent replacement is commercially reasonable), (B) convert the interest rate on the Bonds to a rate other than a Weekly Rate or (C) refund or refinance the Bonds, in any case not later than ninety (90) days immediately succeeding the thirtieth (30th) calendar day succeeding the date of the related Liquidity Drawing.
- (t) Selection of Bank Bonds for Redemption. The City shall select, or cause to be selected, for optional redemption any and all Bank Bonds subject to optional redemption prior to selecting, or causing to be selected, for optional redemption any of the Bonds that are not Bank Bonds.
- (u) Incorporated by Reference. The City agrees that it will, for the benefit of the Bank, comply with, abide by and be restricted by all of the agreements, covenants, obligations and undertakings of the City in the Financing Documents to which it is a party, which agreements, covenants, obligations and undertakings, together with the related definitions and ancillary provisions, are incorporated in this Section 5.1(u) by reference and made a part of this Section 5.1(u) to the same extent and with the same force and effect as if the same had been set forth in this Section 5.1(u) in their entirety, and they will be deemed to continue in effect for the benefit of the Bank, without regard or giving effect to any amendment or modification of such provisions or any waiver of compliance therewith, unless such amendment, modification or waiver is consented to in writing by the Bank in accordance with Section 5.2(a).
- (v) Maintenance of Ratings. The City shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement, maintain a long-term unenhanced credit rating with respect to the Bonds with at least one of the Rating Agencies.
- (w) Paying Agent and Remarketing Agent. The City shall at all times maintain a Paying Agent and a Tender Agent under the Ordinance reasonably acceptable to the Bank. The City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds, including Bank Bonds, up to the maximum rate permitted under the Ordinance. If the Remarketing Agent fails to remarket the Bonds for thirty (30) consecutive days or at any time fails to perform its duties under the Remarketing Agreement and the Ordinance to the satisfaction of the Bank, the City will, at the direction of the Bank, replace such Remarketing Agent and, appoint a successor Remarketing Agent reasonably acceptable to the Bank and the Insurer. The City will not, without the prior written consent of the

Bank, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, remove the then existing Remarketing Agent. Any remarketing agreement with a successor Remarketing Agent shall provide that (a) such successor Remarketing Agent may resign upon at least sixty (60) days prior written notice to the Paying Agent, the Bank, and the City, (b) such successor Remarketing Agent shall use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds without regard to the Bank Rate (i.e., whether or not the rate to be borne by the Bonds is less than the Bank Rate) and (c) such successor Remarketing Agent shall offer the Bonds for remarketing at the maximum rate permitted under the Ordinance prior to such Bonds being tendered for purchase pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.

- Credit Facilities. In the event that the City shall hereafter enter into or otherwise consent to any credit agreement, bond purchase agreement, liquidity agreement, direct securities purchase agreement or other agreement or instrument entered into by the City or any other party under the control of the City in connection with the Airport System (or any amendment, supplement or modification thereto) (each such agreement or amendment, supplement or modification thereto shall be referred to herein as a "Bank Agreement") under which any Person (other than the federal government or any agency thereof) undertakes to make loans or extend credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System, which Bank Agreement (or amendment thereto) provides such Person with additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies than are provided to the Bank in this Agreement, the City shall provide the Bank with a copy of such Bank Agreement and such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies shall automatically be deemed to be incorporated into this Section 5.1(x) and the Bank shall have the benefits of such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or such greater rights and remedies as if specifically set forth in this Section 5.1(x). As used in this Section 5.1(x), "control" shall have the same meaning as set forth in the definition of "Affiliate." No amendment or waiver to any such Bank Agreement shall be effective as against the Bank without the written consent of the Bank. Upon the request of the Bank, the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include such additional or more restrictive covenants, and/or greater rights or remedies, provided that the Bank shall maintain the benefit of such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies even if the City fails to provide such amendment).
- (y) Waiver of Sovereign Immunity. To the extent authorized by Texas Government Code Section 1371.059(c), the City hereby waives sovereign immunity from suit and liability for the purposes of adjudicating a claim to enforce this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement or for damages for breach of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement.
- (z) Maintenance of Property. The City shall maintain, preserve and keep the Airport System in good repair, working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted).
- (aa) Taxes and Assessments. The City shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes, assessments and governmental charges imposed upon it or its respective interest in the

Airport System before the same become delinquent, unless and to the extent that the same are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and reserves are provided therefor that in the opinion of the City are adequate.

- (bb) Debt Service Reserve Fund. In the event that the financial strength rating of the Bond Insurer is reduced below A3 or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by Moody's and is reduced below A- or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by S&P, the City shall, within sixty (60) days of such rating action, (i) replace the surety provider with a provider acceptable to the Bank or (ii) cash fund the Debt Service Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (over a period of eighteen (18) months in monthly installments as required by the Ordinance).
- (cc) Bank Bond Rating. At any time Bank Bonds are outstanding the City, at its expense, (i) shall promptly and, in any event within 15 days, obtain from at least one rating agency then rating the Bonds, a rating specifically assigned to such Bank Bonds and (ii) shall promptly and, in any event within 15 days, ensure that the CUSIP number and the rating assigned to such Bank Bonds are available electronically from a third-party provider of such information.
- Future Agreements. In the event that the City shall hereafter enter into or otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement with any Person for a loan or to extend credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System and such Bank Agreement contains a "most favored nations" or "most favored lender" provision (each an "MFN Clause") that provides such Person the benefit of any additional or different events of default (contained in a separate Bank Agreement that is entered into by the City on a future date with a different Person) than are provided to such Person in such Bank Agreement, then within five (5) Business Days after the effective date of such Bank Agreement, the City shall provide to the Bank a copy of such MFN Clause and, at the discretion of the Bank, the portion of such MFN Clause referencing such additional or different events of default (the "Incorporated Portion") shall be deemed to be incorporated into Section 5.1(x) hereof and the Bank shall have the benefit of the Incorporated Portion. Upon the request of the Bank, the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include the Incorporated Portion provided that the Bank shall have the benefit of such Incorporated Portion of such MFN Clause even if the City fails to provide such amendment).
- Section 5.2. Negative Covenants of the City. As long as this Agreement is in effect, and until all amounts payable hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement, and under any Bank Bonds, are indefeasibly paid in full, the City shall not, unless the Bank shall otherwise consent in writing:
 - (a) agree to amend, supplement, extend, modify, waive, revise or otherwise alter or terminate, or permit any party to amend, supplement, extend, modify, waive, revise or otherwise alter or terminate, any term of the Bonds or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party;

- (b) violate any law, rule, regulation, or governmental order to which it is subject, which violation involves a reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting the use or value of the Airport System, the financial condition, business or results of operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Financing Document;
- (c) invest any amounts on deposit in any of the funds or accounts held or maintained by the Paying Agent pursuant to the Ordinance in any investments other than investments permitted pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance or deviate from the investment policies of the City approved by the City Council of the City or from the applicable provisions of the State statutes with respect to the City's investments;
- (d) take any action, or cause the Paying Agent or the Tender Agent to take any action under the Ordinance that would cause a Default or an Event of Default under this Agreement;
- (e) take any action which would result in the City's obligations to the Bank under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement not having the priority set forth in the Ordinance;
- (f) terminate this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Ordinance (except as otherwise permitted herein or therein) or replace any Letter of Credit with a Substitute Credit Facility (except as otherwise permitted herein or in the Ordinance);
- (g) except as permitted by the Ordinance, encumber, transfer, sell, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of, any interest in, or create, suffer or assume any lien to be created on, the Airport System; or
- (h) other than in the Remarketing Memorandum and its audited financial statements, refer to the Bank in any official statement or any similar offering document or make any changes in reference to the Bank in any official statement or any similar offering document; *provided, however,* that the City may include the name of the Bank in the Remarketing Memorandum or its audited financial statements without the consent of the Bank; or
- (i) permit a lien on the Net Revenues securing any swap termination payments payable pursuant to any Swap Contract entered into the City that is superior in priority to or on a parity with the lien on the Net Revenues securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds or any other Reimbursement Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder.

(i) Liens and Additional Debt.

(i) Parity Liens. Except as permitted by the Ordinance, the City shall not grant any lien, pledge or security interest in the Net Revenues which is on parity with the lien on Net Revenues that secures the payment of the City's Obligations.

(ii) Additional Senior Debt. The City shall not issue any obligations after the Closing Date which are secured by a lien on Net Revenues that is senior to that securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds and the other Reimbursement Obligations.

ARTICLE 6

TERM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT; EVENTS OF DEFAULT

- Section 6.1. Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon execution by the Bank and the City and shall continue in full force and effect until the Letters of Credit have terminated or expired in accordance with their terms and all Obligations have been paid in full.
- Section 6.2. Events of Default. It shall be an Event of Default hereunder if any of the following events shall occur and be continuing:
 - (a) (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds or the Bank Bonds is not paid when due or (ii) any Drawing or any Liquidity Advance is not paid when due; or
 - (b) any representation or warranty made by the City in this Agreement or any other Financing Document shall prove to be untrue in any material respect on the date as of which it was made; or
 - (c) nonpayment of any amounts payable under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement when due (other than amounts referred to in Section 6.2(a) hereof), if such failure to pay when due shall continue for six (6) Business Days; or
 - (d) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any covenant set forth in Sections 5.1(b), 5.1(g), 5.1(k), 5.1(l), 5.1(l
 - (e) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any other term, covenant or agreement (not covered by clause (a), (c) or (d)) set forth in this Agreement and the continuance of such default for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the City obtaining actual knowledge thereof and (ii) receipt by the City of notice thereof from the Bank; or
 - (f) the Ordinance shall terminate or cease to be in full force and effect, other than as a result of any prepayment in full of all of the Bonds or provision for such prepayment in full in accordance with the Ordinance; or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank, or any other material provision of the Ordinance or of any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall cease to be in full force or effect, or the City or any Person

acting on behalf of the City shall deny or disaffirm the City's obligations under the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party; or

- (i) the City shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (A) under (g) any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy. insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate the City as bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, composition or other relief with respect to the City or its debts, or (B) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets, or the City shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (ii) there shall be commenced against the City any case. proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (i) above which (x) results in an order for such relief or in the appointment of a receiver or similar official or (y) remains undismissed, undischarged or unbonded for a period of sixty (60) days; or (iii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof, or (iv) the City shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) the City shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts; or
- (h) the City or a governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have declared or announced a moratorium (whether or not in writing) with respect to any debt or Payment Obligation of the City payable from Net Revenues; or
- (i) any final, non-appealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes in an aggregate amount of \$5,000,000 or more, payable from Net Revenues, shall be entered or filed against the City and shall remain unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days; or
- (j) any "event of default" shall occur under the Ordinance or under any other Financing Document; or
- (k) the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any of the City's debt payable from Net Revenues is reduced below "Baa2" by Moody's or below "BBB" by S&P or is suspended or withdrawn by Moody's or S&P; or
- (1) except pursuant to Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 hereof, the Insurance Policy is canceled or terminated or the Insurer is replaced with another insurer or the terms of the Insurance Policy are amended or modified in any respect which, in the sole discretion of the Bank, would have an adverse effect on the rights or security of the Bank, in any case which was (i) not at the direction of the Bank or (ii) without the prior written consent of the Bank; or

- (m) the City shall (i) default in any payment of any principal or premium of or interest on any of the City's long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues (other than the Bonds, the Liquidity Drawings and the Liquidity Advances) beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement under which such long-term indebtedness was created; or (ii) default in the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any such long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such long-term indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause (determined without regard to whether any notice is required), any such long-term indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; or
- (i) a court or other governmental authority with jurisdiction to rule on the validity of this Agreement, the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall find, announce or rule that any material provision of this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document, is not a valid and binding agreement of the City; or (ii) the City shall contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document; or (iii) the City or any other Person acting on behalf of the City shall seek an adjudication that this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, is not valid and binding on the City.
- Section 6.3. Remedies. If an Event of Default shall have occurred, the Bank may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided:
 - (a) give written notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds pursuant to Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice, and the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, in which case the City and the Bank shall take such action as shall be necessary to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement; provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing, the Bank may direct the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated;

- (b) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Financing Documents subject to the terms thereof, including instituting suit, actions or proceedings to enforce its rights under the Ordinance;
- (c) pursue any other action available at law or in equity for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, in aid of execution of any power herein granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal remedy; or
- (d) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which notice is hereby waived by the City (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing);

provided, however, that in the case of the foregoing clauses (b), (c) and (d), the Bank shall not exercise any such rights and remedies or pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance, without the consent of the Insurer unless the following conditions are met: (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and (ii) unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it, and if such conditions are met, then the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall nonetheless continue in full force and effect; provided further, that, notwithstanding the condition set forth in clause (i) of the foregoing proviso, if an Insurer Event of Default has occurred, the Bank may, while the Insurance Policy is in effect, exercise any such rights and remedies and pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance. If the Bank has directed the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a) hereof, the Bank shall, and hereby covenants with the Insurer that it will (unless, with respect to Section 6.3(a) hereof, an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and the Bank has directed the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated) satisfy at the earliest time practicable all applicable conditions to the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and direct the Paying Agent not to draw on the Insurance Policy during the period between the Bank directing the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds and the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Insurer's right to enforce the Bank's covenants set forth in this paragraph shall survive any termination of other rights of the Insurer.

Section 6.4. Mandatory Tender Events. (a) If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement. The City and the Bank shall take such action as may be necessary or required to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement. So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, upon the termination of the Insurance Policy the City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket all tendered Bonds at the earliest date possible pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance; provided that, if after the Bonds have been called for mandatory tender by the

Paying Agent but prior to the remarketing of such Bonds an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Bonds shall only be remarketed with the written consent of the Bank and the Bank may at its sole discretion pursue any of its rights or remedies pursuant to this Agreement.

- (b) If the City fails to pay the Letter of Credit Fee, the Bank may give written notice of such failure to pay to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.
- (c) If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred and be continuing and, in either case, an Event of Default shall also have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, as applicable, and such Event of Default, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

ARTICLE 7

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 7.1. Cancellation Agreement. If the Bank in its sole and absolute discretion shall pay any amounts owed to the Insurer in connection with the cancellation of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall reimburse the Bank for such payments to the Insurer within five (5) Business Days after the City's receipt of written notice from the Bank as to such amount due to the Bank and amounts not paid when due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate. Any payments to the Insurer made by the Bank that are in respect of principal of or interest on the Bonds shall be deemed to be Reimbursement Obligations hereunder.

Section 7.2. Reimbursement. To the extent permitted by the law of the State, the City agrees to reimburse and hold the Bank and its officers, directors and employees (each a "Reimbursed Party") harmless from and against, and to pay on demand, any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs and expenses whatsoever which such Reimbursed Party may incur or suffer by reason of or in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Letters of Credit, or any other documents which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Letters of Credit or in connection with the remarketing of the Bonds, or in connection with any payment under the Letters of Credit, including, but not limited to, the fees and expenses of counsel for such Reimbursed Party with respect thereto and with respect to advising such Reimbursed Party as to its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement and the Letters of Credit and all fees and expenses, if any, in connection with the enforcement or defense of the rights of such Reimbursed Party in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Letters of Credit or any of the other Financing Documents, or the collection of any monies

due under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or such other documents which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Letters of Credit or any of the other Financing Documents, except to the extent that any such claim, damage, loss, liability, cost or expense shall be found in a final, non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted directly from or caused by such Reimbursed Party's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with the Letters of Credit. Promptly after receipt by any Reimbursed Party of notice of the commencement, or threatened commencement, of any action subject to the reimbursement obligation contained in this Section 7.2, such Reimbursed Party shall promptly notify the City thereof, *provided* that failure to give such notice shall not relieve the City from any liability to such Reimbursed Party hereunder. The obligations of the City under this Section 7.2 shall survive payment of all Obligations owed under this Agreement and the expiration of the Letters of Credit. Net Revenues shall constitute the sole source of funds available to the City for the payments, if any, owing to a Reimbursed Party.

Section 7.3. Liability of the Bank. The City assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent, or any agents thereof, and any transferee beneficiary of any Letter of Credit with respect to its use of any Letter of Credit. Neither the Bank nor any of its officers or directors shall be liable or responsible for: (a) the use which may be made of any Letter of Credit or for any acts or omissions of the Tender Agent or the Paying Agent, any agent thereof or any transferee beneficiary in connection therewith; (b) the validity or genuineness of documents, or of any endorsement(s) thereon, even if such documents should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, fraudulent or forged; (c) payment by the Bank against presentation of documents which do not comply with the terms of the applicable Letter of Credit, including failure of any documents to bear any reference or adequate reference to such Letter of Credit: or (d) any other circumstances whatsoever in making or failing to make payment under the Letters of Credit; provided, however, that the City shall have a claim against the Bank to the extent of any direct compensatory, as opposed to consequential, damages suffered by the City which the City proves were caused by the Bank's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with a Letter of Credit (it being understood that the Bank assumes no liability or responsibility for the genuineness, falsification or effect of any document which appears to be regular on its face). The Bank is hereby expressly authorized and directed to honor any demand for payment which is made under a Letter of Credit without regard to, and without any duty on its part to inquire into the existence of, any disputes or controversies between or among the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent, any transferee beneficiary of any Letter of Credit or any other Person or the respective rights, duties or liabilities of any of them, or whether any facts or occurrences represented in any of the documents presented under the Letters of Credit are true and correct.

Section 7.4. Participations. The Bank may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the City, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural person or the City) (each, a "Participant") in all or a portion of the Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and its obligations under a Letter of Credit (including all or a portion of the applicable Commitment and of any Drawings or Liquidity Advances due and owing hereunder); provided that (i) the Bank's obligations under the Letters of Credit shall remain unchanged, (ii) the Bank shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the City shall continue to deal solely and directly with

the Bank in connection with the Bank's rights under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and its obligations under the Letters of Credit.

Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which the Bank sells such a participation shall provide that the Bank shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision hereof or thereof; *provided* that such agreement or instrument may provide that the Bank will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment or waiver described in Section 7.6(a), 7.6(b), 7.6(c) or 7.6(d) hereof that affects such Participant.

Section 7.5. Survival of this Agreement. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall survive the issuance of the Letters of Credit and shall continue in full force and effect so long as any Letter of Credit shall be unexpired or any Obligations shall be outstanding and unpaid. The obligation of the City to reimburse the Bank pursuant to Sections 2.13, 2.14, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.12 hereof shall survive the payment of the Bonds and termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.6. Modification of this Agreement. No amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Bank and the City and consented to in writing by the Insurer (provided, however, that no consent of the Insurer shall be required in connection with the extension of the Stated Expiration Date of the Letters of Credit, any amendment to the Bank Fee Agreement or any other amendment which would not materially adversely affect the rights of the Insurer hereunder; provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. then the Bank and the City may amend this Agreement without the consent of the Insurer unless such amendment would be adverse to the Insurer or would change its obligations in connection with any Bank Bonds. No amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of the Letters of Credit shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Bank (in its sole discretion). Any such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. No notice to or demand on the City in any case shall entitle the City to any other or further notice or demand in the same, similar or other circumstances.

Section 7.7. Waiver of Rights by the Bank. No course of dealing or failure or delay on the part of the Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any Letter of Credit or the Bank Fee Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or privilege. The rights of the Bank under the Letters of Credit, this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which the Bank would otherwise have.

Section 7.8. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. The parties shall endeavor in good faith negotiations to replace the invalid,

illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic and legal effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.

Section 7.9. Governing Law. This Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be contracts under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of New York; provided that the rights, duties and obligations of the City under this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the internal laws of the State of Texas, without giving effect to conflict of law principles. Each party hereto irrevocably waives, if and to the extent permitted by applicable law, any and all, to the extent permitted by law, right to a trial by jury in any action, suit or legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Financing Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

Section 7.10. Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communications,

(a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in subsection (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopier to, and all notices and other communications expressly permitted hereunder to be given by telephone shall be made to, the address, telecopier number, email address or telephone number specified for the recipient on its respective signature page hereto.

Notices and other communications sent by hand or overnight courier service or mailed by certified or registered mail shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices and other communications sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not sent during normal business hours for the recipient, such communications shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient).

(b) Electronic Communications. Notices and other communications to the Bank hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Bank, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to the Bank pursuant to Article 2 hereof. The City may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communication pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.

If the Bank has agreed to receive communications by e-mail and unless the Bank otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing

- clause (i) of notification that such notice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.
- (c) Change of Address, Etc. Each of the City and the Bank may change its address, telecopier or telephone number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other party hereto. In addition, the Bank agrees to notify the City from time to time to ensure that the City has on record (i) an effective address, contact name, telephone number, telecopier number and, if applicable, e-mail address to which notices and other communications may be sent and (ii) accurate wire instructions for the Bank.
- (d) Reliance by the Bank. The Bank shall be entitled to rely and act upon any notices (including telephonic notices with respect to any Drawing) purportedly given by or on behalf of the City even if (i) such notices were not made in a manner specified herein, were incomplete or were not preceded or followed by any other form of notice specified herein or (ii) the terms thereof, as understood by the Bank, varied from any confirmation thereof. The City shall reimburse the Bank for all losses, costs, expenses and liabilities resulting from the reliance by the Bank on each notice purportedly given by or on behalf of the City. All telephonic notices to and other telephonic communications with the Bank may be recorded by the Bank, and the City hereby consents to such recording.

Section 7.11. Successors and Assigns.

- Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that the City may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder or under any other Financing Document without the prior written consent of the Bank (and the Insurer, if Insurance Policy is then in effect), and the Bank may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder or under any Letter of Credit without the prior written consent of the City (and the Insurer if the Insurance Policy is still in effect); provided, however, that the obligations of the Bank under any Letter of Credit may be assigned or otherwise transferred with (A) the prior written consent of the City and (B) confirmation from each Rating Agency then rating the related subseries of Bonds that the long and short-term ratings on such subseries of Bonds will not be withdrawn or reduced as a result of such assignment or transfer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank may assign its right to receive payment of any Obligation of the City hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement without the prior written consent of the City or any other party. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby and Participants to the extent provided in Section 7.4 hereof) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
- (b) Certain Pledges. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the Bank may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement to secure obligations of the Bank, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided

that no such pledge or assignment shall release the Bank from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for the Bank as a party hereto.

(c) Electronic Execution of Assignments. The words "execution," "signed," "signature," and words of like import in any assignment and assumption shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the Texas State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

Section 7.12. Taxes and Expenses. The City will promptly pay (i) the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents as set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement, (ii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank with respect to advising the Bank as to its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents after the occurrence of an Event of Default, and (iii) all reasonable costs and expenses, if any, in connection with any amendment to this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or any other Financing Document which requires the consent of the Bank or the waiver of such provision by the Bank or the enforcement of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement and any other documents which may be delivered in connection herewith or therewith, including in each case the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank. In addition, the City shall pay any and all stamp and other taxes and fees payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution, delivery, filing, and recording of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement and the security contemplated by the Financing Documents and agrees, to the extent permitted by the law of the State, to hold the Bank harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay in paying or omission to pay such taxes and fees; provided, however, that the City may reasonably contest any such taxes or fees with the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent, if an Event of Default does not then exist, shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition, the City agrees to pay, after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees and costs of settlement) incurred by the Bank in enforcing any obligations or in collecting any payments due from the City hereunder by reason of such Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a "workout" or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of the City under this Section 7.12 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.13. Payment Obligations of the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything set forth to the contrary herein, any provision of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement which provides that the City will make payments to the Bank in respect of any Obligations hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be an obligation of the City to make such payment to the Bank subject to the limitations contained in this Agreement as to the sources of funds available to the City for such purpose.

- Section 7.14. Headings. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not define or limit the provisions hereof.
- Section 7.15. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but all taken together to constitute one instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.
- Section 7.16. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement constitute the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and any prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto are superseded hereby and thereby.
- Section 7.17. USA Patriot Act. (a) The Bank hereby notifies the City that, pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "Patriot Act"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the City, which information includes the name and address of the City and other information that will allow the Bank to identify the City in accordance with the Patriot Act, and the City hereby agrees to take any action necessary to enable the Bank to comply with the requirements of the Patriot Act.
- (b) The City shall ensure that no person who controls the City is or shall be listed on the "Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List" or other similar lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC"), the Department of the Treasury or included in any Executive Orders that prohibit or limit the Bank from making any advance or extension of credit to the City or from otherwise conducting business with the City. The City shall comply with all applicable Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA") laws and regulations, as amended. The City agrees to provide such documentary and other evidence of the City's identity as may be requested by the Bank at any time to enable Bank to verify the City's identity or to comply with any applicable law or regulation, including, without limitation, Section 326 of the Patriot Act.
- Section 7.18. Insurance Policy Claims. Following payment by the Bank of any Drawing under a Letter of Credit, the Bank shall have forty-five (45) Business Days from the date of such payment to direct the Insurer to reimburse the Bank for the amount of the Drawing that was not reimbursed by the City, the Tender Agent or the Paying Agent from amounts in the funds and accounts under the Ordinance. In the event the Bank fails to direct the Insurer to reimburse the Bank within the forty-five (45) Business Day period, the Bank shall be deemed to have elected not to receive reimbursement from the Insurer with respect to such payment under a Letter of Credit and to have waived its right to present such a claim to the Insurer for failure of the City to make such reimbursement. In no event shall the Bank be deemed to have waived its right to direct a mandatory tender of the Bonds with respect to any such reimbursement default as a result of the Bank waiving its right to present a claim of reimbursement to the Insurer.

Section 7.19. Insurer's Rights. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Cancellation Agreement, the existence of all rights given to the Insurer hereunder and under the Ordinance with respect to the giving of consents, approvals or notices, or the direction of proceedings and its rights pursuant to Section 7.20 hereof is expressly conditioned upon (i) the Insurance Policy being in full force and effect or (ii) no Insurer Event of Default having occurred and being continuing. If either or both of such conditions is not satisfied, then only the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall continue in full force and effect, except as expressly provided herein or in the Cancellation Agreement. Any such rights shall not be exercisable by the Insurer (but shall be exercisable by the Bank in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance) if at any time (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in full force and effect as a result of a termination of the Insurance Policy and the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it or (ii) an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided that this Section 7.19 shall not in any way limit or affect the rights of the Insurer as subrogee of the Bank or Owner of a Bond or as assignee of the Bank or Owner of a Bond or to otherwise be reimbursed and indemnified for its costs and expenses and other payments on or in connection with the Reimbursement Obligations or the Insurance Policy either by operation of law or at equity or by contract.

Section 7.20. Third Party Beneficiary. The Bank and the City acknowledge that, unless (i) the Insurance Policy has been terminated pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or 6.4(a) hereof and the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it (if applicable in accordance with Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a) hereof) or (ii) an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer shall be an express third party beneficiary of the provisions of this Agreement relating to the Insurer with the power to enforce the same.

[Balance of this page intentionally blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed
and delivered by their respective representatives thereunto authorized as of the date first written
above.

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

By:	
Name:	
Title:	

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch

By:
Name:
Title:
Principal Office for all information other then draws under the Letter of Credit: 277 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10172
Attention: Public and Infrastructure Finance Telephone: (212) 224-4000 Facsimile: (212) 224-4566
Wire instructions:
Citibank, N.A., New York ABA No. 021-000-089
F/O Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation,
New York Branch
Acct No: 360 23 837
Attention: Trade Credit Services Department
Reference: Letter of Credit No.
_[]

		
Attention:		
Telephone:	•	
Facsimile:		
E-mail: []	

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 277 Park Avenue New York, New York 10172

Attention: Trade Credit Services Department

Telephone: (212) 224-4000 Facsimile: (212) 224-4566

APPENDIX A

TO

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT FOR SUBSERIES 2005-[__] BONDS

FORM OF IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE DIRECT PAY LETTER OF CREDIT

LG/MIS/NY-[]
	June, 2014
	Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[
Beneficiary: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent (the "Beneficial")	ary")
Attention:	
Ladies and Gentlemen:	

We hereby establish in your favor as beneficiary (the "Beneficiary"), for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined), our irrevocable transferable direct pay Letter of for the account of the City of Austin, Texas (the "Applicant"), whereby we hereby irrevocably authorize you to draw on us from time to time, from and after the date hereof to and including the earliest to occur of our close of business on: (i) October 1, 2019, (as extended from time to time, the "Stated Expiration Date"), (ii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the date on which all of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) are converted to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate (as defined in the Ordinance) as such date is specified in a certificate in the form of Exhibit A hereto (the "Conversion Date"), (iii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form set forth as Exhibit B hereto, (iv) the date on which a Stated Maturity Drawing (as hereinafter defined) is honored by us, (v) the date which is sixteen (16) days following receipt by you of a written notice from us in the form of Exhibit K attached hereto specifying the occurrence of an Event of Default as defined in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2014 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Reimbursement Agreement"), between the Applicant and us (the "Bank"), and directing you to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance (but only with the written consent of the Insurer so long as the Insurance Policy is in full force and effect and no Insurer Event of Default has occurred (as each term is defined in the Reimbursement Agreement) or if the Insurance Policy is being terminated in connection with such mandatory tender) (the earliest of such dates to occur referred to herein as the "Termination Date"), in each such case, maximum aggregate amount Dollars (U.S. \$ - the "Original Stated Amount") to pay the unpaid principal amount of, or a portion of the purchase price corresponding to the principal of, and accrued interest on, the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, Subseries 2005-[] (the "Bonds") (said \$ been calculated to be equal to \$______, the outstanding principal amount of the

Bonds, plus \$_____ which is at least ____ days accrued interest on said principal amount of the Bonds at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum (the "Cap Interest Rate") calculated on the basis of a 365 day year). This Letter of Credit is available to you against presentation of the following documents (the "Payment Documents") presented to the Bank as described below:

A certificate (with all blanks appropriately completed) (i) in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto to pay accrued interest on the Bonds as provided for in the Ordinance (an "Interest Drawing"), (ii) in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto to pay the principal amount of and accrued interest on the Bonds in respect of any redemption of the Bonds as provided for in Sections A-301 and A-302 of the Ordinance (a "Redemption Drawing"), (iii) in the form attached as Exhibit E hereto, to allow the Beneficiary to pay the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase as provided for of the Ordinance which have not been successfully remarketed or for which the purchase price has not been received by the Beneficiary by 12:00 noon, New York time, on the purchase date (a "Liquidity Drawing") or (iv) in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto to pay the principal amount of Bonds maturing on ("Stated Maturity Drawing"), each certificate to state therein that it is given by your duly authorized representative and dated the date such certificate is presented hereunder. No drawings shall be made under this Letter of Credit for Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).

All drawings shall be made by presentation of each Payment Document to Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation at 277 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10172 by facsimile (at facsimile number (212) 224-4566), Attention: Trade Credit Services Department, or at such other address or telecopier number as we may specify to you in writing without further need of documentation, including the original of this Letter of Credit, it being understood that each Payment Document so submitted is to be the sole operative instrument of drawing.

The Bank agrees to honor and pay the amount of any Interest Drawing, Redemption Drawing, Liquidity Drawing or Stated Maturity Drawing if presented in compliance with all of the terms of this Letter of Credit. If such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented prior to 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. If any such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented at or after 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the second following Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented to the Bank prior to [12:25 P.M.], New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by [2:30 P.M.], New York time, on the same Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented at or after [12:25 P.M.], New York time, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by [2:30 P.M.], New York time, on the following Business Day.

Payments made hereunder shall be made by wire transfer to you in accordance with the instructions specified by the Beneficiary in the drawing certificate relating to a particular drawing hereunder. "Business Day" means any day which is not (i) a Saturday, a Sunday or legal holiday, or (ii) a day on which the payment office of the Bank for draws on the Letter of Credit are located, are required or authorized by law to remain closed.

The Available Amount (as hereinafter defined) will be reduced automatically by the amount of any drawing hereunder; provided, however, that the amount of any Interest Drawing hereunder, shall be automatically reinstated, on the seventh (7th) calendar day following the date any Interest Drawing is honored if you shall not have received notice from us in the form of Exhibit K attached hereto prior to such time that any Event of Default has occurred under the Reimbursement Agreement and, as a result thereof, (i) the amount of such Interest Drawing shall not be reinstated or (ii) the amount of such Interest Drawing shall not be reinstated and the Bank shall direct the Beneficiary to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds. After payment by the Bank of a Liquidity Drawing, the obligation of the Bank to honor drawings under this Letter of Credit will be automatically reduced by an amount equal to the amount of said drawing. In addition, prior to the Conversion Date, in the event of the remarketing of the Bonds (or portions thereof) previously purchased with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing, the Bank's obligations to honor drawings hereunder will be automatically reinstated concurrently upon receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto, and receipt by the Bank or the Beneficiary on behalf of the Bank of the amount equal to the amount stated on such Exhibit H.

Upon receipt by the Bank of a certificate of the Beneficiary in the form of Exhibit G hereto, the Available Amount will automatically and permanently be reduced by the amount specified in such certificate. Such reduction shall be effective as of the next Business Day following the date of delivery of such certificate.

Upon any permanent reduction of the Available Amount to be drawn under this Letter of Credit, as provided herein, we will deliver to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Exhibit L attached hereto to reflect any such reduction. The "Available Amount" shall mean the Original Stated Amount (i) less the amount of all permanent prior reductions pursuant to Interest, Redemption or Liquidity Drawings, (ii) less the amount of any previous reduction thereof pursuant to a reduction certificate in the form of Exhibit G (to the extent such reduction is not already accounted for by a reduction in the Available Amount pursuant to clause (i) above), (iii) plus the amount of all reinstatements as above provided.

Prior to the Termination Date, we may extend the Stated Expiration Date from time to time at the request of the Applicant by delivering to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit in the form of Exhibit J hereto designating the date to which the Stated Expiration Date is being extended. All references in this Letter of Credit to the Stated Expiration Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in such notice. Any date to which the Stated Expiration Date has been extended as herein provided may be extended in a like manner.

Upon the Termination Date, this Letter of Credit shall automatically terminate.

This Letter of Credit is transferable in whole only to your successor as Beneficiary under the Ordinance. Any such transfer (including any successive transfer) shall be subject to the Bank's receipt of a signed transfer request signed by the transferor and by the transferee in the form of Exhibit I hereto and payment of our transfer fee, in such case, the transferee instead of the transferor shall be entitled to all the benefits of and rights under this Letter of Credit in the transferor's place; *provided* that, in such case, any Bonds of the Beneficiary to be provided hereunder shall be signed by one who states therein that he is a duly authorized officer of the transferee.

Communications with respect to this Letter of Credit shall be addressed to us at Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, National Association, 277 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10172, Attention: Trade Credit Services Department, specifically referring to the number of this Letter of Credit. For telephone assistance, please contact the Trade Credit Services Department at (212) 224-4000 and have this Letter of Credit number available.

To the extent not inconsistent with the express terms hereof, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the terms of the International Standby Practice 98 ("ISP98"). As to matters not governed by the ISP98 this Letter of Credit shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Texas.

All payments made by us hereunder shall be made from our funds and not with the funds of any other Person.

This Letter of Credit sets forth in full the terms of our undertaking, and such undertaking shall not in any way be modified or amended by reference to any other document whatsoever.

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch

By:			
Nam	e:		
Title	:		

EXHIBIT A

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[____]

NOTICE OF CONVERSION DATE

[Date]	
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch	
77 Park Avenue, 6th Floor New York, New York 10172	
Attention: Trade Credit Services Department Facsimile: (212) 224-4566	
adies and Gentlemen:	
Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Cre No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has be stablished by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.	
The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that the Conversion Date of all of a Bonds to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate (as defined in the Ordinance) becaused on [insert date], and, accordingly, said Letter of Credit shall terminate on which is one (1) Business Day after such Conversion Date, in accordance with its terms.	nas
All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same aning as in the Letter of Credit.	me
as Beneficiary	
Ву	
[Title of Authorized Officer]	_

Ехнівіт В

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[____]

NOTICE OF TERMINATION

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch 277 Park Avenue, 6th Floor New York, New York 10172 Attention: Trade Credit Services Department	[Date]
Facsimile: (212) 224-4566	
Ladies and Gentlemen:	
Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable L No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), vestablished by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficia	vhich has been
The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that (i) no Bonds remains within the meaning of the Ordinance, (ii) all drawings required to be made under and available under the Letter of Credit have been made and honored and the Avander the Letter of Credit has been reduced to zero and may not be reinstated, or credit facility has been issued to replace the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ord Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2014, between the Applicant and accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall be terminated in accordance with its terms.	r the Ordinance ailable Amount (iii) a substitute linance and the
All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shal meaning as in the Letter of Credit.	I have the same
as Beneficiary	
By	

EXHIBIT C

TO

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[]

INTEREST DRAWING CERTIFICATE

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch 277 Park Avenue, 6th Floor
New York, New York 10172
Attention: Trade Credit Services Department
Facsimile: (212) 224-4566
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing in the amount of sunder the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance with respect to the payment of interest due on all Bonds outstanding on the Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) occurring on <u>[insert applicable date]</u> , other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).
3. The amount of the drawing is equal to the amount required to be drawn by the Beneficiary pursuant to the Ordinance.
4. The amount of the drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
5. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to
Re: , Attention:,

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,, 20	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this	day	of
								_, as Paying A	Agent	
				Ву						
						[Title o	of Authoriz	ed Officer]		

EXHIBIT D

TO

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[____]

REDEMPTION DRAWING

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch
277 Park Avenue, 6th Floor
New York, New York 10172
Attention: Trade Credit Services Department
Facsimile: (212) 224-4566
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing in the amount of under the Letter of Credit pursuant to Section [(with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance.
3. (a) The amount of this drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed by the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) pursuant to Section (with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance on [insert applicable date] (the "Redemption Date") other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit), plus (ii) interest on such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) to the Redemption Date, provided that in the event the Redemption Date coincides with an Interest Payment Date this drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds.
(b) Of the amount stated in paragraph 2 above:
(i) \$ is demanded in respect of the principal amount of the Bonds referred to in subparagraph (a) above; and
(ii) \$ is demanded in respect of accrued interest on such Bonds.

	4.	Paym	ent	by	the	Bank ABA	pu N	ırsuan Jumb	it to er	th:	is	draw	/ing	shal	l be	ma	ide to
Account Re:	Nu	mber _						, ,	At	tenti	on:						
compliar amount does not	ice v of an	y other	e ter r dra	ms wing	and g un	condi	tion e Le	s of etter c	the of Ca	Ordi redit	inar ma	nce a	and, simu	whe ltane	n ado ously	ded	to the
directed and the A Available with this Rate (as	Avail e An drav	rmaner able Ar nount h wing ar	ntly i mountains benefit and an	redu nt sh een n am	ce the sall	hereup ced by t equa	ilab on y an l to	le An equal amo	our <u>\$[ir</u> unt e	it by isert equa	\$[i t ne l to	inser w A the	t an vail prin	noun able cipal	t of E	redu unt] Bond	ction] [. The ls paid
	7.	Of the	e am	ount	of t	he red	uctio	on sta	ted:	in pa	тад	raph	6 al	oove:			٠
re	edeen	(i) ned; an				is	s att	ributa	able	to 1	the	prin	cipa	l am	ount	of	Bonds
_	· c	(ii) days' in				is						teres	t on	suc	h Bo	onds	(i.e.,
in accord	8. ance					reduc of the					ble	Am	ount	has	been	com	ıputed
	_																

In	WITNESS	Whereof,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
	,	··									
									, as		
					Bene	ficiary		-	,		
				By	7						
				_,		Title o	of Authoriz	ed Of	ficerl		

EXHIBIT E

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[

LIQUIDITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch 277 Park Avenue, 6th Floor New York, New York 10172 Attention: Trade Credit Services Department Facsimile: (212) 224-4566
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary") hereby CERTIFIES as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Tender Agent under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing under the Letter of Credit in the amount of \$\ with respect to the payment of the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase in accordance with Section [with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate] of the Ordinance and to be purchased on insert applicable date (the "Purchase Date") which Bonds have not been remarketed as provided in the Ordinance or the purchase price of which has not been received by the Beneficiary by A.M., New York time, on said Purchase Date.
3. (a) The amount of the drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be purchased pursuant to the Ordinance on the Purchase Date other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit), plus (ii) interest on such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) (or if none, the date of issuance of the Bonds) to the Purchase Date, provided that in the event the Purchase Date coincides with an Interest Payment Date this drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds.
(b) Of the amount stated in paragraph (2) above:
(i) \$ is demanded in respect of the principal portion of the purchase price of the Bonds referred to in subparagraph (2) above; and

(ii) \$	is demanded in respect of payment
of the interest portion of	the purchase price of such Bonds.
4. The amount of	the drawing made by this Certificate was computed in
	d conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the inder the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith,
	amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
	will register or cause to be registered in the name of the
	ount drawn hereunder, Bonds in the principal amount of
held in accordance with the Ordi	h the amounts drawn hereunder and such Bonds will be
neid in accordance with the Ordi	mance.
	Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to
Number	, ABA Number, Account, Re:
In Witness Whereof, this	Certificate has been executed this day of
,	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	•
	Beneficiary, as
	, as
	Beneficiary , as
	, as

EXHIBIT F

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[____]

STATED MATURITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

Sumitomo Mitsu 277 Park Avenue	Banking Corporation, New York Branch
New York, New	
	Credit Services Department
	12) 224-4566
r desimile. (2	12) 224 4300
The und	ersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the
"Beneficiary"), I	nereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that
certain Irrevocab	ole Transferable Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June,
2014, (the "Lette	er of Credit"), issued by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through
ts New York B	ranch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the
	and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
	1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
	2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing in the amount of
\$	under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance.
	3. The amount of this drawing is equal to the principal amount of Bonds
maturing	on, as specified in the Ordinance, other than Ineligible
Bonds (as	defined in the Letter of Credit).
	4. (7)
	4. The amount of this drawing made by this Certificate was computed in
	the with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the
	f any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith,
does not e	exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
5	5. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to, ABA Number, Account
Number	, Attention:
-	

IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
	,	<u>.</u>									
									, as		
				I	3ene f	iciary					
				_							
				Ву		······································	1 . C A . 41	. ,	0.00		
						111	tle of Autho	orizea	Officer	ŀ	

EXHIBIT G

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[]

REDUCTION CERTIFICATE

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch 277 Park Avenue, 6th Floor
New York, New York 10172
Attention: Trade Credit Services Department Facsimile: (212) 224-4566
The undersigned hereby CERTIFIES with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary shall deliver this Certificate to the Bank at the direction of the Applicant pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance.
3. Upon receipt by the Bank of this Certificate, the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit) shall be reduced by \$ and the Available Amount shall thereupon equal \$ \$ of the new Available Amount is attributable to interest.
4. The interest amount of the reduction in the Available Amount has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit.
5. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding, plus days' interest thereon

at the Cap Interest Rate (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

 IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
									, as		
				 .	Benet	ficiary					
				Ву	'						
						[Ti	itle of Auth	orize	d Officer]	_	

Ехнівіт Н

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[]

REINSTATEMENT CERTIFICATE

[Date]

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch 277 Park Avenue, 6th Floor
New York, New York 10172
·
Attention: Trade Credit Services Department
Facsimile: (212) 224-4566
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of [insert name of Beneficiary] (the "Beneficiary"), hereby notifies Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch, with reference to Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"; terms defined therein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor of the Beneficiary as follows:
1 is the Remarketing Agent under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary has been advised by the Bank that the amount of has been paid to the Bank or the Beneficiary or the account of the Bank on the date hereof by the Applicant or the Remarketing Agent on behalf of the Applicant as a payment made to reimburse the Bank, pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 (the "Reimbursement Agreement"), between the Applicant and the Bank, for amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.
3. Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents the aggregate principal amount of Bonds resold or to be resold on behalf of the Applicant.
4. Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents accrued and unpaid interest on such Bonds.

IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
		,							D	. cr _ : _	
								<u> </u>	, Bene	encia	гу
	-			By_							
						[Tit	le of Autho	rized	Officerl		

EXHIBIT I

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[]

TRANSFER	REQUEST
----------	---------

1	◠	4 -
- 5		17.63

Sumitomo I	Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch
277 Park A	venue, 6th Floor
New York,	New York 10172
Attention:	Trade Credit Services Department
Re:	Irrevocable Transferable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-,
	dated June , 2014

We, the undersigned "Transferor", hereby irrevocably transfer all of our rights to draw under the above referenced Letter of Credit (the "Letter of Credit") in its entirety to:

	Name of Transferee
(Print Name a	nd complete address of the Transferee) "Transferee"
	Address of Transferee

In accordance with ISP98 (as defined in the Letter of Credit), Rule 6, regarding transfer of drawing rights, all rights of the undersigned Transferor in the Letter of Credit are transferred to the Transferee, who shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, including sole rights relating to any amendments whether increases or extensions or other amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made. All amendments are to be advised directly to the Transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned Transferor.

The original Letter of Credit, including amendments to this date, is attached and the undersigned Transferor requests that you endorse an acknowledgment of this transfer on the reverse thereof. The undersigned Transferor requests that you notify the Transferee of this Letter

of Credit in such form and manner as you deem appropriate, and the terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit as transferred.

If you agree to these instructions, please advise the Transferee of the terms and conditions of this transferred Letter of Credit and these instructions.

Payment of transfer fee of U.S. \$5,000 is for the account of the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) who agrees to pay you on demand any expense or cost you may incur in connection with the transfer. Receipt of such shall not constitute consent by you to effect the transfer.

Transferor represents and warrants that (a) the Transferee is the Transferor's successor Beneficiary under the Ordinance, (b) the enclosed Letter of Credit is original and complete, and (c) there is no outstanding demand or request for payment or transfer under the Letter of Credit affecting the rights to be transferred.

The effective date of the transfer of the Letter of Credit shall be the date hereafter on which Transferor effects the requested transfer by acknowledging this request and giving notice thereof to Transferee.

WE WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY THAT WE MAY HAVE IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS TRANSFER.

This Request is made subject to ISP98 and is subject to and shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflict of laws.

(Signature Page Follows)

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED Signature(s) with title(s) conform(s) with that/those on file (Print Name of Transferor) with us for this individual, entity or company and signer(s) is/are authorized to execute this agreement. (Transferor's Authorized Signature) (Print Name of Bank) (Print Authorized Signers Name and Title) (Address of Bank) (City, State, Zip Code) (Telephone Number/Fax Number) (Print Name and Title of Authorized Signer) Acknowledged: (Authorized Signature) (Print Name of Transferee) (Telephone Number) (Transferee's Authorized Signature) (Print Authorized Signers Name and Title) (Telephone Number/Fax Number) Acknowledged as of ______, 20__: SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, NEW YORK BRANCH By:______Name:_____

Sincerely yours,

Title:

Exhibit J

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[____]

NOTICE OF EXTENSION AMENDMENT

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association	
Attention:	
City of Austin, Texas	
Ladies and Gentlemen:	
No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June	t certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), established by us in ify you that the Stated Expiration Date (as defined in,
All other terms and conditions rema	in unchanged.
This letter shall be attached to the Le	etter of Credit and made a part thereof.
	SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch
	By:
	Name:

EXHIBIT K

TO

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[]

NOTICE OF EVENT OF DEFAULT

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
Attention:
City of Austin, Texas
Ladies and Gentlemen:
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch, hereby advises you, with reference to Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"; any capitalized term used herein and not defined shall have its respective meaning as set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in your favor, that:

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[an "Event of Default" has occurred under Section 6.2 of the Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2014, between the Applicant and the Bank, and the Bank has elected to direct the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds pursuant to Section A-403 (6) of the Ordinance, whereby the Letter of Credit will terminate sixteen (16) days following the receipt by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent of this Notice of Mandatory Tender.]

[the Bank has not been reimbursed for an Interest Drawing under the Letter of Credit or an "Event of Default" has occurred under Section 6.2 of the Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2014, between the Applicant and the Bank, and, as a result thereof, the amount of such Interest Drawing will not be reinstated and the Bank has elected to direct the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds pursuant to Section A-403(c) of the Ordinance, whereby the Letter of

Credit will terminate sixteen (16) days following the receipt by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent of this Notice of Mandatory Tender.]

Tender or Mandatory Purchase as of the da	y of, 20
	SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch
	D.,,
	By:
	Name:
	Title [,]

EXHIBIT L

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. LG/MIS/NY-[____]

NOTICE OF REDUCTION AMENDMENT

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association	[Date]
Attention:	
City of Austin, Texas	
Ladies and Gentlemen:	
No. LG/MIS/NY-[], dated June, 201 favor as Beneficiary. We hereby notify you Credit, the Available Amount (as defined i	certain Irrevocable Transferable Letter of Credit 4 (the "Letter of Credit"), established by us in your that, in accordance with the terms of the Letter of in the Letter of Credit) has been reduced to U.S. is attributable to principal and U.S.
This letter shall be attached to the Lett	•
	SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch
	By:Name:

EXHIBIT B

Fee Agreement

BANK FEE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF JUNE , 2014

Reference is hereby made (i) to the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 (the "Agreement"), between CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS (the "City") and SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch (the "Bank"), relating to the City of Austin, Texas, Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-1, Subseries 2005-2, Subseries 2005-3 and Subseries 2005-4 (the "Series 2005 Bonds") and (ii) those four (4) Letters of Credit dated June ___, 2014 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by the Bank pursuant to the Agreement, each supporting a specified subseries of Series 2005 Bonds. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement.

The purpose of this Bank Fee Agreement is to confirm the agreement between the Bank and the City with respect to the Letter of Credit Fees (as defined below) and certain other fees payable by the City to the Bank. This Bank Fee Agreement is the Bank Fee Agreement referenced in the Agreement, and the terms hereof are incorporated by reference into the Agreement.

ARTICLE I. FEES.

Section 1.1. Letter of Credit Fee. The City hereby agrees to pay to the Bank on June 30, 2014 (for the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on June 30, 2014) and in arrears on the last Business Day of each September, December, March and June occurring thereafter to the Termination Date, and on the Termination Date, a non-refundable Letter of Credit Fee (the "Letter of Credit Fee") for each quarterly fee period, commencing on the first calendar day of such quarterly fee period and ending on the last calendar day of such quarterly fee period, in an amount equal to the product of the rate per annum associated with the Level specified below corresponding to the applicable Rating (as defined below) (the "Letter of Credit Fee Rate") multiplied by the Available Amount of each Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof that may be subject to reinstatement) for each day during each related quarterly fee period. The City acknowledges and the Bank agrees, that as of the Closing Date, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate is that specified below for Level 1.

Level	S&P RATING	FITCH RATING	Moody's Rating	LETTER OF CREDIT FEE RATE
Level 1	A or above	A or above	A2 or above	0.62%
Level 2	A-	Α-	A3	0.90%
Level 3	BBB+	BBB+	Baal	1.50%
Level 4	BBB	BBB	Baa2	2.25%

The term "Rating" as used above shall mean the lowest long-term unenhanced debt ratings assigned by S&P, Fitch or Moody's to any debt or other Payment Obligations of the City secured by and/or payable from Net Revenues on a parity with the Series 2005 Bonds. In the event of a split Rating (i.e., one of the foregoing Rating Agency's Ratings is at a different Level than the Rating of either of the other Rating Agencies), the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be based upon the Level in which the lowest Rating appears. References to ratings above are references to rating categories as presently determined by the Rating Agencies and in the event of adoption of any new or changed rating system by any Rating Agency, including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of the Ratings in connection with the adoption of a "global" rating scale, the Ratings from such Rating Agency in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely approximates the applicable rating category as currently in effect. In the event that any Rating is suspended, withdrawn or otherwise unavailable for credit related reasons or reduced below any of the Ratings set forth in Level 4 above or if any Rating Agency shall otherwise cease to rate debt or other Payment Obligations of the City payable from Net Revenues on a parity with the Series 2005 Bonds, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall equal 3.00% per annum, immediately and automatically and without notice to the City. Upon the occurrence and continuation of an Event of Default, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall equal 3.00% per annum, automatically and without notice to the City. Any change in the Letter of Credit Fee Rate resulting from a reduction, withdrawal, suspension or unavailability of a Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the reduction, withdrawal, suspension or unavailability of such Rating. In the event that a Letter of Credit Fee is not paid when due, interest shall accrue on such Letter of Credit Fee from the date payment is due until payment in full at the Default Rate. Such Letter of Credit Fee shall be payable in immediately available funds and computed on the basis of a 360-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.

Section 1.2. Draw Fee. The City agrees to pay to the Bank, a non-refundable fee of \$300 for each draw on any Letter of Credit, payable on the date each such draw request if honored.

Section 1.3. Transfer Fee. Upon each transfer of any Letter of Credit to a successor Issuing and Paying Agent, the City agrees to pay to the Bank a non-refundable transfer fee in an amount equal to \$5,000 for each Letter of Credit so transferred, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Bank, payable on the date of such transfer.

Section 1.4. Amendment Fee. The City agrees to pay to the Bank a non-refundable amendment, standard waiver or consent fee, as applicable, of \$5,000 on the date of each amendment, supplement or modification to the Agreement, any Letter of Credit or this Bank Fee Agreement or in connection with any amendment, supplement or modification of any Financing Document which requires the consent of the Bank or in connection with any standard waiver by the Bank requested by the City with respect to the Agreement, any Letter of Credit this Bank Fee Agreement or any other Financing Document, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Bank.

Section 1.5. Termination and Reduction Fees. (a) Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of the Agreement or this Bank Fee Agreement to the contrary, the City agrees not

to terminate any Letter of Credit or permanently reduce the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit except upon (i) the payment by the City to the Bank of the Termination Fee or a Reduction Fee, as described below, if any, (ii) with respect to the termination of any Letter of Credit, the payment by the City to the Bank of all other amounts due and payable under the Agreement and related to such Letter of Credit, the Bank Bonds and related to such Letter of Credit and this Bank Fee Agreement and (iii) the City providing the Bank with thirty (30) days prior written notice of its intent to terminate such Letter of Credit; provided, that any such termination of a Letter of Credit shall be in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and the Agreement; provided, further, that no Termination Fee shall become payable if (x) a Letter of Credit is terminated or replaced as a result of a reduction of any of the Bank's senior unsecured short-term ratings below "P1" by Moody's, "A-1" by S&P or "F-1" by Fitch, (y) the Bank imposes increased costs on the City pursuant to Section 2.14 of the Agreement or (z) the City terminates any Letter of Credit after the first (1st) anniversary of the Closing Date.

The City agrees that all payments to the Bank referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be made in immediately available funds.

- (b) To the extent the City terminates any Letter of Credit prior to the first (1st) anniversary of the Closing Date, the City hereby agrees to pay to the Bank a Termination Fee in connection with each such termination by the City as set forth in Section 1.5(a) hereof in an amount equal to the lesser of: (1) the product of (A) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect pursuant to Section 1.1 hereof as of the date of termination, (B) the Available Amount of such Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof subject to reinstatement) in effect as of the date of termination and (C) a fraction the numerator of which is equal to 365 and the denominator of which is 360 and (2) the product of (A) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect pursuant to Section 1.1 hereof as of the date of termination, (B) the Available Amount of such Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof subject to reinstatement) in effect as of the date of termination and (C) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days from and including the date of such termination to and including the Stated Expiration Date, and the denominator of which is 360 (the lesser of (1) and (2), referred to herein as the "Termination Fee"), payable on the date such Letter of Credit is terminated or replaced.
- (c) To the extent the City permanently reduces the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof subject to reinstatement) pursuant to Section 2.7 of the Agreement prior to the first (1st) anniversary of the Closing Date, the City hereby agrees to pay to the Bank a reduction fee in connection with each and every permanent reduction in an amount equal to the lesser of: (1) the product of (x) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect pursuant to Section 1.1 hereof as of the date of termination, (y) the difference between the amount of the Available Amount of such Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof subject to reinstatement) prior to such permanent reduction and the amount of the Available Amount of such Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof subject to reinstatement) after such permanent reduction, and (z) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to 365 and the denominator of which is 360 and (2) the product of (x) the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect pursuant to Section 1.1 hereof as of the date of termination, (y) the difference between the amount of the Available Amount of such Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reduction thereof subject to reinstatement) prior to such

permanent reduction and the amount of the Available Amount of such Letter of Credit (without regard to any temporary reductions thereof subject to reinstatement) after such permanent reduction, and (z) a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the number of days from and including the date of such termination to and including the Stated Expiration Date, and the denominator of which is 360 (the lesser of (1) and (2), referred to herein as the "Reduction Fee"), payable on the date such Available Amount is permanently reduced.

Section 1.6. Audit Confirmation Fees. The City hereby agrees to pay to the Bank an audit confirmation fee of \$50 upon each audit confirmation requested by the City's auditor and presented to the Bank, payable on the date of such request.

ARTICLE II. MISCELLANEOUS.

- Section 2.1. Expenses. The City shall promptly pay on the Closing Date, the reasonable fees and expenses of U.S. counsel for the Bank in an amount not to exceed \$55,000 plus disbursements and foreign counsel to the Bank in an amount not to exceed \$5,000, in connection with the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Letters of Credit and this Bank Fee Agreement.
- Section 2.2. Amendments. No amendment to this Bank Fee Agreement shall become effective without the prior written consent of the City and the Bank.
- Section 2.3. Governing Law. This Bank Fee Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Texas; provided, that the Bank's obligations hereunder shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.
- Section 2.4. Counterparts. This Bank Fee Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but both of which, when taken together, shall constitute but one instrument.
- Section 2.5. Severability. Any provision of this Bank Fee Agreement which is prohibited, unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Bank Fee Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective officers as of the date first written above.

Сіту	OF AUSTIN, TEXAS	S
By:		
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Name:	-
•	Title:	

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch

Ву	
Name:	
Title:	

EXHIBIT C

Second Amended and Restated Cancellation Agreement

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BOND INSURANCE POLICY CANCELLATION AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BOND INSURANCE POLICY CANCELLATION AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") dated as of May 1, 2014 is entered into by and among CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS (the "Issuer"), WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as paying agent and tender agent (the "Agent"), SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch (the "Bank") and ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP. (formerly known as FINANCIAL SECURITY ASSURANCE INC.), a New York stock insurance company ("AGM"), and amends and restates that certain Amended and Restated Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012, by and among the Issuer, the Agent, AGM and the "Banks" named therein.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Issuer issued, in four subseries, its \$281,300,000 Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) pursuant to Ordinance No. 20050804-039, as supplemented on May 26, 2011 by Ordinance No. 20110526-068 and on April 12, 2012 by Ordinance No. 20120412-016 (collectively, the "Ordinance"); and

WHEREAS, the Bonds are insured by Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (the "Bond Policy") issued by AGM; and

WHEREAS, AGM has also issued Municipal Bond Insurance Debt Service Reserve Fund Insurance Policy No. 205494-R (the "Reserve Policy") for the debt service reserve fund requirement for the Bonds and Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy No 205494-SWP with respect to the swap transaction relating to the Bonds (the "Swap Policy"); and

WHEREAS, the City has arranged for the delivery of Letters of Credit ("Letters of Credit"), one for each subseries of Bonds, each to be issued by the Bank, which Letters of Credit will provide liquidity for the payment of the purchase price of the Bonds of a subseries upon a tender thereof and also provide for payment of principal and interest on the Bonds of a subseries; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the reimbursement agreement under which the Letters of Credit are being issued (the "Reimbursement Agreement") and the Ordinance, the Bank has the right under certain circumstances to give direction to the Issuer and the Agent that the Bond Policy is to be terminated and thereby cause the Bonds to become subject to mandatory tender; and

WHEREAS, AGM, the Issuer and the Agent have agreed to cancellation of the Bond Policy at the request of the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement, subject to the terms of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed that the Swap Policy and the Reserve Policy shall be terminated as provided in Sections 15 and 16 hereof.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises set forth below, the parties hereto agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

- Section 1. The Bank hereby requests that, effective upon the occurrence of the conditions set forth herein, AGM cancel the Bond Policy, and AGM hereby agrees to comply with such request, subject to the terms of this Agreement.
- Section 2. The Bank acknowledges and agrees that pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement the exercise by the Bank of rights and remedies, and the pursuit of other actions, referred to in Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreement, without the consent of AGM is subject to satisfaction of the conditions specified in Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreement which (except in certain specified circumstances) contemplate termination of the Bond Policy and AGM being paid all amounts due and payable to it.
- Section 3. The Bank will provide written notice in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 signed by the Bank (the "Notice") of the exercise by the Bank of its right to request the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to the terms of Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreement to the Issuer, the Agent and AGM specifying that the date of cancellation of the Bond Policy (the "Cancellation Date") shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Agent's receipt of the Notice, and the Agent shall take steps required pursuant to Section A-405 of the Ordinance to effect the mandatory tender of the Bonds. The Bank agrees that it shall not direct the Agent to draw on the Bond Policy, and the Agent agrees that it shall not draw on the Bond Policy, after the Bank has delivered the Notice. Upon delivery of the Notice and the Agent's receipt thereof, the Issuer, the Bank and the Agent hereby irrevocably consent to the cancellation of the Bond Policy in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Bank, as Owner of the Bonds, shall confirm such consent when it owns the Bonds following the mandatory tender thereof and prior to the remarketing thereof. The cancellation of the Bond Policy will be effective upon the Cancellation Date specified in the Notice subject to the terms of this Agreement; provided that in no event shall the Cancellation Date occur prior to the Mandatory Purchase Date (as such term is defined in the Ordinance). The Agent agrees to deliver to AGM the original executed Bond Policy for cancellation, provided, however, that if the original Bond Policy cannot be located after diligent search, the Agent shall deliver a copy of the Bond Policy, together with a lost policy affidavit in form and substance satisfactory to AGM stating that the original cannot be located. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the failure to deliver the original Bond Policy or any such affidavit shall not invalidate the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to this Agreement.
- Section 4. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that until the Bond Policy is cancelled pursuant hereto, AGM shall be deemed the sole holder of all of the Bonds entitled to control remedies under the Ordinance (subject to the provisions of the Ordinance). Furthermore, the Bank agrees to cooperate with AGM in the event of a draw on the Bond Policy for the purpose of reimbursing the Bank, including assigning any rights the Bank may have with respect to the related Bonds paid with a draw on the Letters of Credit.
- Section 5. The parties hereto agree that as of the Cancellation Date no amounts will be due or payable by AGM with respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Bond Policy, and none of the parties hereto or their successors or assigns will submit any claims for payment relating to the Bonds pursuant to the Bond Policy.
- Section 6. On or prior to the Cancellation Date, the Issuer shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Agent for authentication new Bonds that (a) do not contain the AGM statement

of insurance and (b) have new CUSIPs assigned reflecting the absence of insurance, with a list of such new CUSIPs to be provided to AGM.

- Section 7. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, the Ordinance, the Reimbursement Agreement or the Bonds, the parties hereto acknowledge that to the extent AGM has made any payments under the Bond Policy prior to the Cancellation Date:
 - (a) each recognizes that, to the extent AGM has made payments, directly or indirectly (as by paying through the Agent), on account of principal of or interest on the Bonds to any holder of the Bonds (a "Holder"), AGM will be (i) subrogated to the rights of such Holder to receive the amount of such payment from the Issuer, as provided and from the sources stated in the Ordinance and the Bonds, and (ii) deemed to be the Holder of such Bond or Bonds for all purposes under the Ordinance, including, without limitation, the direction of remedies, the voting or giving of consent with respect to remedies and other actions or inactions of the Agent or the Issuer that may require such voting or consent, and the filing of proofs of claim and other indicia of ownership in any insolvency proceeding; and
 - (b) AGM is entitled to receive the amount of such principal and interest as provided in the Ordinance and the Bonds, and the parties hereto will otherwise treat AGM as the owner of such rights to the amount of such payment.
- Section 8. The Issuer agrees that there will be no refund or return of the insurance premium for the Bond Policy or the Reserve Policy in connection with cancellation of the Bond Policy or the Reserve Policy. Furthermore, the Issuer agrees to pay all reasonable out-of-pocket fees and expenses of AGM in connection with the cancellation of the Bond Policy and the Reserve Policy.
- Section 9. The Issuer covenants that (a) in connection with any remarketing of the Bonds on or after the Cancellation Date, a disclosure document will be delivered to prospective Bondholders that states prominently that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Bonds and the purchasers of the remarketed Bonds shall be deemed to have consented to the cancellation of the Bond Policy and (b) it will file with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB") (or any successor repository of disclosure of information relating to the Bonds) on or as of the Cancellation Date a filing that discloses that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Bonds. The Issuer shall make such disclosure documents and MSRB filings available to AGM reasonably in advance of the use and/or filing of such materials.

Section 10. [Reserved.]

- Section 11. All notices shall be sent to the addressees and in the manner specified in Section A-702(c) of the Ordinance; provided that notices to (a) the Issuer shall be sent to it at 700 Lavaca, Suite 940, Austin, Texas 78701, Attention: City Treasurer, and (b) the Bank shall be sent to it 277 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10172, Attention:
- Section 12. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Bank, subsequent beneficial owners of the Bonds, the Agent, the Issuer, and AGM and their respective successors and assigns.

- Section 13. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of executed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as the originally signed version of such signature page.
- Section 14. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, all financial obligations of the Issuer under or as a consequence of actions required by this Agreement are limited to the sources provided therefore in the Ordinance and are subject to all limitations on such sources and priorities with respect to payment therefrom as are set forth in the Ordinance.
- Section 15. The parties acknowledge and agree that upon the termination of the Bond Policy in accordance herewith, the Series 2005 Swap Agreement entered into in connection with the Bonds or the Swap Policy shall be terminated in accordance with, and to the extent required by, the terms of the Second Amended and Restated Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction (City of Austin), dated the date hereof, between the Issuer and AGM.
- Section 16. The parties acknowledge and agree that upon the termination of the Bond Policy in accordance herewith (unless an Insurer Event of Default (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement) has occurred and is continuing), the Reserve Policy shall be cancelled by a date that is not more than three years after the Cancellation Date, and the Issuer shall (i) beginning with the first full calendar month following the Cancellation Date, commence funding on a monthly basis an amount sufficient so that the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement is established (without giving effect to the Reserve Policy) by the date that is three years after the Cancellation Date and (ii) restore any draw on the Debt Service Reserve Fund from over a period of no more than 18 months as required by Section 5.07 of the Ordinance. The Issuer further agrees that, commencing on the date hereof, it shall not issue any Additional Revenue Bonds payable from the Reserve Policy. Following the date the Reserve Policy is cancelled pursuant to the terms hereof or otherwise terminates in accordance with its terms, the Agent agrees to return the original Reserve Policy to AGM.
- Section 17. The Bank irrevocably agrees for the benefit of AGM, the Agent and the City that the only manner in which the Bank may direct the Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds (in connection with the cancellation of the Bond Policy, the termination of the Letters of Credit, or otherwise) is to provide a written notice in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit A-2, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- Section 18. This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of New York applicable to contracts executed and to be performed in the State of New York by parties domiciled in the State of New York, except that the law of the State of Texas shall govern all matters relating to the powers, authority and obligations of the Issuer. Defined terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Ordinance.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed in its respective name by its duly authorized officer, all as of the date first above written.

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS, as Issuer

By Title
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Agent
By Title
SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch
ByTitle
ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP.
By Title

Exhibit A-1 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent

750 N. St. Paul Place, Suite 1750

MAC: T9263-170 Dallas, Texas 75201 Ph: 214-756-7417 Fax: 214-756-7401

Email: @wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.
31 West 52nd Street
New York, New York 10019
Attention: Director, Municipal Surveillance

Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N; City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Re:

The undersigned, representing the Bank in furtherance of its providing letters of credit under the Reimbursement Agreement (as hereinafter defined), hereby advises you that

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreement the Bank hereby directs the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice"), and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement.]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.4(a) of the Reimbursement Agreement the Bank hereby directs the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of the date set forth therein, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreement").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed and delivered this Notice the day of, 201
SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch
By:
Name:
Title:

Exhibit A-2 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (Insurance Policy Not Cancelled)

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/ Registrar and Tender Agent

750 N. St. Paul Place, Suite 1750

MAC: T9263-170 Dallas, Texas 75201 Ph: 214-756-7417 Fax: 214-756-7401

Email: _____ @wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Re: City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, representing the Bank in furtherance of its providing letters of credit under the Reimbursement Agreement (as hereinafter defined), hereby advises you that

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default and an Insurer Event of Default have occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreement the Bank hereby directs the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[the City has failed to pay the Letter of Credit Fee and pursuant to Section 6.4(b) of the Reimbursement Agreement the Bank hereby directs the Paying Agent/ Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and is continuing, and a City Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing and pursuant to Section 6.4(a) of the Reimbursement Agreement the Bank hereby directs the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section

A-403 of the Ordinance whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of the date set forth therein, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreement").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed and delivered this Notice the day of, 201
SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, acting through its New York Branch
By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT D

Second Amended Swap Agreement

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT REGARDING INSURED SWAP TRANSACTION (CITY OF AUSTIN)

THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT REGARDING SWAP TRANSACTION (this "Agreement") dated as of June 1, 2014, is entered into by and between ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP. (formerly known as Financial Security Assurance, Inc.), a New York stock insurance company ("AGM"), and the CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS (the "City"), and amends and restates that certain Amended and Restated Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction, dated as of May 1, 2012, by and between AGM and the City.

WHEREAS, AGM has previously issued a financial guaranty insurance policy number 205494-SWP (the "Swap Policy"), dated August 17, 2005, relating to a swap transaction (the "Swap Transaction") between the City and Morgan Stanley Capital Services Inc. (the "Counterparty"), evidenced by a Confirmation dated July 2, 2004 with reference number AUCGV (the "Confirmation"), and governed by an ISDA Master Agreement dated as of July 2, 2004, including the Schedule and Credit Support Annex thereto (the "Master Agreement," and together with the Confirmation, the "Swap Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Swap Transaction was entered into to hedge interest rate risk associated with the \$306,225,000 original principal amount of City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (the "Bonds"), which were insured by AGM under municipal bond insurance policy No. 205494-N (the "Bond Policy"); and

WHEREAS, the City has or is delivering one or more letters of credit (the "Letters of Credit") issued by the Bank (as defined below) to further secure the Bonds and in connection therewith certain events may result in the Bank electing at some future date to cause the cancellation of the Bond Policy, and in connection therewith AGM, the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as paying and tender agent, and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch (the "Bank") have entered into a Second Amended and Restated Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2014 (as such agreement may be hereafter amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the "Cancellation Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Letters of Credit are being or have been issued pursuant to a Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement entered into between the Bank and the City (the "Reimbursement Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, for the purposes of this Agreement, (i) the term "Letters of Credit" shall also include any "Direct-Pay Credit Facility" (as defined in the Ordinance) delivered in substitution therefor, (ii) the term "Bank" shall also include the issuer of any such Direct-Pay Credit Facility that is a party to the Cancellation Agreement, and (iii) the term "Reimbursement Agreement" shall also include any agreement hereafter entered into between the City and a Bank pursuant to which a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is issued in substitution of a then-existing Letter of Credit; and

WHEREAS, the City wishes to have the option to keep the Swap Transaction outstanding and insured by the Swap Policy, notwithstanding a cancellation of the Bond Policy; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreement by AGM not to terminate the Swap Policy following a termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and the other agreements set forth herein, the City does hereby agree and covenant with AGM as follows:

Section 1. Reporting. Following a termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall provide the following to AGM: (i) on a monthly basis, a statement of the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction in the form currently being provided to the City by the Counterparty and (ii) notice at such time, if any, as the aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction is negative \$100,000 or an amount more favorable to the City within two (2) business days of that being the case (it being understood that such notice, if any, shall be based upon the monthly statement delivered pursuant to clause (i) hereinabove).

Section 2. Termination. Subject to Section 5 hereof, unless AGM directs or agrees otherwise, not later than the earlier of (a) ten (10) business days after the first date on which the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction payable by the City is zero or on which such estimated value aggregate mark-to-market value is positive to the City (in each case as set forth in the reports delivered pursuant to Section 1 above), and (b) three (3) years of the date of the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall do one of the following:

- (a) designate an Early Termination Date, or other optional termination, with respect to the Swap Transaction in accordance with the provisions of the Swap Agreement; or
- (b) deliver to AGM the original Swap Policy together with an instrument from the Counterparty satisfactory to AGM deeming the Swap Transaction to no longer be an Insured Transaction under the Swap Agreement and releasing AGM from all further liability under the Swap Policy.

Section 3. Not an Insurer-Directed Termination. Enforcement of this Agreement by AGM shall not be deemed to constitute designation of an Early Termination Date by AGM for purpose of the Swap Agreement or the Swap Policy. Nothing herein shall otherwise limit or impair the rights granted to AGM under the Swap Agreement (including any right to designate an Early Termination Date as provided therein).

Section 4. Swap Agreement Modification; Notional Amount Adjustment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Swap Agreement or the transaction documents relating to the Bonds, the City hereby agrees and covenants to AGM that the Notional Amount shall not exceed the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds. In accordance with the foregoing, the City agrees and covenants to AGM that it shall not redeem, defease, refund, prepay or repurchase (other than to satisfy any scheduled mandatory sinking fund requirements that correspond to scheduled reductions in the Notional Amount of the Swap Transaction) any portion of the Bonds unless

prior to or at the time of such redemption, defeasance, refunding, prepayment or repurchase, the City terminates all or a portion of the Swap Transaction so that the Notional Amount does not exceed the principal amount of the Bonds immediately following any such redemption, defeasance, refunding, prepayment or repurchase, unless AGM otherwise consents in writing to the Notional Amount not being so reduced. In addition (subject to Section 5 hereof), the City agrees that in the event any reimbursement obligation in respect of the principal amount of any Bonds (including Bank Bonds) owed a Bank under a Reimbursement Agreement is payable within a term of less than five years, the City shall terminate a portion of the Swap Transaction in a like Notional Amount at the time any such payment is made by the City to the Bank.

Section 5. Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective when each party hereto has delivered executed counterparts of this Agreement to the other party. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that in the event the Bond Policy is canceled as a result of the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement), the City shall not be obligated to perform its obligations set forth in Section 2 or the last sentence of Section 4 of this Agreement.

Section 6. Miscellaneous.

(a) Notices. All notices and other communications provided for under this Agreement shall be delivered to the address set forth below or to such other address as shall be designated by the recipient in a written notice to the other party or parties hereto.

If to AGM:

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

31 West 52nd Street

New York, New York 10019

Attention: Risk Management Department

(with a copy to the attention of the General

Counsel)

Telecopy No.: 212-581-3268

Email: munihealth@assuredguaranty.com

If to the City:

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Email: art.alfaro@austintexas.gov

- (b) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, except that the laws of the State of Texas shall govern all matters relating to the power, authority and obligations of the City.
- (c) Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings given to them in the Swap Agreement or the Swap Policy.
- (d) Due Authorization, Etc. Each party to this Agreement represents to the other party that such party has full power and authority to enter into and perform this

Agreement, and that this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such party and constitutes the valid, binding and enforceable legal agreement of such party.

- (e) Assignments. This Agreement may not be assigned by either party hereto without the express written consent of the other party hereto. Any assignment made in violation of this Agreement shall be null and void.
- (f) Amendments. Amendments of this Agreement shall be in writing signed by each party hereto.
- (g) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts by the parties hereto, and all such counterparts shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of executed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as the originally signed version of such signature page.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the p executed and delivered as of this day of	arties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly of, 2014
	ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP.
	Ву:
	Name:
	Title:
	CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS
	Ву:
	Name:
	T'Al

EXHIBIT E

Third Amended Tender Agency Agreement

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED TENDER AGENCY AGREEMENT

THIS THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED TENDER AGENCY AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of June 1, 2013, between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Tender Agent (the "Tender Agent"), amends and restates that certain Second Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012, between the City and the Tender Agent.

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 20050804-039 adopted and approved on August 4, 2005, as amended and supplemented by Ordinance No. 20110526-068 and Ordinance No. 20120412-016 (the "Ordinance"), the City has previously issued and has outstanding its Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, issued in four subseries designated "Subseries 2005-1," "Subseries 2005-2," "Subseries 2005-3" and "Subseries 2005-4" (collectively, the "Bonds"); and

WHEREAS, the Bonds and the Ordinance provide, among other things, that the registered owners (the "Owners") of the Bonds are required to tender their Bonds to the Tender Agent for purchase at various times and under various conditions, in each case in accordance with the provisions of the Bonds and the Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of a Remarketing Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2008, as amended by the First Amendment to Remarketing Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2009 (the "Remarketing Agreement"), each between the City and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated ("Morgan Stanley"), Morgan Stanley has agreed to use its best efforts to remarket any Bonds tendered for purchase to the Tender Agent by the Owners thereof pursuant to the Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of: (1) a Letter of Credit issued by Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, acting through its New York Branch ("SMBC"), with respect to the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit"), (2) a Letter of Credit issued by SBMC with respect to the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit"), (3) a Letter of Credit issued by SBMC, with respect to the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit"), and (4) a Letter of Credit issued by SBMC, with respect to the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" and, together with the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit and the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit, the "Letters of Credit"), SMBC has agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions, to purchase Bonds which have been tendered to the Tender Agent pursuant to the Ordinance and which have not been remarketed by the Remarketing Agent; and

WHEREAS, SMBC constitutes a Liquidity Facility Issuer and each Letter of Credit constitutes a Liquidity Facility pursuant to the Ordinance, as each such term is defined therein:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and to provide for the coordination of said arrangements, the parties hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1. <u>Defined Terms</u>. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Ordinance, including Appendix A thereto.

SECTION 2. Appointment of Tender Agent. Subject to the terms and conditions contained herein and in the Ordinance, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., is hereby designated and appointed Tender Agent in the performance of its duties and obligations hereunder and under the Ordinance. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., hereby accepts such appointment and the City consents to such designation and appointment. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., hereby certifies that it has the capacity to, and agrees to, perform the duties and responsibilities of the Tender Agent herein and under the Ordinance. By its execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Tender Agent hereby covenants and agrees to comply with the provisions of the Ordinance applicable to the Tender Agent. To the extent of any conflict between the provision of this Agreement and the Ordinance, the Ordinance shall control.

During the term hereof, the Tender Agent hereby covenants and agrees to maintain an office where Bonds no longer held in the Book-Entry System may be delivered and tendered for purchase to the Tender Agent. The initial designated office of the Tender Agent is: 608 2nd Ave S, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55479, Attention: REORG N9303-121.

Bonds tendered for purchase which are held in Book-Entry System shall be tendered pursuant to such Book-Entry System.

SECTION 3. Creation of Purchase Fund. There has been established in the Ordinance and currently is maintained with the Tender Agent, a separate fund known as the "Purchase Fund," which shall be held by the Tender Agent for the exclusive benefit of the Owners of Bonds who are entitled to be paid the Purchase Price of such Bonds from such Fund and, to the extent of any surplus, the Person who deposited the money into the applicable account of the Purchase Fund. The Tender Agent shall further establish and maintain separate accounts within the Purchase Fund known as the "Liquidity Facility Purchase Account" and the "Remarketing Proceeds Account."

Upon receipt from the Remarketing Agent of the proceeds of remarketing of Bonds of a Subseries on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, the Tender Agent shall deposit such proceeds in the Remarketing Proceeds Account for application to the Purchase Price of the remarketed Bond. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the receipt of the proceeds of remarketing of Bank Bonds, the Tender Agent shall immediately pay such proceeds to or for the account of the Liquidity Facility Issuer to the extent of any amount owing to the Liquidity Facility Issuer.

Upon receipt by the Tender Agent of immediately available funds to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds pursuant to Section A-411 of the Ordinance, the Tender Agent shall deposit such money in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account for application to the Purchase Price of the Bonds to the extent that the moneys on deposit in the Remarketing Proceeds Account shall not be sufficient. Any amounts deposited in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account and not needed with respect to the Purchase Price for any Bonds of such subseries shall be immediately returned to the order of the applicable Liquidity Facility Issuer.

Amounts held in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account and the Remarketing Proceeds Account by the Tender Agent shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts.

SECTION 4. <u>Delivery of Bonds</u>. The Bonds of a subseries shall be delivered in accordance with Section A-409 of the Ordinance.

SECTION 5. Tenders; Remarketing of the Bonds.

- Mandatory Tenders. At the times specified in Section A-405 of the Ordinance, (a) notice of any mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall state that such Bonds are to be purchased pursuant to Sections A-402, A-403 or A-404 of the Ordinance, and shall be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar or caused to be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar by mailing a copy of the notice of mandatory tender by first-class mail to each Owner of the Bonds of the subseries at the respective addresses shown on the registry books. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase shall identify the reason for the mandatory tender for purchase, and specify the CUSIP number, Mandatory Purchase Date, the Purchase Price, the place and manner of payment, that the Owner has no right to retain such Bonds and that no further interest will accrue from and after the Mandatory Purchase Date to such Owner. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase caused by a change in the Mode applicable to the Bonds of a subseries shall in addition specify the conditions that have to be satisfied pursuant to Section A-207 of the Ordinance in order for the New Mode to become effective and the consequences that the failure to satisfy any of such conditions would have. In the event a mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall occur at or prior to the same date on which an optional tender for purchase is scheduled to occur, the terms and conditions of the applicable mandatory tender for purchase shall control. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give a copy of any notice of mandatory tender given by it to the other Notice Parties. Any notice mailed as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner of any Bond receives the notice, and the failure of such Owner to receive any such notice shall not affect the validity of the action described in such notice. Failure by the Paying Agent/Registrar to give a notice as provided in this Section shall not affect the obligation of the Tender Agent to purchase the Bonds of a subseries subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Mandatory Purchase Date.
- Denominations) in the Daily Rate Mode that is not a Bank Bond is subject to purchase, on the demand of the Owner thereof, at a price equal to the Purchase Price on any Business Day (such purchase to be made on the Business Day upon which such demand is made), upon irrevocable notice submitted by Electronic Means to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent (promptly confirmed in writing by such Owner), delivered to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent by telecopier by 11:00 a.m., New York City time, at their respective Principal Offices, which states the number and principal amount of such Bond being tendered and the Purchase Date. Such tender notice, once transmitted to the Tender Agent, shall be irrevocable with respect to the tender for which such tender notice was delivered and such tender shall occur on the Business Day specified in such Tender Notice. The Tender Agent shall, as soon as practicable, notify the City of the principal amount of Bonds of the Series being tendered. The contents of any such irrevocable telephonic tender notice shall be conclusive and binding on all parties.

The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the

Tender Agent and Remarketing Agent, at their respective Principal Offices, not later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.

(c) Remarketing of the Bonds.

- (i) The Remarketing Agent shall notify the Tender Agent by Electronic Means not later than 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), New York City time, of the registration instructions as may be necessary to re-register the Bonds.
- (ii) Unless otherwise permitted by the Securities Depository and the book-entry-only system applicable to a Series of Bonds, the Tender Agent shall authenticate and have available for delivery to the Remarketing Agent prior to 12:30 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Tender Date new Bonds of the Series for the respective purchasers thereof.
- (iii) The Remarketing Agent shall at or before 12:00 noon (12:20 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, confirm to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent the transfer of the Purchase Price of remarketed Bonds of the subseries to the Tender Agent in immediately available funds at or before 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), New York City time, such confirmation to include the pertinent identifying information with respect to such transfer.
- (iv) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect for a subseries of Bonds, the Tender Agent shall draw on the related Liquidity Facility, in accordance with the terms thereof, by 12:25 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the subseries tendered or deemed tendered less the aggregate amount of remarketing proceeds confirmed to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent by the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of Section A-407(c) of the Ordinance and shall cause the proceeds of such draw to be transferred to the Tender Agent by no later than 2:30 p.m., New York City time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tender Agent shall draw on the related Liquidity Facility in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the subseries tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, if it does not receive a confirmation from the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of Section A-407(c) of the Ordinance.
- (v) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect for a subseries of Bonds, the Tender Agent shall confirm to the City by 2:40 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, receipt of the proceeds of any draw on such Liquidity Facility.

SECTION 6. Tender of Bonds to Tender Agent. Each Owner who is required to tender its Bond to the Tender Agent must tender such Bond to the Tender Agent in accordance with Section A-410 of the Ordinance. For any Bonds required to be tendered for purchase which are not in fact delivered, the Tender Agent shall hold any funds received for purchase of those Bonds in trust in a separate account and shall pay such funds to the former Owners upon presentation of the Bonds subject to tender, and such Bonds shall be deemed tendered and cease to accrue interest as to the former Owners on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date pursuant to the Ordinance.

SECTION 7. Source of Funds for Purchase of Bonds of a Subseries. At or before the close of business on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date with respect to Bonds of a subseries, the Tender Agent shall purchase such Bonds from the Owners at the Purchase Price. Unless otherwise provided in a certificate of an Authorized Officer delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Insurer, the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, funds for the payment of such Purchase Price shall be derived solely from the following sources in the order of priority indicated: (1) immediately available funds on deposit in the Remarketing Proceeds Account with respect to Bonds of such subseries; and (2) to the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, immediately available funds on deposit in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account derived from the Liquidity Facility relating to Bonds of such subseries.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided in a certificate of an Authorized Officer delivered to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, the City shall have the option, but shall not be obligated, to transfer immediately available funds to the Tender Agent for the payment of the Purchase Price of any Bond that is tendered or deemed tendered for purchase in accordance with the terms of Appendix A of the Ordinance and the Purchase Price of which is not paid on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date from the source identified above. Any Bonds purchased with such funds from the City shall be cancelled unless otherwise consented to by the Insurer. None of the City, the Tender Agent nor the Remarketing Agent shall have any liability or obligation to pay or advance its own funds or, except from the source identified above, make available such Purchase Price. Any Bonds held by or for the account of the City shall not be entitled to the benefit of a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy. Unless otherwise provided in a certificate of an Authorized Officer delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, the failure to pay any such Purchase Price for Bonds of a subseries that have been tendered or deemed tendered for purchase from the source identified above shall not constitute an Event of Default under the Ordinance and in the case of such failure such Bonds shall not be purchased and shall remain in the Mode in effect immediately preceding such Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, unless such Mode is automatically converted to a Weekly Rate Mode pursuant to Section A-205 of the Ordinance; provided, however, that if such Bonds were in the Auction Rate Mode immediately preceding such Date, such Bonds shall remain in the Auction Rate Mode for an Auction Period and bearing an Auction Period Rate as provided in Section A-207(c)(7) of the Ordinance.

SECTION 8. Purchase of Tendered Bonds by the Liquidity Facility Issuer; Deposits into the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account of the Purchase Fund; Notice to Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent; Release of Bank Bonds. The Liquidity Facility Issuer, upon receipt of the

appropriate notice pursuant to the applicable Liquidity Facility, has agreed in each Liquidity Facility to purchase such unremarketed Bonds of a subseries by causing an amount equal to the aggregate Purchase Price of the unremarketed Bonds to be deposited in immediately available funds in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account of the Purchase Fund no later than 2:30 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date against delivery of such Bonds at the time and in the manner set forth in such Liquidity Facility.

The Tender Agent agrees to hold Bank Bonds as agent of the Liquidity Facility Issuer and to release any Bank Bonds solely in accordance with Section A-409 of the Ordinance.

SECTION 9. <u>Disbursements from the Purchase Fund</u>. Money in each of the Remarketing Proceeds Account and the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account of the Purchase Fund shall be applied by the Tender Agent by 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date to purchase Bonds tendered to the Tender Agent at the Purchase Price in accordance with Appendix A of the Ordinance. Such Purchase Price shall be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds on such Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date; provided, however, for so long as the Bonds are held in the Book-Entry System, such payment will be in accordance with the requirements of the Book-Entry System.

SECTION 10. Transfer and Delivery of Tendered Bonds for Purchase. A principal amount of Bonds equal to the principal amount of Bonds purchased on behalf of the Remarketing Agent pursuant to Sections 5 and 11 hereof or by the Liquidity Facility Issuer pursuant to Section 8 hereof shall be authenticated by the Tender Agent and delivered to, or as instructed by, the Remarketing Agent or the respective Liquidity Facility Issuer, as applicable, and the Tender Agent shall cause the Paying Agent/Registrar to register such Bonds in the name or names provided by the Remarketing Agent or the Liquidity Facility Issuer, as applicable. The Remarketing Agent is required to redeliver such Bonds received from the Tender Agent to the respective purchasers not later than 3:30 p.m., New York City time.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing paragraph, for so long as the Bonds are held in the system of book-entry of DTC in accordance with Section 3.09 of the Ordinance, (i) any Bond remarketed by the Remarketing Agent shall be delivered to the new beneficial owner thereof by a transfer in the book-entry system of DTC of such remarketed Bond to the applicable DTC Participant account for such beneficial owner; and (ii) Bank Bonds shall be delivered to the Liquidity Facility Issuer by a transfer in the book-entry system of DTC of such Bank Bonds to the DTC Participant account of the Tender Agent for the benefit of the Liquidity Facility Issuer, as beneficial owner of such Bank Bonds.

SECTION 11. Remarketing of Bank Bonds. The Remarketing Agent has agreed in the Remarketing Agreement that it shall exercise its best efforts to solicit purchases of any Bank Bonds at a price of not less than 100% of the principal amount thereof, and upon receipt of the proceeds of any remarketing of such Bank Bonds the Tender Agent shall immediately pay such proceeds to or for the account of the Liquidity Facility Issuer to the extent of any amount owing to the Liquidity Facility Issuer. Upon receipt by the Tender Agent of funds representing the proceeds of the remarketing of such Bank Bonds, new Bonds in place of such Bank Bonds so remarketed shall be registered in the names of the buyers thereof by the Paying Agent/Registrar and delivered by the Remarketing Agent to the buyers thereof and the proceeds of such

remarketing shall, prior to or simultaneously with such delivery, be transferred by the Tender Agent to the Liquidity Facility Issuer by wire transfer.

SECTION 12. Draws on Liquidity Facility. Draws on any Liquidity Facility shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Section A-411 of the Ordinance.

SECTION 13. Maintenance of Books and Records. The Tender Agent agrees to keep such books and records as shall be consistent with prudent industry practice and to make such books and records available for inspection by the City, the related Credit Facility Issuer and the related Liquidity Facility Issuer at all reasonable times.

SECTION 14. Notice. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement and unless otherwise hereafter directed in writing by the applicable Person, all notices, demands and formal actions under this Agreement shall be in writing and mailed, telecommunicated or otherwise delivered to:

The Tender Agent:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

608 2nd Ave S

Minneapolis, MN 55479

Attention: Telephone: REORG N9303-121 (612) 316-2148

Telecopy:

(612) 667-4927

with a copy to:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

750 N. St. Paul Place, Suite 1750

MAC: T9263-170 Dallas, TX 75201

Attention:

Telephone: (214) 756-7417

Telecopy:

(214) 756-7401

E-mail: @wellsfargo.com

The City:

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, TX 78701

Attention:

City Treasurer

Telephone:

(512) 974-7882

Telecopy:

(512) 370-3838

E-mail: art.alfaro@austintexas.gov

The Liquidity Facility Issuer:	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Public and Infrastructure Finance 277 Park Avenue New York, NY 10172 Attention: Telephone: (212) 224-4000 Telecopy: (212) 224-4566 E-mail:	
With a copy to:	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation	
	Attention:	
	Telephone: ()	
	Telecopy: ()	
and:	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation	
	Trade Credit Services Department	
	277 Park Avenue	
	New York, NY 10172	
	Attention:	
	Telephone: (212) 224-4000	
	Telecopy: (212) 224-4566	

SECTION 15. General.

- (a) Payment of Tender Agent: Indemnification. The City shall pay the annual Tender Agent fee and all reasonable and actual out of pocket expenses of the Tender Agent for acting under and pursuant to this Agreement as set forth in Annex A hereto. To the extent permitted by law, the City shall indemnify and save harmless the Tender Agent and its officers and employees from and against any and all losses, costs, charges, expenses, judgments and liabilities to third parties arising out of its acting in good faith to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that such indemnification shall not apply to any losses, costs, charges, expenses, judgments or liabilities caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Tender Agent or its officers or employees. The terms of this Section 15(a) shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the payment of the all fees, expenses and amounts due hereunder shall be subject to annual appropriation of available funds by the City for the payment thereof.
- (b) <u>Tender Agent's Performance: Duty of Care</u>. The Tender Agent consents and agrees to (i) hold all sums held by it for the payment of Bonds or Bank Bonds, as applicable, in trust for the benefit of the Owners or the Liquidity Facility Issuer, as applicable, until such sums shall be paid to the Owners or the Liquidity Facility Issuer or otherwise disposed of as herein

provided, and (ii) perform and comply with all the terms and provisions on its part contained in this Agreement.

The duties and obligations of the Tender Agent shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Agreement and the Ordinance, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Tender Agent; and in the absence of negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Tender Agent, the Tender Agent may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements expressed therein, upon any document furnished to the Tender Agent and conforming to the requirements of this Agreement and the Tender Agent may rely and shall be protected in acting upon any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties; but in the case of any such document which by any provision hereof is specifically required to be furnished to the Tender Agent, the Tender Agent shall be under a duty to examine the same to determine whether or not it conforms to the requirements of this Agreement.

No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to relieve the Tender Agent from liability for its own negligence or willful misconduct or that of its officers or employees.

- (c) <u>Payments</u>. Any provision of this Agreement or any statute to the contrary notwithstanding, the Tender Agent hereby waives any rights to, or liens for, its fees, charges and expenses for services hereunder from funds or obligations credited to the Purchase Fund. The Tender Agent agrees that it will be reimbursed and compensated for its fees, charges and expenses for acting under and pursuant to this Agreement only from payments to be made by the City pursuant to Section 15(a) hereof.
- (d) Term of this Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon the effective date of the Letters of Credit and shall remain in full force and effect until (i) such time as the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds under the Ordinance shall have been paid or shall no longer have the right to be tendered for purchase; provided, however, that the City and the Tender Agent shall have fulfilled all their respective obligations hereunder, whereupon this Agreement shall terminate; or (ii) resignation by the Tender Agent or removal of the Tender Agent in accordance with Section 15(e) hereof, it being understood, in each case, that the Tender Agent does not waive or relinquish any rights it may have under Section 15(a) hereof.
- (e) Resignation by or Removal of the Tender Agent. The Tender Agent may at any time resign and be discharged from the duties and obligations hereby created by giving at least sixty (60) days' written notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the City, the Credit Facility Issuer and the Liquidity Facility Issuer; provided, that resignation or removal (as set out below) shall not be effective until a successor Tender Agent, which shall be a bank or trust company duly qualified to act in the capacity as a successor Tender Agent, shall have been appointed by the City and acting under the Ordinance. The Tender Agent may be removed at any time, at the direction of the City, by an instrument filed with the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent.
- (f) Amendments. (i) This Agreement may not be amended so as to adversely affect the right of the Owners or the Liquidity Facility Issuer to effect the purchase of Bonds pursuant to the Ordinance without the prior written approval of the Liquidity Facility Issuer and (ii) the City agrees to give to the Tender Agent prompt written notice of any modification or change of

or supplement or amendment to the Ordinance which would affect the rights or obligations of the Tender Agent hereunder. No such modification or change shall be effective against the Tender Agent unless the Tender Agent shall have consented thereto in writing.

- (g) Successors and Assigns. The rights, duties and obligations of the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Remarketing Agent and the Tender Agent hereunder shall inure, without further act, to their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, however, that the Tender Agent may not assign or delegate its rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the City and, provided further, any successor Tender Agent shall execute a tender agent agreement substantially in the form and substance as this Agreement.
- (h) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.
- (i) <u>Limited Liability</u>. Any obligation of the City created by or arising out of this Agreement and owing to the Tender Agent shall be a limited unsecured obligation of the City, payable solely from the Net Revenues of the Airport System, in accordance with the customary payment approval procedures, policies and processes of the City.
- (j) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. as Tender Agent

By:		
Name:		
Title:	,	
CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS		
Ву		
Name:		
Title:		

ANNEX A

FEES OF THE TENDER AGENT



SCHEDULE OF FEES

City of Austin, Texas Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005, Subseries 2005-1; 2005-2; 2005-3; 2005-4

TO ACT AS TENDER AGENT

Acceptance Fee:

\$0.00

Initial Fees as they relate to Wells Fargo Bank acting in the capacity of Paying Agent/Registrar – includes creation and examination of the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement; acceptance of the appointment; setting up of Paying Agent/Registrar records and accounting records; and coordination of closing.

Acceptance Fee payable at time of Tender Agency Agreement execution.

Annual Tender Agent Fee:

\$1,000.00

Out of Pocket Expenses and Activity Fees:

We only charge for out of pocket expenses in response to specific tasks assigned by the client. Therefore, we cannot anticipate what specific out-of-pocket items will be needed or what corresponding expenses will be incurred. Possible expenses would be, but are not limited to, express mail and messenger charges, travel expenses to attend closing or other meetings. There are no charges for indirect out-of- pocket expenses. Conversion fees from existing structure to Variable Rate Series will be \$250 for each series and there will be a \$100 charge for each optional tender notice.

This fee schedule is based upon the assumptions listed above which pertain to the responsibilities and risks involved in Wells Fargo undertaking the role of Paying Agent/Registrar. These assumptions are based on information provided to us as of the date of this fee schedule. Our fee schedule is subject to review and acceptance of the final documents. Should any of the assumptions, duties or responsibilities change, we reserve the right to affirm, modify or rescind our fee schedule.

Submitted by:

Gregory M. Hasty – April 23, 2008 Vice President/Business Development

Wells Fargo Bank (214) 740-1548

EXHIBIT F

Secondary Market Information Circular

SECONDARY MARKET INFORMATION CIRCULAR

relating to

\$214,825,000
City of Austin, Texas
Airport System
Refunding Revenue Bonds
Series 2005 (AMT)

consisting of

Subseries

Bank

\$53,725,000 Sub-Series 2005-1	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch
\$53,650,000 Sub-Series 2005-2	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch
\$53,725,000 Sub-Series 2005-3	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch
\$53,725,000 Sub-Series 2005-4	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch

This Secondary Market Information Circular ("Information Circular") has been prepared for use by the Remarketing Agent with respect to the above-referenced bonds (the "Series 2005 Bonds") and supplements the Remarketing Memorandum dated April 24, 2008 (the "2008 Remarketing Memorandum") relating to the Series 2005 Bonds. Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 21, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 28, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 7, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 14, 2008. This Information Circular supersedes the Secondary Market Information Circular dated April 26, 2012.

The City of Austin, Texas (the "City") intends to substitute four separate direct-pay letters of credit, each constituting a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, for the existing Liquidity Facility. Such substitution will take place on June ___, 2014 (the "Tender Date"). The Series 2005 Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Tender Date.

This Information Circular describes the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 between the City and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch ("SMBC" or the "Bank"), with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds, that will be executed and delivered on or before the Tender Date. The Bank will issue a letter of credit with respect to the particular Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds, as provided in the Reimbursement Agreement, in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds (individually, a "Letter of Credit" and collectively, the "Letters of Credit"), that will be delivered on the Tender Date. Each Letter of Credit is calculated on the basis of the currently outstanding principal amount of the Series of 2005 Bonds for which it is issued, plus ______ (___) days accrued interest thereon at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum calculated on the basis of a 365 day year. Each Letter of Credit will expire on October 1, 2018, unless extended or terminated sooner in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT" herein. The Letters of Credit are also referred to in this Information Circular collectively as the "Credit Facility".

Payment of scheduled principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds, together with the purchase price of Series 2005 Bonds subject to optional or mandatory tender for purchase which have not been remarketed, will be payable from amounts received under the Letter of Credit. Series 2005 Bonds tendered for purchase will be paid first, from the proceeds of remarketing, if any, and second, from a Liquidity Drawing on a Letter of Credit. The Bank is liable solely with respect to the scheduled principal and interest and purchase price of the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has no obligation to purchase tendered Series 2005 Bonds. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT" herein.

This cover page contains certain information for general reference only. It is not intended to be a summary of this transaction. Investors are advised to read the entire Information Circular (including without limitation the information described herein under "THE CITY; DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE") in conjunction with the

2008 Remarketing Memorandum to obtain information essential to making an informed investment decision with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

Morgan Stanley & Co Incorporated, as Remarketing Agent

The date of this Information	n Circular to the 2008	Remarketing Memorandum is	, 2014
------------------------------	------------------------	---------------------------	--------

The summary information set forth below applies to the Series 2005 Bonds only while the Series 2005 Bonds bear interest at the Weekly Rate. The City has reserved the right in the Ordinance to convert the interest rate mode on the Series 2005 Bonds to permit the interest rate to be determined on a basis other than the Weekly Rate. This information is qualified by reference to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum, and investors should review the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum, as supplemented by this Information Circular, in its entirety before making any investment decisions with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

	Sub-Series 2005-1	Sub-Series 2005-2	Sub-Series 2005-3	Sub-Series 2005-4
Maturity Date:	November 15, 2025	November 15, 2025	November 15, 2025	November 15, 2025
Outstanding Principal Amount:	\$53,725,000	\$53,650,000	\$53,725,000	\$53,725,000
CUSIP No.:	052398DR2	052398DS0	052398DT8	052398DU5
Initial Interest Period:	Weekly	Weekly	Weekly	Weekly
Interest Payment Dates Generally:	First Business Day of each Month			
Initial Credit/Liquidity Provider:	Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch			
Expiration Date of Letter of Credit:	October 1, 2018	October 1, 2018	October 1, 2018	October 1, 2018
Initial Short-Term Ratings of Initial Credit/Liquidity Provider:	Moody's: P-I S&P: A-I Fitch: FI	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 Fitch: F1	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 Fitch: F1	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 Fitch: F1
Initial Long-Term Ratings of Initial Credit/Liquidity Provider:	Moody's: Aa3 S&P: A+ Fitch: A-			

REGARDING USE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR

This Information Circular has been prepared with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds only.

This Information Circular does not constitute a reoffering or a solicitation of a reoffering of the Series 2005 Bonds, nor shall there be any such reoffering, in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to do so. No dealer, salesman or any other person has been authorized to give any information other than that contained in this Information Circular or to make any representations and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City, the Remarketing Agent, the Bank or any other person.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in each of its capacities as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent, has not participated in the preparation of this Information Circular and assumes no responsibility for its content.

The information contained in APPENDIX A to this Information Circular pertaining to the Bank has been provided by the Bank. The Remarketing Agent has reviewed the information in this Information Circular in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Remarketing Agent does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

Neither the City, its Financial Advisor, the Remarketing Agent nor the Bank make any representation or warranty with respect to the information contained in this Information Circular under the caption "BOND INSURANCE" regarding Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. ("AGM") or its policy, as such information has been furnished by AGM.

AGM makes no representation regarding the Series 2005 Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Series 2005 Bonds. In addition, AGM has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Information Circular or any information or disclosure contained or incorporated by reference herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding AGM presented under the heading "BOND INSURANCE", which was furnished by AGM, and in APPENDIX E to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum, which is attached to this Information Circular as APPENDIX C.

The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Information Circular nor any remarketing of the Series 2005 Bonds by the Remarketing Agent shall, under any circumstances, create an implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City, the Bank or any other person or in the other matters described herein.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>1</u>	<u>Page</u>
PURPOSE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR	
REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT	2
CANCELLATION AGREEMENT	6
SWAP MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT	
BOND INSURANCE	8
CREDIT AGREEMENT	9
THE REMARKETING AGENT	10
RATINGS	11
THE CITY; DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	11

MISCELLANEOUS	16
APPENDIX A - INFORMATION REGARDING THE BANK	
APPENDIX B – REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT DEFINED TERMS	B-1
APPENDIX C ~ 2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM	C-1
APPENDIX D – AMENDMENTS TO THE MULTI-MODAL PROVISIONS	D-1
APPENDIX E ~ CERTAIN REVISIONS TO 2008 REMARKETING MEMOMARANDUM	F-1

SECONDARY MARKET INFORMATION CIRCULAR

relating to

\$214,825,000
City of Austin, Texas
Airport System
Refunding Revenue Bonds
Series 2005 (AMT)

consisting of

<u>Subseries</u> \$53,725,000 Sub-Series 2005-1 \$53,650,000 Sub-Series 2005-2 \$53,725,000 Sub-Series 2005-3 \$53,725,000 Sub-Series 2005-4

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum relating to the Series 2005 Bonds described below. Investors are advised to read this Information Circular in conjunction with the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum referenced below to obtain information essential to making an informed investment decision with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

PURPOSE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR

This Information Circular has been prepared for use by the Remarketing Agent with respect to the above-referenced Series 2005 Bonds (the "Series 2005 Bonds") and supplements the Remarketing Memorandum dated April 24, 2008 (the "2008 Remarketing Memorandum") relating to the Series 2005 Bonds. Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 21, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 28, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 7, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 14, 2008. This Information Circular supersedes the Secondary Market Information Circular dated April 26, 2012.

The Series 2005 Bonds were issued by the City of Austin, Texas (the "City" or the "Issuer") pursuant to the ordinance adopted by the City on August 4, 2005, as amended and supplemented on May 26, 2011 and April 24, 2012 (the "Ordinance").

The City of Austin, Texas (the "City") intends to substitute four separate direct-pay letters of credit, each constituting a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, for the existing Liquidity Facility. Such substitution will take place on June ___, 2014 (the "Tender Date"). The Series 2005 Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Tender Date.

This Information Circular describes the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 between the City and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, New York Branch ("SMBC" or the "Bank"), with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds, that will be executed and delivered on or before the Tender Date. The Bank will issue a letter of credit with respect to the particular Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds, as provided in the Reimbursement Agreement, in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$53,650,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and in the amount of \$53,725,000, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds (individually, a "Letter of Credit" and collectively, the "Letters of Credit"), that will be delivered on the Tender Date. Each Letter of Credit is calculated on the basis of the currently outstanding principal amount of the Series of 2005 Bonds for which it is issued, plus ______ (__) days accrued interest thereon at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum calculated on the basis of a 365 day year. Each Letter of Credit will expire on October 1, 2018, unless extended or terminated sooner in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement. See

"REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT" herein. Each Letter of Credit also is also referred to in this Information Circular collectively as the "Credit Facility".

Payment of scheduled principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds, together with the purchase price of Series 2005 Bonds subject to optional or mandatory tender for purchase which have not been remarketed, will be payable from amounts received under the respective Letter of Credit. Series 2005 Bonds tendered for purchase will be paid first, from the proceeds of remarketing, if any, and second, from a Liquidity Drawing on a Letter of Credit. The Bank is liable solely with respect to the scheduled principal and interest and purchase price of the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has no obligation to purchase tendered Series 2005 Bonds. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT" herein.

The 2011 substitution of the letters of credit for the then existing Liquidity Facility issued in support of the Series 2005 Bonds resulted in amendments to the Authorizing Ordinance adopted by the City. See "APPENDIX D - AMENDMENTS TO MULTI-MODAL PROVISIONS" to this Information Circular for a description of those amendments. The 2011 substitution of the letters of credit for the then existing Liquidity Facility resulted in certain descriptions in the 2008 Remarketing Agreement being superseded for so long as the Letters of Credit remain in effect. See "APPENDIX E - CERTAIN REVISIONS TO 2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM" to this Information Circular for a description of those changes.

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

The Letter of Credit issued by SMBC under the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement relating to the Series 2005 Bonds, provides credit and liquidity support for the Series 2005 Bonds covered by the Letters of Credit. The following summary of the Reimbursement Agreement does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and is subject to all the terms and provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement to which reference is made hereby. Investors are urged to obtain and review a copy of the Reimbursement Agreement in order to understand all of the terms of the document. A copy of the Reimbursement Agreement may be obtained from the City or from the City's Financial Advisor, Public Financial Management, Inc. Austin, Texas. See "APPENDIX A - INFORMATION REGARDING THE BANK" for certain information regarding the Bank. Certain defined terms used in this section of the Offering Circular have the meanings given said terms in "APPENDIX B - REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT DEFINED TERMS".

General

Upon compliance with the terms and conditions of the Reimbursement Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, the Bank is obligated, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent, to provide funds for the purchase of the Series 2005 Bonds that are tendered for purchase and not remarketed, whether at the option of the Series 2005 Bonds or upon mandatory tender for purchase.

The Paying Agent is authorized to make drawings for the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds of any Sub-Series (each, a "Credit Drawing") under the respective Letters of Credit. The Tender Agent is authorized to make a drawing on the applicable Letter of Credit for the payment of the purchase price of the applicable Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds bearing interest at the Weekly Rate that have been tendered and not remarketed (each, a "Liquidity Drawing"), subject to certain conditions set forth in the Letter of Credit and in the Reimbursement Agreement.

Each Liquidity Drawing shall constitute an advance (a "Liquidity Advance") under the Letter of Credit. If, however, at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Bond Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, then all amounts of such Liquidity Drawing for which the Bank has not been reimbursed at the close of business of the day of the Bank's payment of such Liquidity Drawing shall be immediately due and payable and shall accrue interest at the Default Rate. In the Reimbursement Agreement, the City promises to reimburse the Bank for the interest portion of each Liquidity Advance (as a result of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit) on the earliest to occur of (A) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (B) the date on which the Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (E) the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Series 2005 Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (F) the termination of the Letter of Credit pursuant to the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement.

In the Reimbursement Agreement, the City promises to reimburse the Bank for the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance under its Letter of Credit on the earliest to occur of (A) the date on which the Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (B) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Series 2005 Bonds supported by the Letters of Credit, and (E) if on the Amortization Commencement Date the Bond Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, the Amortization Commencement Date.

The Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds purchased by the Bank ("Bank Bonds") shall bear interest at the rates set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement applicable to such Sub-Series and shall be repaid as provided therein. All Liquidity Drawings and Credit Drawings shall be made under the Letter of Credit in accordance with its terms. The City has directed the Bank to make payments under the Letter of Credit in the manner provided therein. The City's obligation to repay each Liquidity Advance and to pay interest thereon shall be evidenced and secured by Bank Bonds.

Unless otherwise paid in full on one of the dates provided above, the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance shall be payable by the City in semiannual installments ("Semiannual Principal Payments") on each Amortization Payment Date, with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then outstanding principal amount of such Liquidity Advance due and payable on the Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the Amortization Commencement Date and ending on the Amortization End Date is herein referred to as the "Amortization Period"). Each Semiannual Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the applicable Amortization Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Amortization End Date is changed in accordance with the proviso to clause (b) of the definition of "Amortization End Date" (as a result of the Bond Policy being terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date), the Amortization Period shall be adjusted to reflect the new Amortization End Date and each Semiannual Principal Payment due over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period. Semiannual Principal Payments over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period.

Each Letter of Credit will terminate on the earliest of (i) its Stated Termination Date; (ii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the date on which all of the Series 2005 Bonds of the Sub-Series applicable to such Letter of Credit are converted to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate; (iii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following receipt by the Bank of a certificate stating that the Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds applicable to such Bank's Letter of Credit are no longer outstanding, the Available Amount under the Bank's Letter of Credit has been reduced to zero and may not be reinstated, or a Substitute Credit Facility has been provided for such Letter of Credit; (iv) the date on which a Stated Maturity Drawing (as defined in the Letter of Credit) is honored; (v) the date which is sixteen (16) days following receipt by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent of a written notice specifying the occurrence of a City Event of Default and the applicable Bank directing the Tender Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance.

Events of Default

The following constitute Events of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement:

- (a) (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds or the Bank Bonds is not paid when due or (ii) any Drawing or any Liquidity Advance is not paid when due; or
- (b) any representation or warranty made by the City in this Agreement or any other Financing Document shall prove to be untrue in any material respect on the date as of which it was made; or
- (c) nonpayment of any amounts payable under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement when due (other than amounts referred to in (a) hereof), if such failure to pay when due shall continue for six (6) Business Days; or
- (d) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any covenant set forth in Sections 5.1(b), 5.1(g), 5.1(l), 5.1

- (e) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any other term, covenant or agreement (not covered by clause (a), (c) or (d)) set forth in this Agreement and the continuance of such default for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the City obtaining actual knowledge thereof and (ii) receipt by the City of notice thereof from the Bank; or
- (f) the Ordinance shall terminate or cease to be in full force and effect, other than as a result of any prepayment in full of all of the Bonds or provision for such prepayment in full in accordance with the Ordinance; or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank, or any other material provision of the Ordinance or of any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall cease to be in full force or effect, or the City or any Person acting on behalf of the City shall deny or disaffirm the City's obligations under the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party; or
- (g) (i) the City shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (A) under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate the City as bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to the City or its debts, or (B) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets, or the City shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (ii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (i) above which (x) results in an order for such relief or in the appointment of a receiver or similar official or (y) remains undismissed, undischarged or unbonded for a period of sixty (60) days; or (iii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof, or (iv) the City shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) the City shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts; or
- (h) the City or a governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have declared or announced a moratorium (whether or not in writing) with respect to any debt or Payment Obligation of the City payable from Net Revenues; or
- (i) any final, non-appealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes in an aggregate amount of \$5,000,000 or more, payable from Net Revenues, shall be entered or filed against the City and shall remain unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days; or
 - (j) any "event of default" shall occur under the Ordinance or under any other Financing Document; or
- (k) the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any of the City's debt payable from Net Revenues is reduced below "Baa2" by Moody's or below "BBB" by S&P or is suspended or withdrawn by Moody's or S&P; or
- (l) except pursuant to Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 hereof, the Insurance Policy is canceled or terminated or the Insurer is replaced with another insurer or the terms of the Insurance Policy are amended or modified in any respect which, in the sole discretion of the Bank, would have an adverse effect on the rights or security of the Bank, in any case which was (i) not at the direction of the Bank or (ii) without the prior written consent of the Bank; or

- (m) the City shall (i) default in any payment of any principal or premium of or interest on any of the City's long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues (other than the Bonds, the Liquidity Drawings and the Liquidity Advances) beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement under which such long-term indebtedness was created; or (ii) default in the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any such long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such long-term indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause (determined without regard to whether any notice is required), any such long-term indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; or
- (n) (i) a court or other governmental authority with jurisdiction to rule on the validity of this Agreement, the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall find, announce or rule that any material provision of this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document, is not a valid and binding agreement of the City; or (ii) the City shall contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document; or (iii) the City or any other Person acting on behalf of the City shall seek an adjudication that this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City's a party, is not valid and binding on the City.

Rights and Remedies

If an Event of Default shall have occurred, the Bank may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided:

- (a) give written notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds pursuant to Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice, and the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, in which case the City and the Bank shall take such action as shall be necessary to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement; provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing, the Bank may direct the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated;
- (b) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Financing Documents subject to the terms thereof, including instituting suit, actions or proceedings to enforce its rights under the Ordinance;
- (c) pursue any other action available at law or in equity for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, in aid of execution of any power herein granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal remedy; or
- (d) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which notice is hereby waived by the City (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing);

provided, however, that in the case of the foregoing clauses (b), (c) and (d), the Bank shall not exercise any such rights and remedies or pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance, without the consent of the Insurer unless the following conditions are met: (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and (ii) unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it, and if such conditions are met, then the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall nonetheless continue in full force and effect; provided further, that, notwithstanding the condition set forth in clause (i) of the foregoing proviso, if an Insurer Event of Default has occurred, the Bank may, while the Insurance Policy is in effect, exercise any such rights and remedies and pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance. If the Bank has directed the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a)

hereof, the Bank shall, and hereby covenants with the Insurer that it will (unless, with respect to Section 6.3(a) hereof, an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and the Bank has directed the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated) satisfy at the earliest time practicable all applicable conditions to the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and direct the Paying Agent not to draw on the Insurance Policy during the period between the Bank directing the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds and the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Insurer's right to enforce the Bank's covenants set forth in this paragraph shall survive any termination of other rights of the Insurer.

In addition, the Bank may pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Ordinance subject to the terms of the Ordinance, or pursue any other action available at law or in equity either for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Reimbursement Agreement or in aid of execution of any power granted therein.

Mandatory Tender upon Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade

In accordance with the terms of each Reimbursement Agreement, if an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance, thereby causing the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement. The City and the Bank shall take such action as may be necessary or required to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement. So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, upon the termination of the Insurance Policy the City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket all tendered Bonds at the earliest date possible pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance; provided that, if after the Bonds have been called for mandatory tender by the Paying Agent but prior to the remarketing of such Bonds an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Bonds shall only be remarketed with the written consent of the Bank and the Bank may at its sole discretion pursue any of its rights or remedies pursuant to this Agreement.

If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred and be continuing and, in either case, an Event of Default shall also have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, as applicable, and such Event of Default, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

Mandatory Tender upon Failure to Pay Letter of Credit Fee

If the City fails to pay the Letter of Credit Fee, the Bank may give written notice of such failure to pay to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

See "CANCELLATION AGREEMENT" for a discussion regarding procedures for the cancellation of the Bond Policy.

The mandatory tenders of the Series 2005 Bonds described above in paragraph (a) under "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - Rights and Remedies", and described above under "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - Mandatory Tender upon Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade" and "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - Mandatory Tender upon Failure to Pay Letter of Credit Fee", are in addition to the mandatory tender provisions described in APPENDIX E under the heading "Mandatory Tenders".

CANCELLATION AGREEMENT

The Bank, the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as paying agent and tender agent (the "Agent"), and AGM will execute and deliver a Second Amended and Restated Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2014 (the "Cancellation Agreement"), which is expected to be delivered on or before the Tender Date. Should the conditions occur that are described above in either paragraph (a) of "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - Rights and Remedies" or the first paragraph under "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT - Mandatory Tender upon Insurer Event

of Default or Insurer Downgrade", the Bank may provide written notice (the "Notice") to the City, the Agent and AGM of the exercise of their right granted under the Cancellation Agreement to direct the cancellation of the Bond Policy to occur on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Agent's receipt of the Notice (the "Cancellation Date"), and the Agent shall take steps to effect the mandatory tender of the Series 2005 Bonds. In the Cancellation Agreement, the Bank agree that they will not direct the Agent to draw upon the Bond Policy, and the Agent agrees that it will not draw upon the Bond Policy, after the Bank have delivered the Notice.

Upon the mandatory tender of the Series 2005 Bonds, in connection with any remarketing of the Series 2005 Bonds on and after the Cancellation Date, a disclosure document will be delivered to prospective holders of the Series 2005 Bonds that states prominently that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds and the City will file with the MSRB (as herein defined) on or as of the Cancellation Date disclosing that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

Should AGM have made payments, directly or indirectly, on account of principal of or interest on Series 2005 Bonds to any holder of the Series 2005 Bonds (the "Holder") prior to the Cancellation Date, AGM will be (a) subrogated to the rights of the Holder to receive the amount of such payment from the City, as provided and from the sources listed in the Ordinance and the Series 2005 Bonds, and (b) deemed the Holder of such Series 2005 Bonds for all purposes under the Ordinance, including, without limitation, the direction of remedies, the voting or giving consent with respect to remedies and other actions or inactions of the Agent or the City that may require voting or consent, and the filing of proofs of claim and other indicia of ownership in any insolvency proceeding. AGM also will be entitled to receive the amount of principal and interest as provided in the Ordinance and the Series 2005 Bonds, and the parties to the Cancellation Agreement will otherwise treat AGM as the owner of such rights to the amount of such payment.

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds, a debt service reserve policy (the "Reserve Policy") was issued, and AGM is obligated under the terms of the Reserve Policy to make payments in the event conditions specified in the Ordinance occur which would result in a draw being necessary to pay debt service on the Series 2005 Bonds. The Cancellation Agreement provides that upon the cancellation of the Bond Policy in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement (unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing), the Reserve Policy shall be cancelled by a date that is not more than three years after the Cancellation Date, and the City shall (i) beginning with the first full calendar month following the Cancellation Date, commence funding on a monthly basis an amount sufficient so that the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement established pursuant to the Ordinance in support of the Series 2005 Bonds is established (without giving effect to the Reserve Policy) by the date that is three years after the Cancellation Date and (ii) restore any draw on the Debt Service Reserve Fund established pursuant to the Ordinance from over a period of no more than eighteen (18) months as required by the Ordinance. The City further agrees in the Cancellation Agreement not to issue any Additional Revenue Bonds payable from the Reserve Policy.

SWAP MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds, the City entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Morgan Stanley Capital Services, Inc., as "Counterparty" (see "CREDIT AGREEMENT"). A financial guaranty insurance policy (the "Swap Policy") was issued relating to the swap transaction entered into by the City with the Counterparty (the "Swap Transaction"), and AGM is obligated to make certain payments under the Swap Policy in relation to certain events occurring with respect to the Swap Transaction. The City and AGM, in connection with the substitution of the Letters of Credit for each Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds, have entered into a Second Amended and Restated Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction (the "Swap Management Agreement"), in which the City may be required to terminate the Swap Policy if the Bond Policy is cancelled under the terms of the Cancellation Agreement. In the Swap Management Agreement, upon the termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall provide AGM with (i) on a monthly basis, a statement of the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction and (ii) notice at such time, if any, as the aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction is negative \$100,000 or an amount more favorable to the City within two (2) Business Days of that being the case. Unless AGM directs or agrees otherwise, not later than the earlier of (a) ten (10) Business Days after the first date on which the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction payable by the City is zero or on which such estimated aggregate mark-to-market value is positive to the City and (b) three (3) years of the date of the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall do one of the following: (1) designate an early termination date, or other optional termination, with respect to the Swap Transaction, or (2) deliver to AGM the original Swap Policy together with an instrument from the Counterparty satisfactory to AGM deeming the Swap Transaction to no longer be insured and releasing AGM from all further liability under the Swap Policy. The Swap Management Agreement does provide, however, that the City and AGM agree that in the event the Bond

Policy is cancelled as a result of the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default, the City shall not be obligated to perform its obligations described in the immediately preceding sentence.

BOND INSURANCE

Introduction

The following information has been supplied by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. ("Assured Guaranty Municipal", "AGM", or the "Insurer") for inclusion in this Information Circular. The following information is not complete and reference is made to APPENDIX E of the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum. No representation is made by the City, its Financial Advisor, the Remarketing Agent or the Bank as to the accuracy or completeness of this information.

Bond Insurance Policy

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. ("AGM") will issue its Municipal Bond Insurance Policy for the Bonds (the "Policy"). The Policy guarantees the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in the form of the Policy included as an exhibit to this Official Statement.

The Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New York, California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law.

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

AGM is a New York domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and an indirect subsidiary of Assured Guaranty Ltd. ("AGL"), a Bermuda-based holding company whose shares are publicly traded and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "AGO". AGL, through its operating subsidiaries, provides credit enhancement products to the U.S. and global public finance, infrastructure and structured finance markets. Neither AGL nor any of its shareholders or affiliates, other than AGM, is obligated to pay any debts of AGM or any claims under any insurance policy issued by AGM.

AGM's financial strength is rated "AA" (stable outlook) by Standard and Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business ("S&P") and "A2" (stable outlook) by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's"). Each rating of AGM should be evaluated independently. An explanation of the significance of the above ratings may be obtained from the applicable rating agency. The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any security, and such ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies, including withdrawal initiated at the request of AGM in its sole discretion. In addition, the rating agencies may at any time change AGM's long-term rating outlooks or place such ratings on a watch list for possible downgrade in the near term. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings, the assignment of a negative outlook to such ratings or the placement of such ratings on a negative watch list may have an adverse effect on the market price of any security guaranteed by AGM. AGM only guarantees scheduled principal and scheduled interest payments payable by the issuer of bonds insured by AGM on the date(s) when such amounts were initially scheduled to become due and payable (subject to and in accordance with the terms of the relevant insurance policy), and does not guarantee the market price or liquidity of the securities it insures, nor does it guarantee that the ratings on such securities will not be revised or withdrawn.

Cutrent Financial Strength Ratings

On March 18, 2014, S&P published a Research Update report in which it upgraded AGM's financial strength rating to "AA" (stable outlook) from "AA-" (stable outlook). AGM can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that S&P may take.

On February 10, 2014, Moody's issued a press release stating that it had affirmed AGM's insurance financial strength rating of "A2" (stable outlook). AGM can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that Moody's may take.

For more information regarding AGM's financial strength ratings and the risks relating thereto, see AGL's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

Capitalization of AGM

At December 31, 2013, AGM's policyholders' surplus and contingency reserves were approximately \$3,529 million and its net unearned premium reserve was approximately \$1,891 million. Such amounts represent the combined surplus, contingency reserves and net unearned premium reserve of AGM and its wholly owned subsidiary Assured Guaranty (Europe) Ltd., plus 60.7% of the contingency reserve and net unearned premium reserve of AGM's indirect subsidiary, Municipal Assurance Corp.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

Portions of the following document filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") that relate to AGM are incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and shall be deemed to be a part hereof: the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (filed by AGL with the SEC on February 28, 2014).

All consolidated financial statements of AGM and all other information relating to AGM included in, or as exhibits to, documents filed by AGL with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, excluding Current Reports or portions thereof "furnished" under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K, after the filing of the last document referred to above and before the termination of the offering of the Bonds shall be deemed incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such documents. Copies of materials incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov, at AGL's website at http://www.assuredguaranty.com, or will be provided upon request to Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.: 31 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Communications Department (telephone (212) 974-0100). Except for the information referred to above, no information available on or through AGL's website shall be deemed to be part of or incorporated in this Official Statement.

Any information regarding AGM included herein under the caption "BOND INSURANCE – Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp." or included in a document incorporated by reference herein (collectively, the "AGM Information") shall be modified or superseded to the extent that any subsequently included AGM Information (either directly or through incorporation by reference) modifies or supersedes such previously included AGM Information. Any AGM Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of this Official Statement, except as so modified or superseded.

Miscellaneous Matters

AGM or one of its affiliates may purchase a portion of the Bonds or any uninsured bonds offered under this Official Statement and such purchases may constitute a significant proportion of the bonds offered. AGM or such affiliate may hold such Bonds or uninsured bonds for investment or may sell or otherwise dispose of such Bonds or uninsured bonds at any time or from time to time.

AGM makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds. In addition, AGM has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding AGM supplied by AGM and presented under the heading "BOND INSURANCE".

CREDIT AGREEMENT

In addition to the payment obligations of the City under the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement, in conjunction with the original delivery of the Series 2005 Bonds, and pursuant to the Ordinance, the City entered into an Interest Rate Swap Agreement (the "Interest Rate Swap Agreement") with Morgan Stanley Capital Services, Inc. (the "Counterparty"), pursuant to which the City is obligated to make payments to the Counterparty calculated on a notional amount equal to the scheduled outstanding principal amount of the Series 2005 Bonds and a fixed interest rate of 4.051% per annum, and the Counterparty is obligated to make reciprocal payments to the City calculated on a notional amount equal to the scheduled outstanding principal amount of the Series 2005 Bonds and a variable rate equal to the 71% of the one-month London Interbank Borrowing Rate (LIBOR) for U.S. deposits. Payments under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement will be made on a net basis on the first day of each month, commencing in October 2008 and ending in November 2025. Interest on the Series 2005 Bonds is determined in a manner that differs from the LIBOR index used to calculate amounts payable to the City under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement. On the effective date of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement, the Counterparty was rated "Aa3" by Moody's, "AA-" by S&P and "AA-" by Fitch. Payments to

be made by the City, if any, under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement (other than a "termination payment" as discussed below) are on a parity with the City's obligation to pay principal and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds. Arrangements made in respect of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement do not alter the City's obligation to pay principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds and the obligations of the City under each Reimbursement Agreement. As of May 1, 2014, the net aggregate monthly payments the City has made under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement equal (\$58,971,055).

If either party to the Interest Rate Swap Agreement commits an event of default, suffers a reduction in credit worthiness, or merges with a materially weaker entity, or in certain other circumstances, the Interest Rate Swap Agreement may be terminated at the option of the other party. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Interest Rate Swap Agreement will continue in existence until November 2025. If the Interest Rate Swap Agreement is terminated, then current market conditions will determine whether the City will owe a termination payment to the Counterparty or be entitled to receive a termination payment from the Counterparty. Such termination payment generally would be based on the market value of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement on the date of termination and could be substantial. In addition, a partial termination of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement could occur to the extent any Series 2005 Bonds are redeemed pursuant to the City exercising its right to effect an optional redemption of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement to be terminated will be owed by either the City or the Counterparty, depending on the existing market conditions. The obligation of the City to pay a termination payment to the Counterparty could result in the City issuing Additional Revenue Bonds or Subordinate Obligations (each as defined in the Ordinance) to enable the City to make such a termination payment.

The City's obligation to make scheduled payments under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement is insured by AGM under the terms of the Swap Policy issued in 2005. Any termination payment the City may become obligated to pay under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement is not covered by the Swap Policy. See "SWAP MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT" for a discussion of events that could result in the termination of the Swap Policy.

THE REMARKETING AGENT

Effective June 9, 2009, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated became the sole Remarketing Agent for the Series 2005 Bonds. The Remarketing Agent's responsibilities include determining the interest rate from time to time and remarketing Series 2005 Bonds that are optionally or mandatorily tendered by the owners thereof (subject, in each case, to the terms of the Remarketing Agreement), all as further described herein. The Remarketing Agent is appointed by the City and is paid by the City for its services. As a result, the interests of the Remarketing Agent may differ from those of existing holders and potential holders of Series 2005 Bonds.

The Remarketing Agent acts as remarketing agent for a variety of variable rate demand obligations and, it its sole discretion, routinely purchases such obligations for its own account. The Remarketing Agent is permitted, but not obligated, to purchase tendered Series 2005 Bonds (e.g., because there otherwise are not enough buyers to purchase Series 2005 Bonds), or for other reasons. However, the Remarketing Agent is not obligated to purchase Series 2005 Bonds, and may cease doing so at any time without notice. The Remarketing Agent may also make a market in the Series 2005 Bonds by routinely purchasing and selling Series 2005 Bonds other than in connection with an optional or mandatory tender and remarketing. Such purchases and sales may be at or below par. The Remarketing Agent is not required, however, to make a market in the Series 2005 Bonds. The Remarketing Agent may also sell any Series 2005 Bond it has purchased to one or more affiliated investment vehicles for collective ownership or enter into derivative arrangements with affiliates or others in order to reduce its exposure to the Series 2005 Bonds. The purchase of Series 2005 Bonds by the Remarketing Agent may cause the interest rate to be lower than it would be if the Remarketing Agent did not purchase Series 2005 Bonds and may create the appearance that there is greater third party demand for the Series 2005 Bonds in the market than is actually the case. The practices described above also may result in fewer Series 2005 Bonds being tendered in a remarketing.

Pursuant to the Remarketing Agreement, the Remarketing Agent is required to determine the applicable rate of interest that, in its judgment, is the lowest rate that would permit the sale of Series 2005 Bonds bearing interest at the applicable interest rate at par plus accrued interest, if any, on and as of the applicable Rate Determination Date (as defined in the Ordinance). The interest rate will reflect, among other factors, the level of market demand for the Series 2005 Bonds (including whether the Remarketing Agent is willing to purchase Series 2005 Bonds for its own account). The purchase of Series 2005 Bonds by the Remarketing Agent may cause the interest rate to be lower than it would be if the Remarketing Agent did not purchase Series 2005 Bonds. There may or may not be Series 2005 Bonds tendered and

remarketed on a Rate Determination Date, the Remarketing Agent may or may not be able to remarket any Series 2005 Bonds tendered for purchase on such date at par and the Remarketing Agent may sell Series 2005 Bonds at varying prices to different investors on such date or any other date. The Remarketing Agent, in its sole discretion, may offer Series 2005 Bonds on any date, including the Rate Determination Date, at a discount to par to some investors.

The Remarketing Agent may buy and sell Series 2005 Bonds other than through the tender process. It is not obligated, however, to do so and may cease doing so at any time without notice and may require holders that wish to tender their Series 2005 Bonds to do so through the Tender Agent with appropriate notice. Thus, investors who purchase the Bonds, whether in a remarketing or otherwise, should not assume that they will be able to sell their Series 2005 Bonds other than by tendering the Series 2005 Bonds in accordance with the tender process.

Under certain circumstances, the Remarketing Agent may be removed or has the ability to resign or cease its remarketing efforts, without a successor having been named, subject to the terms of the Remarketing Agreement. In the event there is no Remarketing Agent, the Paying Agent/Registrar may assume such duties as described in the Ordinance.

RATINGS

The Series 2005 Bonds currently have an underlying rating of "A" from S&P. S&P has assigned the Sub-Series 2005-1 Bonds, the Sub-Series 2005-2 Bonds, the Sub-Series 2005-3 Bonds and the Sub-Series 2005-4 Bonds the rating of "___/_" based on the Letters of Credit provided by SMBC.

The Bank have furnished certain information and material to the rating agencies concerning themselves and the Letter of Credit, which are not included in this Information Circular.

The Series 2005 Bonds were also rated "AA-" (stable outlook) by S&P as a result of the municipal bond insurance policy of the Insurer. See "BOND INSURANCE - Current Financial Ratings" for a description of the current state of the financial guaranty insurance industry and information regarding downgrading and negative changes to the ratings outlook of multiple financial guaranty insurers, including the Insurer. Going forward, the long-term ratings on the Series 2005 Bonds will reflect the higher rating of the Insurer or the joint rating of the City and the provider of the respective Letters of Credit. The short-term ratings on the Series 2005 Bonds solely reflect the respective short-term rating of the Bank providing the Letter of Credit in support of each Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds.

The ratings described above reflect only the views of S&P, and any explanation of the significance of the ratings may be obtained only from S&P. There is no assurance that any of the ratings will continue for any given period of time or that any rating may not be lowered or withdrawn if, in the judgment of a rating agency, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward change in or withdrawal of the rating may have an adverse effect on the secondary market prices of the Series 2005 Bonds.

THE CITY; DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

General

The 2008 Remarketing Memorandum (other than Appendices A, B, D and G thereto) is attached hereto as APPENDIX C, and is incorporated herein by reference. APPENDIX D to this Information Circular supplements the information contained in APPENDIX C to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum. APPENDIX E to this Information Circular supplements the information contained in APPENDIX F to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

The City files periodic reports and other information regarding the Airport System with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB"). These reports and information are available free of charge from the MSRB via the Electronic Municipal Market Access system ("EMMA") at www.emma.msrb.org.

This Information Circular "incorporates by reference" the information regarding the Airport System the City files with the MSRB, which means that important information is disclosed to you by referring you to those documents. The information regarding the Airport System incorporated by reference is an important part of this Information Circular. The information incorporated by reference includes the City's annual report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013, including the consolidated financial statements and consolidating schedules and Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations that are a part thereof, as well as any filing

made by the City in the future. Certain information relating to the current operations and management of the Airport System is set forth below under " - Airport System".

Any statement incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Information Circular to the extent that a statement contained in this Information Circular modifies or supersedes that statement.

Amendments to the Ordinance

On May 26, 2011, the City Council approved amendments to the Ordinance to effect certain changes in respect to the delivery of the Letters of Credit in 2011 including, without limitation, providing for the mandatory tender of the Series 2005 Bonds in connection with the cancellation of the Bond Policy. See APPENDIX D to this Information Circular.

Several of the amendments to the Ordinance relate to the Bond Insurer and the Bond Policy. With respect to claims under the Bond Policy and payments by and to the Bond Insurer, if by 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the Business Day prior to the related scheduled interest payment date or principal payment date (each, a "Payment Date"), there is not on deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar, after making all transfers and deposits required under the Ordinance (including drawing on any Direct-Pay Credit Facility), moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds (other than Bank Bonds and Series 2005 Bonds paid by the Banks, as provided for below) due on a Payment Date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make a claim under the Bond Policy and give notice to the Bond Insurer and to its designated agent (if any) (the "Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent") by telephone or telecopy of the amount of such deficiency, including allocation of such deficiency between the amount required to pay interest on the Series 2005 Bonds and the amount required to pay principal of the Series 2005 Bonds, confirmed in writing to the Bond Insurer and the Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent by 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on such Business Day by filling in the Notice of Claim and Certificate delivered with the Bond Policy.

In the event the claim to be made is for a mandatory sinking fund redemption installment, upon receipt of the moneys due, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver to affected owners of Series 2005 Bonds who surrender their Series 2005 Bonds new Series 2005 Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Series 2005 Bonds surrendered. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall designate any portion of payment of principal on Series 2005 Bonds paid by the Bond Insurer, whether by virtue of mandatory sinking fund redemption, maturity or other advancement of maturity, on its books as a reduction in the principal amount of Series 2005 Bonds registered to the then current owner, whether DTC or its nominee or otherwise, and shall issue a replacement Series 2005 Bond to the Bond Insurer, registered in the name of Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. in a principal amount equal to the amount of principal so paid (without regard to authorized denominations); provided that the Paying Agent/Registrar's failure to so designate any payment or issue any replacement Series 2005 Bond shall have no effect on the amount of principal or interest payable by the City on any Series 2005 Bond or the subrogation rights of the Bond Insurer.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep a complete and accurate record of all funds deposited by the Bond Insurer into the Policy Payments Account (hereinafter defined) and the allocation of such funds to payment of interest on and principal paid in respect of any Series 2005 Bonds. The Bond Insurer shall have the right to inspect such records at reasonable times upon reasonable notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar.

Upon payment of a claim under the Bond Policy the Paying Agent/Registrar shall establish a separate special purpose trust account for the benefit of the Bondholders (the "Policy Payments Account") and over which the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have exclusive control and sole right of withdrawal. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall receive any amount paid under the Bond Policy in trust on behalf of the Bondholders and shall deposit any such amount in the Policy Payments Account and distribute such amount only for the purpose of making payments for which a claim was made. Such amounts shall be disbursed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Bondholders in the same manner as principal and interest payments are to be made with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds. Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar in the Policy Payments Account shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary otherwise set forth in the Ordinance, and to the extent permitted by law and subject to appropriation thereof by the City from the Debt Service Fund, in the event amounts paid under the Bond Policy are applied to claims for payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds, interest on such principal and interest shall accrue and be payable from the date of such payment at the greater of (i) the per annum rate of interest, publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank or its successor at its principal office in The City of New York, as its prime or base lending rate plus 3%, and (ii) the then applicable rate of interest on the Series 2005 Bonds provided that in no event shall such rate exceed the maximum rate permissible under applicable usury or

similar laws limiting interest rates.

Funds held in the Policy Payments Account shall not be invested and may not be applied to satisfy any costs, expenses or liabilities of the Paying Agent/Registrar. Any funds remaining in the Policy Payments Account following a Payment Date shall promptly be remitted to the Bond Insurer.

Airport System

The 2008 Remarketing Memorandum describes the financial information and statistical data the City has agreed to update on an annual basis, and as noted in "- General" above, that information is incorporated by reference into this Information Circular. The following information relating to the Airport System updates certain narrative information that was contained in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

General

The Airport System is comprised of airport, heliport and aviation facilities or any interest therein owned, operated or controlled in whole or in part by the City and includes the Airport (also referred to as "ABIA"), but expressly excludes any heliport or heliports operated by City Departments other than the Aviation Department. ABIA is classified by the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA") as a medium hub airport. According to Airports Council International, ABIA is the 36th largest airport in the United States based on calendar year 2012 total passengers.

The Airport's Five Year Capital Improvement Program beginning FY 2014, totaling \$391,152,377, is funded primarily from funds expected to be obtained from the issuance of general airport revenue obligations (89%), anticipated FAA and Transportation Security Administration grant funding (5%) and the balance to be funded from cash by Capital Fund contributions. The projects for the five year program fall into four categories: Airfield/Apron - \$35,139,000; Terminal - \$211,795,001; Parking and Roadways - \$121,370,000; and Capital Equipment/Vehicles and IT projects - \$22,848,376.

The Department of Aviation has entered into use and lease agreements with the seven major airlines serving ABIA. The current agreements were effective October 1, 2009 and extend five years through September 30, 2014. Under current City ordinance, any airline that does not have a written agreement to operate at the Airport must pay landing fees equal to double the rate paid by carriers who do have an agreement.

Transfers from Airport Capital Fund to Airport Operations Fund

In Fiscal Year 2002 the Airport System began supplementing revenues available for the payment of operation and maintenance expenses and debt service through the transfer of funds from other available Airport sources, including specifically from the Airport Capital Fund. For the Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2002 through the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2013, the Airport System transferred on average \$7.4 million annually to the Airport Operating Fund. As is the case with other airports around the country, Airport management continues to explore opportunities to increase non-airline generated revenues at the Airport (e.g., parking, concessions, real estate and other activities).

Set forth below is a table showing the actual and budgeted transfers to the Airport Operating Fund.

Austin-Bergstrom International Airport Transfer from Airport Capital Fund to Airport Operating Fund

Fiscal Year 2010	Fiscal Year 2011	Fiscal Year 2012	Fiscal Year 2013	Fiscal Year 2014
<u>Actual</u>	<u>Actual</u>	<u>Actual</u>	<u>Actual</u>	<u>Budgeted</u>
\$7,930,449	\$8,341,513	\$7,828,333	\$7,825,197	\$7,777,526

The transfers to the Airport Operating Fund enable the City to satisfy the rate covenant set forth in the Ordinance as well as satisfying the tests governing the issuance of additional revenue bonds.

Passenger Facility Charges

Application. Under the Aviation Safety and Capacity Act of 1990 (the "PFC Act"), as modified by the Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment and Reform Act for the 21st Century ("AIR-21"), the FAA may authorize a public agency to impose a Passenger Facility Charge ("PFC") of \$1.00, \$2.00, \$3.00, \$4.00 or \$4.50 on each passenger enplaned at any commercial service airport controlled by the public agency, subject to certain limitations. On December 20, 1994, the

Department of Aviation filed with the FAA a PFC application totaling \$337.8 million for funding a portion of the construction and the financing costs related to ABIA. The scope of the application, to impose and use a \$3.00 Passenger Facility Charge, included construction costs of a passenger terminal complex, airfield facilities, and landside facilities on a pay-as-you-go basis and the financing costs associated with these Passenger Facility Charge qualifying scopes of work. The FAA approved application number 95-03-C00-AUS on February 8, 1995 for a total of \$333,232,479. PFC collections authorized by this application began in August, 1995. Amounts totaling \$27.2 million, collections through September 1998, together with over collections posted on two earlier applications, were used towards the actual construction costs of the PFC qualifying scopes of work. Beginning October 1998, interest earned and Passenger Facility Charges collected were used for the debt costs associated with the Passenger Facility Charge qualifying scope of work. As of December 2013, PFC collections and interest earned on collections totaled \$252.1 million.

The Aviation Department received approval from the FAA in 2004 amending its current outstanding PFC application to an increase in (i) the PFC collection rate from \$3.00 to \$4.50, (ii) the total authorized collections to \$343,074,546, and (iii) the PFC eligibility amount of the debt service related to the original project funding for the construction of ABIA, effective April 1, 2004. In September 2004, the FAA approved the \$4,125,000 application to impose and use PFC revenue for the installation of the EDS machines and the associated baggage handling system. The proceeds of the Passenger Facility Charges currently imposed by the City are not part of the Net Revenues pledged by the City to the payment of revenue bonds, including the Series 2005 Bonds. In the Ordinance, however, the City covenants and agrees, for the benefit of the owners of revenue bonds, that during each Fiscal Year the City will set aside from any passenger facility charges imposed by the City on enplaned passengers the lesser of (i) such passenger facility charges imposed and collected by the City or (ii) \$4.50 derived from each passenger facility charge so imposed and collected by the City for the payment of debt service on the Prior Lien Bonds and the Revenue Bonds (each as defined in the Ordinance) in the following Fiscal Year, unless the City receives a report from an Airport Consultant showing that an alternative use of all or a portion of such passenger facility charges will not reduce the forecast coverage of Debt Service Requirements with respect to the Prior Lien Bonds and the Revenue Bonds by forecast Net Revenues during the following Fiscal Year (or such longer forecast period as may be covered in the Airport Consultant's Report) to less than 125%.

Sufficiency. The Airport System's ability to collect PFC revenues will vary depending on the actual number of passenger enplanements at ABIA. If the number of enplaned passengers at ABIA falls below projections, actual PFC revenues will fall short of projections. Such a shortfall in PFC collections could have an adverse affect on the timely payment of debt service on bonds secured by a pledge of PFC revenues. This adverse impact could be direct or indirect, if the PFC shortfall results in sufficient increases in landing fees as to impact negatively ABIA's desirability to the airline industry and thus ultimately impact the collection of landing fees at ABIA. While passenger traffic fell after September 11, 2001, and during the economic crisis of 2008 and 2009, traffic at the Airport has recovered resulting in enplanements returning to near record levels in 2011. There can be no assurance as to what passenger traffic, and ABIA revenues, will be in the future.

Availability. The authority to impose and use PFCs is subject to the terms and conditions of the PFC Act, AIR-21 and the related regulations thereto. Failure to comply with the requirements of applicable law, such as the failure to use PFCs strictly for approved PFC projects, may cause the FAA to terminate or reduce the Airport System's authority to impose and collect PFCs. In addition, notwithstanding FAA regulations requiring airlines to collect PFCs to account for PFC collections separately and indicating that those PFC collections are to be regarded as funds held in trust by the collecting airline for the beneficial interest of the public agency imposing the PFC, in the event of a bankruptcy proceeding involving a collecting airline, there is the possibility that a bankruptcy court could hold that the PFCs in the airline's custody are not to be treated as trust funds and that ABIA is not entitled to any priority over other creditors of the collecting airline as to such funds. Also, there is no assurance that the PFC Act, AIR-21, or any other relevant legislation or regulation will not be repealed or amended to adversely affect the Airport System's ability to collect PFCs. The occurrence of any of these events could have an adverse impact on the timely payment of debt service on bonds secured in part by the pledge of PFCs.

No assurance can be given that PFCs will actually be received in the amount or at the time contemplated by the City, or that the Airport System will collect such PFC revenues in amounts or at times sufficient to pay debt service. The amount of actual PFC revenues collected, and the rate of collection, will vary depending on the actual levels of qualified passenger enplanements at ABIA, and will not necessarily correlate in any way to the debt service requirements of the bonds or other obligations issued for the Airport System to which PFC revenues have been pledged. Regardless of the amount of PFC revenues, the City will be able to apply such revenues to pay debt service only to the extent the City applied bond proceeds to pay the costs of PFC approved projects described in the PFC application that was authorized

by the FAA. In addition, the FAA may terminate ABIA's ability to impose PFCs, subject to formal and informal procedural safeguards, if (1) ABIA fails to use its PFC revenues for approved projects in accordance with the FAA's approval, the PFC Act or the regulations promulgated thereunder, or (2) ABIA otherwise violates the PFC Act or regulations.

Management

Jim Smith, Executive Director of Aviation. Mr. Smith is responsible for the City's Department of Aviation. He served in executive capacities in Norfolk, Virginia and Dayton, Ohio before joining the City in 1984. Since coming to Austin he has served as Director of Planning and Development, Director of Public Works and Transportation, Assistant City Manager and now Executive Director of the Department of Aviation. He has a Bachelor of Science Degree from the City University of New York and a Master of Public Administration Degree from the University of Dayton.

Patti Edwards, IAP, Director, Chief Operating Officer. Ms. Edwards is responsible for the day to day operations of the airport. This includes overseeing several areas responsible for maintenance, operations, security, parking, and information technology. In addition to working with departmental staff, she is the airport liaison with the Transportation Security Administration (TSA), Customs and Border Protection (CBP), Austin Police Department (APD), and Austin Fire Department (ARFF). She has been employed by the City's Aviation Department for over 20 years and has been in her current position since November 2005. Ms. Edwards has over 32 years of experience in Facilities and Project management. She is an active member of BOMA, IFMA Airport Council, ACI and AAAE and has earned the Airport Council International certification as an "International Airport Professional".

Jamy Kazanoff, Assistant Director, Aviation Business Development & Customer Relations. Ms. Kazanoff is responsible for airport marketing, business development and community relations for ABIA. She oversees the areas of marketing, art and music, passenger air service development, passenger assistance programs, media relations and serves as the point of contact with many Austin-area business and community groups. She has been employed by the City's Aviation Department for ten years. Ms. Kazanoff has 25 years of marketing and business development experience, primarily serving in account executive positions with advertising agencies. She is actively involved in the Airports Council International (ACI) Marketing and Communications Committee, serving as Chairwoman in 2008. She is also active in ACI's International Program, Central Texas Regional Partnership, and Austin Hospitality Council. She is a graduate of The University of Texas at Austin with a Bachelor of Journalism degree.

David Arthur, CPA, Assistant Director and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Arthur is responsible for overall financial management of the Airport System, including financial accounting and reporting, day to day fiscal operations, budgeting, grants administration and airport rate setting. Before joining the City's Aviation Department in July 2009, he served the Houston Airport System in Financial and Management positions, most recently as Assistant Director, Finance and Budget. He is a graduate of Northwest Missouri State University and a Certified Public Accountant and has earned the Airport Council International certification as an "International Airport Professional".

Shane Harbinson, Assistant Director, Planning & Engineering. Mr. Harbinson is responsible for Airport Planning, Development and Environmental Services. Mr. Harbinson has served in airport positions at Minneapolis St. Paul International, and Midland International in Midland, Texas before joining the City in 1999. Since coming to the City, he has served as Operations Coordinator, Noise Abatement Officer, Airport Planner, Manager of Airport Operations, Assistant Director of Operations and Security, and now Assistant Director of Planning & Engineering and Maintenance. He is a graduate of Saint Cloud State University, Saint Cloud, Minnesota, with a Bachelor of Science in Aviation. He is active in the American Association of Airport Executives and Airport's Council International.

Donnell January, Assistant Director, Maintenance and Facilities. Mr. January is responsible for all Maintenance and Facility Services at ABIA. He oversees the areas of Airline Maintenance, Building Maintenance, Airside Maintenance, Landside Maintenance, Facility Services, Motor-pool and the Sign Shop. He joined the Department of Aviation in 2005, and has over 20 years of management experience. Since joining the Aviation Department, Mr. January has served as Division Manager implementing and maintaining the new in-line baggage handling system. Mr. January has a Bachelor of Science Degree from the College of Engineering Technology at Prairie View A&M University, Prairie View, Texas.

General Factors Affecting Air Carrier Revenues. The revenues of both the Airport System and the airlines serving ABIA may be materially affected by many factors including, without limitation, the following: declining demand; service and cost competition; mergers; the availability and cost of fuel and other necessary supplies; high fixed costs; high capital requirements; the cost and availability of financing; technological changes; national and international disasters and

hostilities; the cost and availability of employees; strikes and other employee disruptions; the maintenance and replacement requirements of aircraft; the availability or routes and slots at various airports; litigation liability; regulation by the federal government; environmental risks and regulations; noise abatement concerns and regulation; deregulation; federal and state bankruptcy and insolvency laws; acts of war and terrorism; world health concerns such as the outbreak of SARS; and other risks. Many airlines, as a result of these and other factors, have operated at a loss in the past and several have filed for bankruptcy, ceased operations and/or have merged with other airlines. Historically, the airline industry's results have correlated with the performance of the economy. The September 11, 2001 attacks, the wars in the Middle East and their aftermath have resulted in a further adverse effect on airline industry earnings. Several major carriers filed for federal bankruptcy protection, including US Airways (twice), Delta, Northwest, and United. Each of these major carriers successfully reorganized under Chapter 11. Vanguard Airlines also sought federal bankruptcy protection but ceased to operate. On November 29, 2011, American Airlines and its parent corporation, AMR Corporation, filed for federal bankruptcy protection. On December 9, 2013 American Airlines emerged from bankruptcy and completed its merger with U.S. Airways. It is possible that the merged entity may seek to consolidate its space at the Airport by reducing the amount of gate, ticket counter, office and operations space it rents from the Department of Aviation. There have been no meaningful discussions regarding reducing space at the airport as yet. We estimate any reduction in space will be minimal. While this may result in some slightly reduced rental income, it will also make it easier for the Airport to attract new entrants, who may have been deterred by a lack of available space in the Barbara Jordan Terminal.

MISCELLANEOUS

This Information Circular has been prepared for use by Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as Remarketing Agent for the Series 2005 Bonds, for the sole purpose of providing information with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds in connection with the Letters of Credit issued in support of the Series 2005 Bonds. Except with respect to such matters as provided for in this Information Circular, the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum has not been updated since its date.

APPENDIX A

INFORMATION REGARDING THE BANK

The information contained in this APPENDIX A relates to and has been obtained from the Bank. The delivery of this Secondary Market Information Circular shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Bank since the date hereof, or that the information contained or referred to in this APPENDIX A is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (Kabushiki Kaisha Mitsui Sumitomo Ginko) ("SMBC") is a joint stock corporation with limited liability (Kabushiki Kaisha) under the laws of Japan. The registered head office of SMBC is located at 1-2, Marunouchi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0005, Japan.

SMBC was established in April 2001 through the merger of two leading banks, The Sakura Bank, Limited and The Sumitomo Bank, Limited. In December 2002, Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. ("SMFG") was established through a stock transfer as a holding company under which SMBC became a wholly owned subsidiary. SMFG reported \(\pm\) 157,103,235 million (USD 1,497,162 million) in consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2013.

SMBC is one of the world's leading commercial banks and provides an extensive range of banking services to its customers in Japan and overseas. In Japan, SMBC accepts deposits, makes loans and extends guarantees to corporations, individuals, governments and governmental entities. It also offers financing solutions such as syndicated lending, structured finance and project finance. SMBC also underwrites and deals in bonds issued by or under the guarantee of the Japanese government and local government authorities, and acts in various administrative and advisory capacities for certain types of corporate and government bonds. Internationally, SMBC operates through a network of branches, representative offices, subsidiaries and affiliates to provide many financing products including syndicated lending and project finance.

The New York Branch of SMBC is licensed by the State of New York Banking Department to conduct branch banking business at 277 Park Avenue, New York, New York, and is subject to examination by the State of New York Banking Department and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Financial and Other Information

Audited consolidated financial statements for SMFG and its consolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013, as well as other corporate data, financial information and analyses are available in English on the website of the Parent at www.smfg.co.jp/english.

The information herein has been obtained from SMBC, which is solely responsible for its content. The delivery of the Secondary Market Information Circular shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of SMBC since the date of the Secondary Market Information Circular, or that the information contained or referred herein is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.

APPENDIX B

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT DEFINED TERMS

This APPENDIX B includes definitions of certain terms used in this Offering Circular and the Reimbursement Agreement.

- "Affiliate" of a specified Person means any other Person which "controls," or is "controlled" by, or is under common "control" with, such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, a Person "controls" another Person when the first Person possesses or exercises directly, or indirectly through one or more other affiliates or related entities, the power to direct the management and policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting rights, membership, the power to appoint members, trustees or directors, by contract, or otherwise.
- "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.
- "Airport System" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Amendment" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.
- "Amortization Commencement Date" means, with respect to each Bank Bond, the earlier to occur of (a) 90 days after the date of the related Liquidity Advance and (b) the Termination Date.
- "Amortization End Date" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, (a) if the Insurance Policy has been terminated on or prior to the date of such Liquidity Advance, the earliest to occur of (i) the Business Day preceding the first day of the forty-fourth (44th) month following the date on which the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, (iii) the Substitution Date, (iv) the date on which the Available Amount for the related Letter of Credit is permanently reduced to zero or such Letter of Credit is otherwise terminated in accordance with its terms (other than as a result of such Letter of Credit expiring on the related Expiration Date), including as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, (v) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with the related Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance and (vi) the Business Day preceding the eighth (8th) anniversary of the Closing Date; or
- (b) if the Insurance Policy has not been terminated on or prior to the date such Liquidity Advance was made, the earliest to occur of (i) the sixth (6th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, (iii) the Substitution Date and (iv) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with the related Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Insurance Policy is terminated after the date such Liquidity Advance was made, the Amortization End Date shall be the earliest to occur of (i) the sixth (6th) anniversary of the date of the related Liquidity Advance, (ii) the Business Day preceding the first day of the forty-fourth (44th) month following the effective date of the termination of the Insurance Policy, (iii) the Conversion Date, (iv) the Substitution Date and (v) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with the related Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance.

- "Amortization Payment Date" means (a) the first Business Day of the sixth calendar month immediately succeeding date of the related Liquidity Advance, (b) the first Business Day of each sixth calendar month occurring thereafter prior to the Amortization End Date and (c) the Amortization End Date.
- "Available Amount" has the meaning set forth in each respective Letter of Credit.
- "Bank" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.
- "Bank Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(x) hereof.
- "Bank Bond" means each Bond purchased for the account of the Bank with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit.

- "Bank Fee Agreement" means the Bank Fee Agreement dated June ___, 2014, between the City and the Bank, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- "Bank Rate" means with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the rate of interest per annum (i) for any day commencing on the date such Liquidity Advance is made to and including the earlier to occur of (x) the related Amortization Commencement Date and (y) the thirtieth (30th) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect (ii) for any day commencing on the thirty-first (31st) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made to and including the earlier to occur of (x) the related Amortization Commencement Date and (y) the ninetieth (90th) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made, equal to the sum of the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent (1.00%) and (iii) for the related Amortization Commencement Date and thereafter, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus two percent (2.00%); provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default or an Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default or Event of Default, "Bank Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; provided further that, at no time shall the Bank Rate be less than the highest applicable rate of interest on any outstanding Bonds; and provided that the Bank Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate subject to the provisions of Section 2.16 hereof.
- "Bankruptcy Law" means Title 11, U.S. Code, as amended or supplemented, any successor statute thereto, or any similar Federal, state, or foreign law for the relief of debtors.
- "Base Rate" means, for any day, the rate of interest per annum equal to the greatest of: (i) the Prime Rate plus two percent (2.00%), (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus three percent (3.00%), (iii) the One Month USD LIBOR Rate in effect at such time plus three percent (3.00%), (iv) the SIFMA Rate in effect at such time plus three percent (3.00%) and (v) six and one-half of one percent (6.50%). Each determination of the Base Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City absent manifest error.
- "Bonds" means, collectively, the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.
- "Business Day" has the meaning set forth in each Letter of Credit.
- "Cancellation Agreement" means the Second Amended and Restated Bond Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent and Tender Agent, the Bank and the Insurer.
- "Cap Interest Rate" has the meaning set forth in each Letter of Credit.
- "City" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.
- "Closing Date" means June ___, 2014, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.1 hereof.
- "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
- "Conditions Precedent" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.
- "Conversion Date" means the date on which the interest rate on any series of Bonds has been converted to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.
- "Custodian" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and its successors and assigns.
- "Custody Agreement" means the custody agreement for the Bank Bonds between the Bank and the Paying Agent dated as of June 1, 2014.
- "Debt Service Reserve Fund" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

- "Default" means any circumstance, condition or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, could reasonably be expected to, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.
- "Default Rate" means the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus four percent (4.0%); provided that the Default Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate subject to the provisions of Section 2.16 hereof.
- "Dodd-Frank Act" means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as enacted by the United States Congress, and signed into law on July 21, 2010, and all rules, guidelines or directives promulgated thereunder.
- "Drawing" means, with respect to each Letter of Credit, any drawing honored under such Letter of Credit.
- "DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and its successors and assigns.
- "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or any successor statute thereto and any rule or regulation issued thereunder.
- "Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2 hereof.
- "Excess Interest" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16 hereof.
- "Existing Agreements" means, collectively, (i) the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2011, by and between the City and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, (ii) the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2012, by and between the City and State Street Bank and Trust Company and (iii) the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2011, by and between the City and Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch.
- "Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day, provided that (i) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day and (ii) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate quoted to the Bank on such day on such transactions as determined by the Bank. Each determination of the Federal Funds Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City except in the case of manifest error.
- "Financing Documents" means the Ordinance, the Bonds, the Insurance Policy, the LOC Endorsement, the Cancellation Agreement, the Remarketing Agreement, this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Custody Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, any Swap Contract related to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues and the ordinance of the City authorizing such Swap Contracts, the Tender Agreement and the Surety Policy.
- "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental entities in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to governmental entities and the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.
- "Governmental Authority" means any nation or government, any state, department, agency or other political subdivision thereof, and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled (through ownership of common stock or capital) by any of the foregoing.
- "Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Payment Obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Payment Obligation (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial

statement conditions or otherwise), (ii) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Payment Obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part) or (iii) with respect to any letter of credit issued for the account of such other Person or as to which such other Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement of drawings, *provided* that the term Guarantee shall not include (i) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business or (ii) performance or completion guarantees. The terms "Guarantee" and "Guaranteed" used as a verb have a corresponding meaning.

"Ineligible Bonds" means Bank Bonds, Bonds owned by or on behalf of the City and Bonds bearing interest at an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.

"Insurance Policy" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Insured Rate' means the Bank Rate; provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default, "Insured Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; and provided further, that the Insured Rate shall never exceed the less of (i) the Prime Rate plus 3.00%, (ii) the Maximum Rate and (iii) 25%.

"Insurer" means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (formerly known as Financial Security Assurance Inc.), a stock insurance company organized under the laws of the State of New York, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof. "Insurer Downgrade Event" means the financial strength or claims-paying rating of the Insurer shall be (i) reduced below "A3" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by Moody's and (ii) reduced below "A-" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by S&P.

"Insurer Event of Default' means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

(i)any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds (including Bank Bonds) or amounts paid by the Bank under any Letter of Credit as scheduled principal and interest due and payable on the Bonds pursuant to a Drawing on such Letter of Credit and interest thereon up to the Insured Rate from and including the date the Insurer is obligated to pay pursuant to a claim under the Insurance Policy pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Ordinance to and including the date that the Insurer honors such claim is not paid by the Insurer when, as, and in the amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Insurance Policy; or

(ii)(a) any material provision of the Insurance Policy relating to the obligation of the Insurer to make payments of principal and interest thereunder at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy or the New York Department of Insurance or a court or other Governmental Authority of appropriate jurisdiction finds or rules or enters an order, judgment or decree that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer or (b) the Insurer (1) claims in writing that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer, (2) repudiates the Insurer's obligations under the Insurance Policy or (3) initiates legal proceedings seeking an adjudication that the Insurance Policy or any material provision thereof regarding the payment of principal or interest on Bonds (including Bank Bonds) or amounts paid by the Bank under any Letter of Credit as scheduled principal and interest due and payable on the Bonds pursuant to a Drawing on such Letter of Credit and interest thereon up to the Insured Rate from and including the date the Insurer is obligated to pay pursuant to a claim under the Insurance Policy pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Ordinance to and including the date that the Insurer honors such claim is not valid and binding on the Insurer; or

(iii)a proceeding is instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking an order for relief, rehabilitation, reorganization, conservation, liquidation or dissolution in respect to the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee or sequestrator (or other similar official) and such proceeding has not been dismissed within sixty (60) days or such court enters an order granting the relief sought in such proceeding; or the New York Department of Insurance declares a moratorium on the payment of the Insurer's debts, or the Insurer commences a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, consents to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law or consents to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian or sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or

fails generally to pay its Payment Obligations (provided that for purposes of this definition, "Payment Obligation" shall not include any obligation of the Insurer under any insurance policy or surety bond) as they become due, or an order for rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of the Insurer is issued; or

(iv) the Insurer fails to make any payment related to principal or interest when due under any insurance policy (other than the Insurance Policy) or surety bond issued by it insuring or supporting the payment of municipal obligations rated by any Rating Agency, and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days (it being understood by the Bank that default for purposes of this clause (iv) shall not mean a situation wherein the Insurer contests in good faith its liability under any such policy or policies in light of the claims made thereunder).

- "Interest Payment Date", with respect to any Bond which is not a Bank Bond, has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance and, with respect to Bank Bonds and Liquidity Advances, means the first Business Day of each calendar month.
- "Letter of Credit" means any of the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit or the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit, as applicable.
- "Letter of Credit Fee" has the meaning set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement.
- "Letters of Credit" means, collectively, the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit and the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit.
- "Liquidity Advance" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(ii) hereof.
- "Liquidity Drawing" means a drawing under a Letter of Credit resulting from the presentation of a certificate in the form of Exhibit E to such Letter of Credit.
- "LOC Endorsement" means an endorsement to the Insurance Policy issued by the Insurer, so that the Insurance Policy as endorsed insures the payment when due of (i) regularly scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds, including any Subrogated Bonds and any Bank Bonds, up to the Bank Rate for the first sixty days following the date of a related Liquidity Advance and at the Insured Rate at all times thereafter and (ii) amounts paid by the Bank under the Letter of Credit as scheduled principal and interest due and payable on the Bonds pursuant to a Drawing under the Letter of Credit and interest thereon up to the Insured Rate from and including the date the Insurer is obligated to pay pursuant to a claim under the Insurance Policy pursuant to Section 12.02 of the Ordinance to and including the date that the Insurer honors such claim, in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank.
- "Maximum Rate" means the highest "net effective interest rate" as defined in and authorized under Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended.
- "MFN Clause" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(dd) hereof.
- "Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.
- "Net Revenues" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Obligations" means all obligations of the City to pay or reimburse the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Reimbursement Obligations, the Letter of Credit Fees and the obligations of the City set forth in Sections 2.13, 2.14, and 7.2 hereof and including, without limitation, in each instance, accrued interest thereon.
- "One Month USD LIBOR Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the rate on deposits in United States dollars of amounts equal to or comparable to the principal amount of the Bonds paid or purchased with the proceeds of a Drawing under the applicable Letter of Credit, offered for a term of one month, which rate appears on the display designated as Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (or such other page as may replace Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page or such other service or services as may be nominated by the British Bankers' Association for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates for United States dollar deposits), determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such day.

- "Ordinance" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.
- "Owner" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.
- "Paying Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or any other association or corporation which may at any time be substituted in its place as Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds as provided in the Ordinance.
- "Payment Account" means the account set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Payment Account or such other account as may be specified by the Bank to the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent in writing.
- "Payment Obligation" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money and reimbursement obligations which are not contingent, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services which purchase price is due twelve (12) months or more from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof, (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases, (v) all Payment Obligations of others Guaranteed by such Person, and (vi) all payment obligations of such Person, in addition to any obligations set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above, arising under any Swap Contract; provided that it is understood that any Payment Obligation does not include contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any other Person in respect of surety bonds or letters of credit to the extent that such surety bonds or letters of credit support any Payment Obligation of such Person.
- "Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, joint venture, trust or other entity, or any government (or political subdivision or agency, department or instrumentality thereof).
- "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest announced by the Bank from time to time as its prime commercial rate, or equivalent, as in effect on such day for United States dollar loans, with any change in the Prime Rate resulting from a change in said prime commercial rate to be effective as of the date of the relevant change in said prime commercial rate, it being understood that such rate may not be the Bank's best or lowest rate.
- "Principal Office" means, with respect to the Bank, the office at which Drawings are to be presented to the Bank under a Letter of Credit or the office at which payment is to be made to the Bank, in each case, as set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Principal Office, or such other office as may be designated by such Bank as its Principal Office in a written notice to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent in accordance with Section 2.6 hereof.
- "Prior Lien Bonds" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Rating Agency" means Moody's, Fitch or S&P, and "Rating Agencies" means, collectively, Moody's, Fitch and S&P.
- "Reimbursement Obligations" means, without duplication, any and all obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for any Drawings under the Letters of Credit, including, without limitation, any outstanding Liquidity Drawing and outstanding Bank Bonds.
- "Remarketing Agent" means Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and its successors and assigns.
- "Remarketing Agreement" means the Remarketing Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009, as amended on _______, 2009, each between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds and as the same may be amended, supplemented, modified or restated from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.
- "Remarketing Memorandum" means the Secondary Market Information Circular dated ______, 2014, relating to the Bonds, including any supplement or amendment thereto, and any other offering document from time to time hereafter distributed relating to the Bonds.

- "S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business, and any successor thereto.
- "Series 2005 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas, Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), consisting of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.
- "SIFMA Rate" means, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data and published or made available by SIFMA or any Person acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and acceptable to the Bank and effective from such date. In the event Municipal Market Data no longer produces an index satisfying the requirements of the preceding sentence, the SIFMA Rate (a/k/a, the "SIFMA Municipal Swap Index") shall be deemed to be the S&P Weekly High Grade Index, or if either such index is not available, such other similar national index as shall be reasonably designated by the Bank.
- "State" means the State of Texas.
- "Stated Expiration Date" means October 1, 2018, as such Stated Expiration Date may be extended with respect to a Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.
- "Subrogated Bond" means any Bond with respect to which the Bank shall be subrogated to the rights of the Paying Agent and the Owners under the Insurance Policy in an amount and to the extent that the Bank pays the principal of or interest on the Bond from one or more Drawings under the respective Letter of Credit constituting "Insured Amounts" within the meaning of the Insurance Policy.
- "Subseries 2005-1 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.
- "Subseries 2005-2 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-2.
- "Subseries 2005-3 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-3.
- "Subseries 2005-4 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) Subseries 2005-4.
- "Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit" means the itrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.
- "Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.
- "Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.
- "Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.
- "Surety Policy" means the municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy bearing Policy No. 205494-R, effective August 17, 2005, provided by the Insurer for the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2005 Bonds.
- "Substitute Credit Facility" means any credit facility or liquidity facility supporting the Bonds issued in substitution for any Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of Section A-501 of the Ordinance.
- "Substitution Date" means the effective date of a Substitute Credit Facility in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Swap Contract" means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a "Master Agreement"), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

"Tender Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacity as tender agent under the Ordinance, and any permitted successors as Tender Agent under the Ordinance.

"Tender Agent Agreement" means the Third Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement between the Tender Agent and the City dated as of June 1, 2014, relating to the Bonds.

"Termination Date" means, with respect to a Letter of Credit, the Stated Expiration Date of such Letter of Credit or such earlier date on which such Letter of Credit expires or terminates in accordance with its terms.

"Unreimbursed Amount" means, without duplication, the aggregate principal amount of all unreimbursed Drawings, unreimbursed Liquidity Advances and outstanding Bank Bonds due and owing the Bank.

APPENDIX C

2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM

The information contained in this APPENDIX C reflects the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum dated April 24, 2008, delivered in connection with the remarketing of the Series 2005 Bonds, other than APPENDICES A, B, D and G thereto.

APPENDIX D

AMENDMENTS TO THE MULTI-MODAL PROVISIONS

The ordinance adopted by the City Council on May 26, 2011 made several changes to the multi-modal provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance. The changes described below should be read in conjunction with APPENDIX F to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

Section A-101 was amended as provided below to add, delete and revise definitions contained in such Section:

The definition of "BMA Index" was deleted in its entirety.

The definition of "Alternate Rate" was amended to read:

Alternate Rate means, on any Rate Determination Date, the SIFMA Swap Index or if the SIFMA Swap Index is no longer published, an index or a rate selected or determined by the City with the consent of the Insurer and the Credit Facility Issuer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The definition of "Credit Facility" was amended to read:

Credit Facility means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond insurance, surety bond, guarantee or similar instrument, or any agreement relating to the reimbursement of any payment thereunder (or any combination of the foregoing), which is obtained by the City and is issued by a financial institution, insurance provider or other Person and which provides security or liquidity in respect of any Bond (but excluding, for purposes of this APPENDIX A, any Liquidity Facility as defined below) which is obtained by the City pursuant to Section Λ-501 hereof and that provides (to the extent, and subject to the terms and conditions, set forth therein) for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries becoming due and payable during the term thereof, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

The definition of "Liquidity and Credit Amount" was amended to read:

Liquidity and Credit Amount means at any time:

- (i) in the case of a Credit Facility and/or a Liquidity Facility that is not also a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and with respect to (a) the Bonds of a subseries bearing interest at the Daily Rate or Weekly Rate, an amount to pay the Purchase Price equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of the Bonds of the Series then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 35 days' interest thereon calculated at the Maximum Rate on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days elapsed; and (b) the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, an amount equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of such Bonds then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 187 days' interest thereon calculated at the then applicable Term Rate, and with respect to both clauses (a) and (b), such other interest amount as may be required by any Rating Agency at the time of delivery of such Credit Facility and/or Liquidity Facility; and
- (ii) in the case of a Credit Facility and/or a Liquidity Facility that is also a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and with respect to (a) the Bonds of a subseries bearing interest at the Daily Rate or Weekly Rate, an amount to pay the Purchase Price equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of the Bonds of the Series then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 45 days' interest thereon calculated at the Maximum Rate on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days elapsed; and (b) the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, an amount equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of such Bonds then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 197 days' interest thereon calculated at the then applicable Term Rate, and with respect to both clauses (a) and (b), such other interest amount as may be required by any Rating Agency at the time of delivery of such Credit Facility and/or Liquidity Facility.

The definition of "Purchase Price" was amended to read:

Purchase Price means an amount equal to the principal amount of any Bond of a subseries purchased on any Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, plus, unless the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date for such Bond is also an Interest Payment Date, accrued interest to the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be.

The definition of "Rating Agencies" was amended to read:

Rating Agencies means Fitch, Moody's and S&P, or such other nationally recognized securities rating agencies selected by the City and then rating the Bonds at the request of the City.

The definition of "Remarketing Agreement" was amended to read:

Remarketing Agreement means the remarketing agreement entered into between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds of a subseries pursuant to which the Remarketing Agent has agreed to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds of such subseries on any Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date at a price of not less than 100% of the principal amount thereof.

The definition of "Termination Date" was amended to read:

Termination Date means, with respect to a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility, (i) the date on which such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall terminate pursuant to its terms or otherwise be terminated prior to its Expiration Date, (ii) the date on which the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or the Liquidity Facility Issuer to provide a loan shall terminate, or (iii) the date on which the Bond Insurance Policy shall terminate or be cancelled; provided, however, that "Termination Date" shall not mean any date upon which a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility is no longer effective by reason of its Expiration Date.

The following definitions were added:

Redemption Price means, when used with respect to a Bond and if not specified in the Ordinance, the principal amount of such Bond plus the applicable premium specified in a Pricing Certificate, if any, payable upon redemption thereof, plus interest accrued to the Redemption Date.

SIFMA Swap Index means, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data and published or made available by the Securities Industry & Financial Markets Association (formerly the Bond Market Association) ("SIFMA") or any Person acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and effective from such date.

Section A-304 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Section A-304 Redemption of Bank Bonds.

- (a) The Bank Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on any Business Day, at the Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date.
- (b) The Bank Bonds of a subseries also shall be subject to mandatory redemption as provided in a Liquidity Facility.

Subsection (b) of Section A-401 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(b) The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the Tender Agent and Remarketing Agent, at their respective Principal Offices, not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be

purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.

Section A-403 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Section A-403 <u>Mandatory Purchase Upon Expiration Date, Termination</u>
Tender Date, Interest Non-Reinstatement Date and Substitution Date.

Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on:

- (a) the second Business Day preceding the Expiration Date of a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, which second Business Day is hereinafter referred to as an "Expiration Tender Date";
- (b) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) preceding the Termination Date of a Credit Facility, a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as a "Termination Tender Date", if the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility permits a draw thereon on the Termination Tender Date;
- (c) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) following the receipt by the City of a written notice from the issuer of a Direct-Pay Credit Facility that such Direct-Pay Credit Facility will not be reinstated (in respect of interest) to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount required with respect to the Bonds of such subseries, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as an "Interest Non-Reinstatement Tender Date"; and
 - (d) the Substitution Date for a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility.

Subsection (b) of Section A-405 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(b) Upon receipt of a written notice from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City that the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility, as the case may be, will terminate, that the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or the Liquidity Facility Issuer, as the case may be, to provide a loan thereunder will terminate prior to its Expiration Date, or that the Bond Insurance Policy will be cancelled or terminated, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries that is to occur on such Termination Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City, as the case may be, a notice stating that the event which resulted in the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City giving a notice of the Termination Date has been cured and that the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City has rescinded its election to terminate the Credit Facility, the Liquidity Facility of the Bond Insurance Policy, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in subsection (f) below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided by this subsection (b) shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not received by each Owner.

Subsection (d) of Section A-406 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(d) No Investment: Amounts Applied Solely to Related Series. Amounts held by the Tender Agent in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account or the Remarketing Proceeds Account relating to the Bonds of a subscries shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance and shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts. Amounts so held or available to be drawn under a Liquidity Facility for deposit in a Liquidity Facility Purchase Account shall not be available to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds of any subscries other than Bonds of a subscries that are supported by such Liquidity Facility.

Subsection (c) of Section A-407 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

- (c) Transfer of Funds; Draw on Liquidity Facility.
- (1) The Remarketing Agent shall at or before 12:00 noon (12:20 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode) on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, confirm to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent the transfer of the Purchase Price of remarketed Bonds of the Series to the Tender

Agent in immediately available funds at or before 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in a Daily Rate Mode), such confirmation to include the pertinent identifying information with respect to such transfer.

- (2) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, the Tender Agent shall draw on the Liquidity Facility, in accordance with the terms thereof, by 12:25 p.m. on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the Series tendered or deemed tendered less the aggregate amount of remarketing proceeds confirmed to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent by the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of this Section A-407(c) and shall cause the proceeds of such draw to be transferred to the Tender Agent by no later than 2:30 p.m. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tender Agent shall draw on the Liquidity Facility, if any, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all of Bonds of the Series tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, if it does not receive a confirmation from the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) above of this Section A-407(c).
- (3) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, the Tender Agent shall confirm to the City by 2:40 p.m. on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, receipt of proceeds of any draw on the Liquidity Facility.

Article A-V was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

ARTICLE A-V

LIQUIDITY FACILITIES AND CREDIT FACILITIES

Section A-501

Liquidity Facility and Credit Facility.

- (a) At any time, the City may provide for the delivery of (i) an initial Liquidity Facility and an Alternate Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, and/or (ii) an initial Credit Facility and an Alternate Credit Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries. The City shall not obtain a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries of provide for the delivery of a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries without the prior consent of any Credit Facility Issuer for the Bonds of such subseries. Any such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility shall provide that a Termination Date which permits the City to make on the Termination Tender Date a draw under the Liquidity Facility or the Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall not occur unless written notice thereof is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Date. To the extent that any Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility permits the issuer thereof to assign its obligation thereunder, such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall provide that such assignment shall not be effective unless a written notice of such assignment is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the effective date of such assignment. On or prior to the date on which a Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility is obtained or delivered to the City, the City shall obtain a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel. As provided in Section A-403 hereof, all Outstanding Bonds of the Series to which such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility relates will become subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Substitution Date.
- (b) The City may execute and deliver any instrument that, upon such execution and delivery by the City, would constitute a "Credit Facility," a "Liquidity Facility" or both.
- (c) The City shall deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a copy of each Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility obtained pursuant to this article on the effective date of such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility. If at any time there shall have been delivered (i) an Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility in substitution for the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility with respect to Bonds of a subseries then in effect and (ii) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel, then, providing that any condition to substitution contained in the existing Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall have been satisfied, the Paying Agent/Registrar and/or the Tender Agent, as applicable, shall accept such Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility and, subject to subsection (d) of this Section A-501, shall surrender the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility then in effect to the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer on the effective date of the Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility. In the event of an extension of the Expiration Date, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the new Expiration Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date. In the event of a substitution Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to such Substitution Date.

The City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of its election to terminate the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Tender Date resulting from its election to terminate such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

- (d) In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Liquidity Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds, either from proceeds of remarketing or a draw under the Liquidity Facility to be surrendered or cancelled, sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date. In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Credit Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date.
- (e) The City shall not sell, assign or otherwise transfer the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, except in accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility and the Ordinance.
- (f) Prior to the Substitution Date, no drawing under an Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings on the date of such drawing. On and after the Substitution Date, no drawing under a predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings on the date of such drawing.

Section A-502 <u>Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account.</u>

- (a) If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, there shall be created and established and maintained with the Paying Agent/Registrar a separate account for the Bonds of such subseries to be known as the "[Name of Bonds of a subseries that are secured by such Credit Facility] Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account" (the "Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account"). The establishment of such Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall be evidenced in a certificate of an authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (b) The City shall make payments of principal and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of a subscries in accordance with the Ordinance into the Debt Service Fund as and when the same shall become due and payable regardless of whether a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of such subscries.
- (c) If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of a subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall take all action necessary to draw or make a claim on the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility in such amounts, at such times, and in such manner as shall be necessary to pay the principal and Redemption Price (including, to the extent amounts are available therefor under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility, Sinking Fund Installments) of and interest on all Bonds payable therefrom as and when the same shall become due and payable; provided, however, in the event the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, any such draw or claim on a Direct-Pay Credit Facility shall be made at such times in order to receive payment in immediately available funds by 11:30 a.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding the date on which payment is due on the Bonds. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall promptly deposit into the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account all moneys so drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar under the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility, which shall not be commingled with any other moneys held by the Paying Agent/Registrar and which shall be applied to the payment of such principal, Redemption Price and interest.
- (d) Subject to the immediately succeeding paragraph, on each Principal Installment due date or Redemption Date, as the case may be, and Interest Payment Date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make payments of principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of each Series to their Owners in accordance with the Ordinance.
- If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subscries, notwithstanding the immediately preceding paragraph, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make payments of principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of such subscries to their Owners in the manner provided for in the Ordinance from the moneys deposited in the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section A-502. If sufficient funds are not available in the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account, the City shall apply other moneys, if any, available in the Debt Service Fund to the extent necessary to make such payment. If the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of a subscries has been paid in full when due and all payments required to be made under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility have been made, the City shall apply remaining moneys, if any, available in the Debt Service Fund in an amount not to exceed the amount of the draw or borrowing under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility to reimburse the Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility. In the event the Credit Facility Issuer of the related

Direct-Pay Credit Facility for such draw or borrowing is not reimbursed by the City within five (5) Business Days of such draw or borrowing and the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, the Paying Agent/Registrar may make a claim under the Bond Insurance Policy on behalf of the Credit Facility Issuer, if instructed to do so in writing by such Credit Facility Issuer, to the extent provided for in the Bond Insurance Policy and Section 12.02(d) of the Ordinance.

- (e) Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar in each Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance and shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts. Amounts so held or available to be drawn under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility for deposit in a Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall not be available to pay the principal or Redemption Price of or interest on any subseries other than the Bonds of a subseries that are supported by such Direct-Pay Credit Facility.
- (f) So long as the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect and a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar first shall take all action necessary to draw or make a claim on the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility in such amounts, at such times, and in such manner as prescribed by subsection (c) of this Section A-502.
- (g) To the extent that any payment on the Bonds has been made to an Owner with funds provided by a draw under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility for which the related Credit Facility Issuer has not been reimbursed by the City, such Bonds shall be deemed to be unpaid and shall be deemed to remain outstanding for all purposes of this Ordinance and such Credit Facility Issuer shall be subrogated to the rights of the Owner of such Bond. In the event the related Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility is reimbursed for such draw by a payment under the Bond Insurance Policy or another Credit Facility, such Bond shall be deemed to remain outstanding for all purposes of this Ordinance and the Bond Insurer or the Credit Facility Issuer of such other Credit Facility, as applicable, shall be subrogated to the rights of the Owner of such Bond until such Bond is paid in full by the City.

Section A-503 <u>Amendments Relating to Credit Facilities and Liquidity Facilities.</u>

In addition to any amendments permitted pursuant to Article Nine of the Ordinance, the City, with the consent of the Insurer, may amend any provisions of the Ordinance, including without limitation any provisions of this APPENDIX A, as the City deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the conversion to a Daily Rate Mode or a Weekly Rate Mode or with the delivery of any Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

The third paragraph of Section A-602 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Tender Agent shall be selected by the City and shall be a bank or other financial institution that satisfies the qualifications determined by the City and set forth in any applicable provisions of law. The City's execution of a Certificate setting forth the effective date of the appointment of a Tender Agent and the name, address and telephone number of such Tender Agent shall be conclusive evidence that (i) such Tender Agent has been appointed and is qualified to act as Tender Agent under the terms hereof and (ii) if applicable, the predecessor Tender Agent has been removed in accordance with the provisions hereof. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section A-602 to the contrary, so long as a Credit Agreement is in effect with respect to the Bonds and such Credit Agreement constitutes both a Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, the entity serving as Tender Agent for the Bonds shall also serve as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds.

* * * * * * *

Except as reflected in the amendments described above, all other terms and provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance remain in full force and effect. To the extent of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions contained in the Authorizing Ordinance and the terms and provisions reflected in this APPENDIX E, the terms and provisions reflected in this Appendix E shall govern and prevail to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict or inconsistency.

APPENDIX E

CERTAIN REVISIONS TO 2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM

Certain summaries in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the heading DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS shall be superseded by the descriptions provided below.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption 'DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Mandatory Tenders' is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Mandatory Tenders

Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries to be changed to any Mode from any other Mode are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Mode Change Date at the Purchase Price. Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on: (a) the second Business Day preceding the Expiration Date of a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, which second Business Day is hereinafter referred to as an "Expiration Tender Date"; (b) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) preceding the Termination Date of a Credit Facility, a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as a "Termination Tender Date", if the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility permits a draw thereon on the Termination Tender Date; (c) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) following the receipt by the City of a written notice from the issuer of a Credit Facility that such Credit Facility will not be reinstated (in respect of interest) to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount required with respect to the Bonds of such subseries, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as an "Interest Non-Reinstatement Tender Date"; and (d) the Substitution Date for a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility. Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on each Purchase Date at the Purchase Price. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for so long as the Letters of Credit remain in effect, clause (c) does not apply to the Letters of Credit.

Notice. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date with respect to Bonds of a subseries, give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries on such Expiration Tender Date if it has not therefore received confirmation that the Expiration Date has been extended.

Upon receipt of a written notice from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City that the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility, as the case may be, will terminate or, that the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer, as the case may be, to provide a loan thereunder will terminate prior to its Expiration Date, or the Bond Insurance Policy will be cancelled or terminated, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries that is to occur on such Termination Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City, as the case may be, a notice stating that the event which resulted in the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City has rescinded its election to terminate the Credit Facility, the Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided herein shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not actually received by each Owner.

Upon receipt of a written notice from the issuer of a Credit Facility that such Credit Facility will not be reinstated (in respect of interest) to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount required with respect to the Bonds of such subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries on such Interest Non-Reinstatement Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the issuer of the Credit Facility a notice stating that the Direct-Pay Credit Facility has been reinstated to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided herein shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not actually received by each Owner. This provision is not applicable for so long as the Letters of Credit remain in effect.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to any Substitution Date with respect to a Liquidity Facility relating to any Bonds, give notice of the mandatory tender of such Bonds that is to occur on such Substitution Date.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to (i) any Mode Change Date or (ii) the end of an Interest Period with respect to Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, give notice of the mandatory tender for purchase of such Bonds that is to occur on such date.

Notice of any mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall state that such Bonds are to be purchased pursuant to the Ordinance, and shall be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar or caused to be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar by mailing a copy of the notice of the mandatory tender by first-class mail to each Owner of Bonds of the Series at the respective addresses shown on the registry books. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase shall identify the reason for the mandatory tender for purchase, and specify the CUSIP number, Mandatory Purchase Date, the Purchase Price, the place and manner of payment, that the Owner has no right to retain such Bonds and that no further interest will accrue from and after the Mandatory Purchase Date to such Owner. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase caused by a change in the Mode applicable to the Bonds of a subseries shall in addition specify the conditions that have to be satisfied pursuant to the Ordinance in order for the new Mode to become effective and the consequences that the failure to satisfy any of such conditions would have. In the event a mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall occur at or prior to the same date on which an optional tender for purchase is scheduled to occur, the terms and conditions of the applicable mandatory tender for purchase shall control. Any notice mailed as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner of any Bond receives the notice, and the failure of such Owner to receive any such notice shall not affect the validity of the action described in such notice. Failure by the Paying Agent/Registrar to give such notice shall not affect the obligation of the Tender Agent to purchase the Bonds of a subseries subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Mandatory Purchase Date.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Optional Tender of Bonds in Weekly Rate Mode" is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Optional Tender of Bonds in Weekly Rate Mode

The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent, at their respective principal offices, not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, during any period that the Bonds of a subseries are issued registered in the name of DTC or a nominee thereof pursuant to the Ordinance, (i) any notice of tender delivered shall identify the DTC participant through whom the beneficial owner will direct transfer, (ii) on or before the Purchase Date, the beneficial owner must direct (or if the beneficial owner is not a DTC participant, cause its DTC participant to direct) the transfer of said Bond on the records of DTC and (iii) it shall not be necessary for Bonds of a subseries to be physically delivered on the date specified for purchase thereof, but such purchase shall be made as if such Bonds had been so delivered, and the Purchase Price thereof shall be paid to DTC. In accepting a notice of tender of any Bond of a subseries, the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent may conclusively assume that the Person providing the notice of tender is the beneficial owner of the Bonds being tendered and therefore entitled to tender them. The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent assume no liability to anyone in accepting a notice of tender from a Person whom it reasonably believes to be such a beneficial owner of the Bonds of the subseries.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption 'DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Substitute Liquidity Facility' is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Substitute Liquidity Facility

At any time, the City may provide for the delivery of (i) an initial Liquidity Facility and an Alternate Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, and/or (ii) an initial Credit Facility and an Alternate Credit Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries. The City shall not obtain a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries or provide for the delivery

of a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries without the prior consent of any Credit Facility Issuer for the Bonds of such subseries. Any such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility shall provide that a Termination Date which permits the City to make on the Termination Tender Date a draw under the Liquidity Facility or the Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall not occur unless written notice thereof is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Date. To the extent that any Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility permits the issuer thereof to assign its obligation thereunder, such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall provide that such assignment shall not be effective unless a written notice of such assignment is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Remarketing Agent and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the effective date of such assignment. On or prior to the date on which a Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility is obtained or delivered to the City, the City shall obtain a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel. The Ordinance provides that all Outstanding Bonds of the Series to which such Liquidity Facility relates will become subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Substitution Date.

The City may execute and deliver any instrument that, upon such execution and delivery by the City, would constitute a "Credit Facility" or "Liquidity Facility", or both.

The City shall deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Bond Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a copy of each Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility obtained pursuant to the Ordinance on the effective date of such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility. If at any time there shall have been delivered (i) an Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility in substitution for the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility with respect to Bonds of a subsenes then in effect and (ii) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel, then, providing that any condition to substitution contained in the existing Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall have been satisfied, the Paying Agent/Registrar and/or the Tender Agent, as applicable, shall accept such Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility and, subject to certain provisions of the Ordinance relating to the receipt of sufficient funds to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds then subject of mandatory tender, shall surrender the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility then in effect to the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer on the effective date of the Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility. In the event of an extension of the Expiration Date, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the new Expiration Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date. In the event of a substitution of a Liquidity Facility with an Alternate Liquidity Facility or of a Credit Facility with an Alternate Credit Facility, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Bond Insurer, and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the Substitution Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to such Substitution Date. The City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Bond Insurer, and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of its election to terminate the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Tender Date resulting from its election to terminate such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Liquidity Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds, either from proceeds of remarketing or a draw under the Liquidity Facility to be surrendered or cancelled, sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date. In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Credit Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date.

The City shall not sell, assign or otherwise transfer the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, except in accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility and the Ordinance.

Prior to the Substitution Date, no drawing under an Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings thereunder on the date of such drawing. On or after the Substitution Date, no drawing under a predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings thereunder on the date of such drawing.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Paying Agent/Registrar" is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Paying Agent/Registrar

Interest on and principal of the Bonds will be payable, and transfer functions will be performed at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar; currently, its corporate trust office is in Minneapolis, Minnesota. In the Ordinance, the City retains the right to replace the Paying Agent/Registrar. The City covenants to maintain and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar at all times while the Bonds are outstanding and any successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a

commercial bank, trust company organized under the laws of the State of Texas or the United States of America, or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar. Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds, the City agrees to promptly cause of written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Bonds by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar. So long as a Credit Agreement is in effect with respect to the Bonds and such Credit Agreement constitutes both a Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar also shall serve as Tender Agent for the Bonds.